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1. Performance Overview
1.1 Purpose of overview section
Welcome to the 2019-20 annual report for NHS Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG). The overview section of this report highlights our approach and achievements during
the year ended 31 March 2020. It gives a snapshot of who we are, what we do, the challenges
we have faced and what we have done as a result.

This section provides a summary of key information so readers can understand Herts Valleys
CCG: our purpose, the key risks to the achievement of our objectives, and how we have
performed during the year on a number of core activities.

The overview section describes our performance against key targets together with our financial
performance. Further detail on financial performance is given in the accounts and within the
corporate governance report section of the accountability report. Key risks identified in 2019-20
are listed in the section on risk management arrangements, also within the governance report.
As with any NHS organisation, Herts Valleys CCG faces the common challenge of having to
balance the demand pressures placed upon it, with the restrictions of working within a tightly
defined financial envelope and the national limitation of available physical resources. These
challenges naturally bring risk to the overall delivery of the CCG’s objectives. Over recent years,
we have managed these challenges well and achieved a sustainable financial position and have
simultaneously continued our programme of transformation. Working in partnership with others to
deliver this transformation is a key theme of this year’s report.

The emergence of COVID-19 towards the end of the year made it necessary to make changes to
our normal operations whilst we managed the response to the pandemic in line with national
guidance, supporting our front line partners in the west Hertfordshire system. The nature of this
emergency situation means that some of the data about performance could not be provided, and
planned transformation programmes have had to be delayed. The Department of Health & Social
Care has waived some of the usual annual reporting requirements for 2019/20 in recognition of
the need to focus resources on the front line response to COVID-19.

1.2 Statement from the chair and chief executive officer.
Thank you for taking time to read our annual report which describes our work during 2019/20
to make sure that the NHS in west Hertfordshire meets local health needs now and in the
future.

We’ve delivered many transformative projects in support of our ambitions to provide patients
with more personalised and integrated care closer to home and to take a more proactive and
targeted approach to meeting our communities’ healthcare needs. Transformation is happening
across the board: in primary care, community services and in urgent and acute care.

From mid-March 2020, with the agreement of our partners in west Hertfordshire, we paused our
transformation programme temporarily in order to support our partners to free up as much
capacity as possible to focus on the response to the COVID-19 pandemic. This joint response
to an emergency situation has accelerated the integration and collaboration of health and social
care organisations in west Hertfordshire, and has brought forward digitalisation of services: we
are looking to build on this at the end the emergency period.

A key development this year has been the transfer of adult community services to Central London
Healthcare Trust. Multidisciplinary working and integration are key elements of this new provision
and palliative and end of life care provided by our three local hospices has been incorporated
into the new contract. Transformation of services is underway.

Collaborative working is at the heart of our Primary Care Networks (PCNs) which we have
successfully established this year in keeping with requirements of the NHS Long Term Plan. The
CCG has provided funding and support to help establish 16 PCNS across our area. More generally
in primary care we have invested in providing GP extended access and additional appointments
for 0-4 year olds and supporting practices’ winter plans. Overall, the quality of general practice
in west Hertfordshire remains very good, and this has been reflected in Care Quality
Commission (CQC) ratings.

Our effective resource management (ERM) programme works to tackle pressures on urgent
and emergency care. Now in its third year, ERM is being enhanced with input from other
agencies. This collective approach to supporting high intensity users of emergency services
and addressing their complex medical and social issues, including use of social prescribing,
has significantly reduced A&E attendances among this group of patients.

After a successful procurement in October 2019, the UTC at the front door of the emergency
department at Watford General Hospital was due to open on 1 April 2020. However, the
planned opening has been delayed due to the pandemic incident management: the UTC will
now open on 1st July 2020. By providing more appropriate treatment for patients with minor
injuries and illnesses we aim to speed up treatment within A&E for those with more serious
conditions. We hope that this will improve our performance on four hour waiting times – an area
that has continued to challenge us in 2019/20.

Other initiatives have helped improve our performance in key areas and deliver better
outcomes for patients. In the area of cancer diagnosis we have piloted providing GPs with
direct access to diagnostic tests for patients with suspected cancers of the bowel, pancreas and
brain. We have also redesigned our memory service so that people have quicker access to both
assessment and diagnosis, helping us to reach national targets.

Mental health support has continued to develop this year. We have increased funding for
psychological therapies to improve access for patients and are working to extend psychological
support for patients with long term conditions such as musculoskeletal issues, cardiology and
respiratory diagnosis.

Our perinatal mental health service was shortlisted for an award for a second year and our eating
disorder service received an award and a number of commendations. We have continued to roll
out mental health school teams across our area. Across our sustainability and transformation
partnership (STP) community mental health services are being organised around PCNs offering
a stepped care approach within an integrated service covering primary and secondary care
mental health. More patients with mental illness have received physical health checks during
2019/20.

Personalisation has been a key area of focus for patients with continuing healthcare needs. In
2019/20 we were among 11 national areas to expand integrated personal commissioning to
include wider personalised care. We are leading in developing personal health budgets (PHBs)
across the STP and are setting up a PHB hub to support this work. This year, the
commissioning of children and young people’s continuing healthcare packages of care and the
facilitation of PHB moved back to us.

This level of integration and cooperation puts us in a strong position as we move towards
establishing an integrated care partnership for west Hertfordshire and an integrated care system
across our STP area. In readiness for this we are also resetting our relationship with providers,
starting with developing new style contracts and looking at new ways of scrutinising quality. This
approach includes the introduction of more patient involvement as part of business as usual.
We are grateful for the support and cooperation from our committed CCG workforce, our partners
and from our member practices and clinical leads who are critical to the work we do. This report is
a testament to everyone’s collective efforts and we hope that you will find it useful and interesting.

Dr Nicolas Small, Chair

Dr Jane Halpin, Joint Chief Executive from 1 June 2020

David Evans, Interim Chief Executive to 31 May 2020

1.3 The nature and purpose of our organisation
We are the NHS organisation responsible for commissioning (planning, designing, and buying)
health services on behalf of people in west Hertfordshire. This is a population of about 627,000.
Our governing body - our board - is mainly made up of GPs and other clinicians with the
remainder comprising very senior CCG managers and lay members. We also welcome
involvement from Hertfordshire County Council and Healthwatch Hertfordshire.
We are a member organisation and our 58 member GP practices are arranged into four
localities: Dacorum, Hertsmere, St Albans and Harpenden, and Watford and Three Rivers.
Each of these localities has a committee that is made up of local GPs. The locality
committees provide our board with advice, using their local knowledge and expertise to
support us in carrying out our role successfully.
This year we have launched our 16 Primary Care Networks (PCNs) in line with the NHS Long
Term plan. PCNs, serve a population of at least 30,000 and build on the core of primary care
services to provide more proactive, personalised, coordinated and more integrated health and
social care for the communities they serve. We are taking this forward in partnership with
provider organisations including primary care, community health services, mental health
services, acute hospitals and social services. Much of the development work for PCNs was
formally paused during the coronavirus pandemic and will be resumed in 2021/22 as soon as
primary care capacity allows. Nevertheless, PCN engagement has been vital to the emerging
services being provided as part of the CCG’s response to COVID-19 and integration has
moved forward much more quickly than planned.
During this financial year, the CCG operated from offices at The Forum, Marlowes, Hemel
Hempstead, which is owned by Dacorum Borough Council.
In 2019-20, we had a total budget of around £905 million that we spent on community,
hospital, general practice and mental health services. We jointly commission some of our
services – such as mental health, NHS 111 and the GP out-of-hours service as well as
services from the voluntary and charity sector such as Herts Help, the local hospices and
community transport. Our main commissioning partners are Hertfordshire County Council as
well as East and North Hertfordshire and West Essex Clinical Commissioning Groups. A
full list of contracts with providers is available on request. The significant changes to
services contracted by the CCG during 2018-19 in the move towards community care have

been embedded in our finances and performance in 2019-20. These will be detailed later
in the performance section of this report.

1.4 Our business model
The CCG is responsible for the strategic planning, procurement, monitoring and evaluation of
the performance of a prescribed set of services that are delivered by a range of NHS,
independent and third sector health and care providers in order to meet the needs of our local
population.
These services provide a range of hospital treatments, rehabilitation services, urgent and
emergency care, community health services, mental health and learning disability services. To
ensure we are meeting our populations’ needs, each year the CCG undertakes a planning process
and will continue to do so within available resources. This planning process is undertaken in the
context of wider system plans developed by the Hertfordshire and West Essex Sustainability and
Transformation Partnership (HWESTP).
The Hertfordshire and West Essex STP has committed to becoming an Integrated Care
System (ICS) from April 2020 in line with expectations set out in the NHS long term
plan. The ICS brings together local organisations to redesign care and improve
population health under a shared leadership model. ICS partners have agreed the
following ambitions for improving the health and wellbeing of the population:
1.

Adopting a population health approach to address the wider determinants of

health, reduce health inequalities, prevent illness, target resources where they will have
the greatest impact and improve quality of care through integrated, affordable services.
2.

Meeting people’s health and social care needs in a joined-up way in local

neighbourhoods (where appropriate) saving time and cutting out unnecessary tests and
appointments. Health and social care services will support people to live independently
for as long as possible.
3.

Adopting a shared approach to treating people when they are ill, prioritising those

with the highest levels of need and reducing unwarranted variations in health and social
care.
4.

Placing equal value and emphasis on people’s mental and physical health.

5.

Driving cultural and behavioural change among professionals, service users and

families/carers to create a healthier future.
6.

Improved experience of care for patients and carers that is delivered

compassionately, with dignity and in the right place at the right time.
7.

Ensuring that we have the workforce, technology, contracting and payment

mechanisms in place to support our future plans.
The three CCGs (East and North Herts CCG, Herts Valleys CCG and West Essex CCG)
have agreed to appoint a joint accountable officer and shared management team who
will take up their new roles during 2020-21. The joint accountable officer, Dr Jane
Halpin, commenced in post of 1 June 2020. The three CCGs remain as separate
entities with responsibility for delivering local services and with their own governing
bodies and constitutions. However, we are currently in discussion about whether to seek
to merge the three CCGs into a single CCG for the ICS. Such a move would be subject
to appropriate consultation and regulators’ approval.
Within Herts and West Essex ICS there will be three geographical Integrated Care
Partnerships (ICPs), including one for west Hertfordshire. A fourth ICP around mental
health is being considered.
The roles of the ICS and ICP are shown below.
ICS

ICPs

Plans and commissions to meet the health and
care needs of a whole Hertfordshire and West
Essex population and joins up the whole system.
It commissions ICPs to deliver care that focuses
on the care needs of specific local population
groups.

Coordinate local care delivery between
providers, reducing barriers between
organisations. This will enable a shift in focus
to a holistic approach based on population
health management and integrating service

The ICP will be an alliance of existing organisations involved in health and social care
across west Hertfordshire. All of the commissioning organisations who plan and pay for
services - CCGs, NHS England, local authorities and Public Health England – will work
with service providers to make decisions about the care we need to provide for west
Hertfordshire residents. Providers such as primary care, hospitals, community and
mental health services and local authorities, will equally work together to deliver
integrated patient care.

Some commissioning functions will be handed over to the ICP to give them direct
control of how services are provided.
Some services are already commissioned at county level as part of joint arrangements
with East and North Herts CCG and Hertfordshire County Council. Where it is best to
commission services at a county, ICS or regional level those arrangements will
continue.
In west Hertfordshire we have already started to work together in a more integrated
way. Since April 2018 the CCG has been working with system wide partners, for
example the county council, mental health trust, community healthcare trusts, voluntary
sector and patient representatives in establishing a locality delivery programme.
This is our first example of fully integrated working drawing on the principles of
population health management. There is a core focus on preventative services and
assisting patients to maintain their independence for longer
Initially the local delivery programme has focused on adults and the frail elderly
population looking at the harnessing the collective contributions of partner organisations
to improve care for this group of people who receive health and care from a range of
professionals. This has now been extended to cover effective resource management,
frailty, care homes and medicines management. During 2020 the focus will widen to
include children and young people’s services.
This programme is being delivered through Local Delivery Boards.
All west Hertfordshire localities are now starting to implement local projects that support
physical health, mental health and social care for all adults and for unplanned care as
part of this plan.

1.5 Our strategy

Our strategic objectives for 2019-20 were:

1. Effective engagement: We will continually improve engagements with member practices,
patients, the public, carers and our staff to contribute to and influence the work of Herts
Valleys CCG.

2. Quality: We will commission safe, good quality services that meet the needs of the
population, reducing health inequalities and supporting local people to avoid ill health and
stay well.

3. Transforming delivery: We will work with health and social care partners to transform the
delivery of care through the implementation of “Your Care, Your Future”, the Strategic
Review in west Hertfordshire and its fit with the wider Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership (STP) strategy, “A Healthier Future”.

4. Affordable and sustainable care: We will ensure that we fulfill our statutory duty to deliver a
financially sustainable and affordable healthcare system in west Hertfordshire.

To achieve these objectives we agreed to:

 Continually improve engagement with member practices, patients, the public, carers and
our staff to contribute to and influence the work of Herts Valleys CCG.

 Commission safe, good quality services that meet the needs of the population,
reducing health inequalities and supporting local people to avoid ill health and
stay well.

 Work with health and social care partners to transform the delivery of care through the
implementation of “Your Care, Your Future”, the Strategic Review in west Hertfordshire
and its fit with the wider STP strategy “A Healthier Future”.

 Ensure that we deliver a financially sustainable and affordable healthcare system
in west Hertfordshire.
The changes described above support a number of strategies which have been agreed and
implemented at west Hertfordshire, countywide and STP level and which outline a future
direction for health services.
West Hertfordshire has a clear clinical strategy for transforming health and social care as set out
in Your Care Your Future in 2015. Our vision is that people are healthier – we want to prevent
people from becoming ill in the first place. We want people to get the care they need in the
right place (often close to where they live) at the right time. More joined up community
health and social care services will help people stay well and get the support they need.
Making these changes will also help us make sure that the health and care system is resilient
and stays affordable into the future.
This links into the A Healthier Future strategy developed by the Hertfordshire and West Essex
STP.

The STP has been working together intensively to develop an overarching integrated health and
care strategy for Hertfordshire and West Essex, supported by a 10-year financial plan.
A countywide health and wellbeing strategy, developed jointly between health and local authority
partners, sets the wider goal to optimise the health and wellbeing of people in Hertfordshire
throughout the course of their lives and has the vision: “With all partners working together we
aim to reduce health inequalities and improve the health and wellbeing of the people in
Hertfordshire”. This is based on the four life stages of Starting Well, Developing Well, Living and
Working Well and Ageing Well. It recognises that the social determinants of health – housing
and living environment, work environment, transport, access to health and social care services,
unemployment and welfare, and education – are mostly responsible for the avoidable differences
in health status between different geographical areas and different sections of the population.
Less well-off areas typically have poorer health and wellbeing than better off areas across a
range of health and wellbeing measures. These variations in health are something which we
want to reduce in Hertfordshire, while pursuing our overarching goal of improving outcomes for
the population of our county as a whole.

1.6 Financial performance and outlook

1.6.1

Financial performance during 2019-20

NHS England sets some duties on CCGs with regard to the management of their finances. A
summary is set out below, and further detail provided on performance.

Requirement

What this means

Has this been met?

5. Expenditure not to
exceed the revenue
resource limit in any
one year.

To keep the amount spent on
commissioning services to
below the amount allocated.

6. To maintain a minimum
of 1% cumulative
surplus

To have built up surpluses in this
Yes –CCG’s cumulative
and previous years equal to or more surplus is 1%
than 1% of our allocation

7. Expenditure not to
exceed the capital
resource limit in any
one year

To not spend more on buying
N/A – The CCG did not
property, plant and equipment than require a capital resource in
it has been allocated
2019/20, so effectively this
requirement is met.

Yes – the CCG’s
expenditure
was slightly below the
resources available to it, at
a surplus of £61k.

8. To remain within the
cash limit in any one
year
9. To remain within the
running costs target

To keep the cash in the bank
within acceptable limits
To ensure we discharge our
responsibilities as a CCG
efficiently

Yes

Yes

Our planning for 2019/20 incorporated the requirements of the Long Term Plan and the additional
investment into Mental Health Services and the changes to Primary Care, including extended hours
access and the development of Primary Care Networks, together with inflation and growth in our
other services, including hospital and community services. Overall our expenditure kept pace with
the 5.9% increase in our resources.
Robust financial management meant that variances in cost and volume of activity were mitigated,
and national pricing led to actual costs within some service areas being lower than planned. The
ongoing management of our finances meant that savings generated through transformation could
be partly offset by additional investments and the net value required was lower than previous
years. This has helped deliver our 1% cumulative surplus, which was maintained by the delivery
of the 2019/20 surplus of £0.06m. The cumulative surplus requirement of 1% is as outlined in the
second requirement in the financial duties table above.
Details of how we spent our allocation during 2019-20 are shown below:

NHS England holds the vast majority of capital assets on behalf of CCGs, and we did not need to
bid for a significant capital resource. Although the CCG has bought IT and other equipment, this

expenditure has not needed to be capitalised. The costs are shown as part of the running costs of
the CCG, or within other expenditure categories if this is more appropriate. We have therefore
remained within our resources, and have complied with the third requirement set out in the financial
duties table above.

We are provided with a cash limit, which is based on our planned expenditure. This cash is used to
pay for such things as all the services the CCG commissions from NHS and Non-NHS provider
organisations, Primary Care contracts and other payments, GP prescribing, the running costs of
the CCG, and so on. It draws down a proportion of that limit on a monthly basis. We drew less
cash in year than our limit, so therefore met the fourth requirement of our financial duties above.
As well as staying within the cash envelope, as a public sector organisation, we are expected to
ensure that we pay our obligations promptly. We are required to aim to pay 95% of invoices within
30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, or within contractual payment terms. This is known as the
‘Better Payments Practice Code’. Performance against this code is measured by value and
volume of invoices paid, and is shown in Note 4 of the Financial Statements. We are compliant in
all areas, with the exception of the measure of the volume of invoices paid to other NHS
organisations, where we achieve 92% (we are compliant by value). This is due to the number of
small value invoices that require data validation.
The ‘Prompt Payments Code’ requires organisations to pay invoices within 10 days. Although
we recognise how important it is, particularly in the current economic climate, to pay suppliers of
goods and services promptly, this is a target with which we would find it difficult to comply, due
to the invoice validation process. For this reason, we have opted not to sign up to the Prompt
Payments Code.
Our running cost envelope is set by NHS England at £20.45 per head of the expected
population covered by the CCG commissioning of healthcare services. This resource is to meet
all aspects of the administration and running of the CCG as a statutory body. Our running cost
envelope for the 2019-20 financial year was £13.3m. The total actual spend was £12.2m, so
complying with the final duty above.
We have therefore met all our financial duties for 2019-20.
In addition to the statutory duties, we need to report our position with regard to the Better Care
Fund. The Better Care Fund (BCF) in Hertfordshire is a partnership agreement with
Hertfordshire County Council and two other CCGs that cover healthcare for parts of

Hertfordshire (NHS East and North Herts CCG and NHS Cambridge and Peterborough CCG).
It has been put in place to describe the commissioning arrangements for a range of health and
social care services. The fund is hosted by Hertfordshire County Council. The BCF partnership
agreement is based on the national template developed by NHS England and Bevan Brittan.
All funds are overseen by a joint BCF Partnership Board.
2020/21 Outlook

A summary can be found in note 1.3 of the annual accounts on page 152

1.6.2 Financial outlook
We will have an allocation of £956.1m in 2020-21, which has been assessed to be 3.18% over
our target financial allocation. The CCG has received total growth of 4.2% for 2020-21. This
growth in allocation needs to fund inflation, demographic and non-demographic growth, and
changes to prices and tariff, as well as national and strategic priorities announced as part of the
£20bn additional investment to the NHS outlined in the long term plan. Priorities from the long
term plan are:
1. Doing things differently: Giving people more control over their own health and care, and
working in a more integrated way by joining up GP and community services into primary care
networks as well as wider partnership working through ‘Integrated Care Systems’.
2. Preventing illness and tackling health inequalities: Tackling some of the most significant
causes of ill health such as smoking, drinking and obesity with a focus on the most affected
communities and groups.
3. Backing our workforce: Continuing to increase the NHS workforce by training and
recruiting more professionals as well as working to encourage staff to stay in the NHS.
4. Making better use of data and digital technology: to provide more convenient access
to services and health information for patients, access to patient records and improved
service planning and delivery.
5. Getting the most out of taxpayers’ investment in the NHS: looking to reduce duplication
and spend on administration and smarter buying of goods and services.
At a strategic level, the CCG operates within the Hertfordshire and West Essex sustainable
transformation partnership (HWE STP). The HWE STP is constituted of the CCGs, provider
organisations and Local Authorities within its geographical boundaries. The HWE STP submitted its
jointly developed Long Term Plan in November 2019, which set out how the aims published in the
Long Term Plan will be achieved locally over a five year period.
The reduction in back office costs is one of the aims of the Long Term Plan, and the CCG’s
running costs allocation will be reduced by 20% in 2020-21.
Taking into account local and national requirements and priorities, the CCG expects to meet
the duty to contain expenditure within its revenue resource for 2020-21, together with the other
financial duties such as maintaining our 1% cumulative surplus.

1.7 Key issues and risks

The board assurance framework (BAF) is the key mechanism for identifying and ensuring the
management of risks affecting the achievement of our strategic objectives. It draws together the
high-level risks from a variety of sources and enables the CCG board to focus on making sure that
the impact of these risks is minimised through appropriate management action.
The BAF is supported by a risk register that provides a local record of all potential or actual
organisational risks.
The board has agreed that the CCG’s risk appetite is ‘Seek’, using the Good Governance
Institute ‘Risk Appetite for NHS Organisations’ matrix. That is, the CCG is: “Eager to be
innovative and to choose options offering potentially higher business rewards (despite greater
inherent risk)”. This reflects the large amount of transformation underway in the Hertfordshire
and West Essex health and care system.
We are managing a number of risks, complete details of which can be found in the annual
governance report in the ‘Risk management arrangements and effectiveness’ section. These risks
can be summarised as follows:

 The ability of general practice to support other local health care systems such as urgent care.
 The ability for West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust, Central London Community Healthcare
NHS Trust and the East of England Ambulance Service to deliver on key national targets and
priorities. For example, A&E targets, delayed transfers of care targets, referral to treatment
times, and ambulance response times.

 Our ability to manage satisfactorily in collaboration with Central London Community
Healthcare NHS Trust and Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust all transformation, quality,
communication and finance requirements during the mobilisation of the new community
services contract.

 The ability of our acute trusts to be using fully electronic records by 2020.
 Workforce and recruitment challenges in both primary and secondary care.
 The financial challenges in acute care will not allow us to deliver a financially
sustainable integrated healthcare system in collaboration with our partners in the STP.

From March 2020 the CCG has also been focused on managing the risks of negative
impact of the coronavirus pandemic on system resilience across west Hertfordshire and on
staff health and wellbeing.

1.8 Performance summary
Our performance report highlights some specific areas we lead on as well as our
activity with the Hertfordshire and West Essex sustainability and transformation
partnership (STP).
Clinical commissioning groups are accountable for how they spend public money. Reflecting
upon our overall performance over the year, we are performing particularly well in a number of
areas of dementia care, maternity, mental health, continuing healthcare, end of life care and in
patient experience of our GP services, where we are meeting or exceeding national
standards.
However, increased demand for NHS services has presented a significant challenge.
Although we had anticipated meeting all national planning standards and commitments in
2019-20, this has not been possible for some of our commissioned services.

We will continue to closely monitor our performance in relation to A&E, ambulance response
times and elective care, while working with our partners to improve next year.

In the performance analysis section of this report (from page 22) you will see the steps we
have taken to address this, or mitigating circumstances

2. Performance analysis
2.1 Progress on priority areas
One of our main duties is to commission efficient and effective healthcare services that meet
the needs of the population of west Hertfordshire who require NHS healthcare. The services we
commission are monitored locally, regionally and at a national level through a range of
performance indicators.
NHS England has a statutory duty (under the Health and Social Care Act (2012)) to conduct an
annual assessment of every CCG. This assurance process aims to ensure that CCGs are
commissioning safe, good quality and cost effective services to achieve the best possible
outcomes for patients.
The CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework (CCG IAF) has been used since 2016 to
provide a focus on assisting improvement alongside the statutory assessment function of NHS
England. The NHS Oversight Framework for 2019-20 has replaced the CCG Improvement and
Assessment Framework (IAF) and the provider Single Oversight Framework, and will inform
assessment of CCGs in 2019-20.
It is intended as a focal point for joint work, support and dialogue between NHS England, NHS
Improvement, CCGs, providers, sustainability and transformation partnerships and integrated
care systems.
The 2018-19 annual assessments determined Herts Valleys CCG to be rated as “good”.
The outcome of our 2019-20 annual assessment is not yet available – expected end of June
2020.

2.1.2 Improving the quality of services
The following section explains how we have discharged our duty under Section 14R of the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) to improve the quality of services. The
following analysis reflects our ratings available for the CCG at the following sources on the NHS
website:Data on specialty treatments
Data on services
Data on health & wellbeing
2019-20 has been a challenging year both nationally and locally for health and care services.
The success over many years in increasing life expectancy means that we have increasing
demand for primary, community, social and hospital care.

This ageing population, along with ever growing numbers of treatments and growing
expectations, is increasing the demand for services. This has resulted in demand outstripping
capacity in our main providers, most notably in increased use of hospital beds and the
challenges associated with securing suitable out of hospital care so that patients can be
discharged from those beds.
It is clear that there have been a number of performance challenges in 2019-20 and many of
these challenges are expected to continue into 2020-21. We continue to work with the East of
England cancer alliance, the west Hertfordshire local System Resilience Group, NHS
Improvement, and NHS England to strengthen performance. A key priority has been to deliver
on core NHS Constitution standards for the local population. We have tried to strengthen the
link between performance and quality to encourage providers to give both to our patients.
Whilst we would normally provide full analysis of the year’s key performance data, the data for
2019-20 is incomplete due to incident management of the coronavirus pandemic. NHS England
and NHS Improvement (NHSE/I) is committed to supporting providers and commissioners to
free up capacity and prioritise their workload to focus on managing the response to the COVID19 pandemic. A letter from NHSE/I on 28 March 2020 'Reducing burden and releasing capacity
at NHS providers and commissioners to manage the COVID-19 pandemic' set out the steps
NHS organisations can take whilst maintaining existing performance standards for the duration
of the COVID-19 response.

Dementia
Significantly more than two thirds of those estimated to have dementia in Herts Valleys are
known to their GP, which helps improve their ability to cope and access treatment, care and
support. We have generally exceeded the national target this year.
We are working with GPs, local memory services and our voluntary sector providers to improve
services for people with dementia. We have redesigned our memory service to enable people
to be seen in a timely manner for both assessment and diagnosis. This helped support us to
reach the national target. This year we have also consulted our stakeholders and the public on
the Dementia Strategy for Hertfordshire which both looks at diagnosis and also how we support
people following the diagnosis.

Mental health
We have increased funding for psychological therapies under the improving access to
psychological therapies (IAPT) programme. Under the IAPT programme, by the end of
November 2019 there had been 9,429 people entering treatment. The recovery rate for those
who have completed treatment is 49%. We have also maintained waiting times at well above
the national targets of 75% of people seen within 6 weeks (95.8% reported in February data to
Performance Committee) and 95% of people within 18 weeks (100% reported in February data
to Performance Committee). In 2020-21 we are aiming to increase the number of people
accessing our IAPT services. We are working alongside our physical health care
commissioners to increase access to psychological therapy services to support people with
long term conditions such as musculoskeletal issues, cardiology and respiratory diagnosis.
Services are already being provided for people with diabetes to help them manage their
medication and help with living well with a long-term condition.

Learning disabilities
We are currently achieving the target for the amount of annual GP health checks undertaken for
people with a learning disability (the target is 75%). Using the Learning Disability Review of
Mortality Programme (LeDeR) to influence change, Community Learning Disability Nurses are
supporting GPs and practices to ensure people with a learning disability are identified, receive a
health check and are offered a flu jab.

Maternity
Maternity services in west Hertfordshire are increasingly being coordinated through the
nationally assured Local Maternity System (LMS).
The local LMS plan, with an accompanying financial plan and national allocation of funding, has
five priority areas:
1.

Safety – to reduce the number of still births and neo natal deaths, with a particular focus on

reducing pre term births.
2.

Continuity of Carer (CoC) - to increase the number of women receiving continuity of the

person caring for them, targeting support to the most deprived areas to address health
inequalities.
3.

Personalisation – to increase the number of women receiving personalised care plans.

4.

Choice – to ensure that women have choice of provider and the setting of birth.

5.

Births in a midwifery setting.

The LMS Partnership Board (LMSPB) has been operational since January 2017 leading and
implementing the local maternity transformation program in line with recommendations of the
NHS England/ Improvement Better Births programme. The board and its local maternity
transformation plan are based on the geographical footprint of the Hertfordshire and West
Essex sustainability and transformation partnership (STP).
In terms of patient participation, the LMS is establishing an independent LMS Maternity Voices
Chair and also recruiting a Neonatal midwife to work across all three maternity departments in
the STP area. The West Herts Maternity Voices Partnership has recently appointed a new
independent chair and is currently reviewing its terms of reference. Increasing the number of
patients who ‘walk the patch’ and ensuring there are regular visits and tours to the hospital
maternity department for patients is a key focus.

Continuing healthcare (CHC)
The percentage of CHC assessments taking place in an acute hospital setting continue to meet
the expectation of NHSE/I through the Quality Premium, even though the percentage has risen
this year We also consistently meet out Quality Premium targets for the 28 days we are given
from the point of referral to decision for CHC. Over the last year, we have consistently reported
high quality and high performance to our quality committee.
We are leading in the development of personal health budgets (PHBs) within CHC and Children
and Young People's Continuing Care (CYPCC) across the STP and are developing and
implementing a PHB hub to support this work. As part of the PHB hub development we have
been working in partnership with the STP co-production group to develop leaflets, website
content and model this service.
The CHC team, following feedback from patients and through complaints, have taken up an
offer from Carers in Herts to develop local CHC patient information to cover local process and
expectations.
Children and Young People’s Continuing Care (CYPCC)
This year, the commissioning of CYPCC packages of care and the facilitation of personal health
budgets (PHB) moved back to us. The assessment, review and case management function of
the CYPCC service remains with our contracted provider. The CCG placement team has been
working hard to expand the number of providers that are available to deliver CYPCC packages
in the community in order to ensure that capacity can be met.
For Children and Young People eligible for CYPCC, the offer of a PHB is now business as
usual.

End of life care
In 2018 we agreed a pilot scheme to provide rapid personalised care (Fast track Continuing
Health Care) for patients at the end of their life. This was delivered by our hospices in west
Hertfordshire. In 2019-20 the service was evaluated which showed:
•

An increase in the number of patients achieving their preferred place of care/death;

•

A reduction in acute hospital discharge delays as a result of waiting for fast track care;

•

A positive impact on patient, families and referrers based on feedback from patient and
referrers.

In January 2020 the service was commissioned for five years in line with the adult community
service contract.
We have also commissioned four additional hospice beds via the CLCH contract - two from
Peace Hospice Care and two from the Hospice of St. Francis , to ensure there is appropriate
capacity for patients who need an inpatient admission to a hospice at the end of their life.
These beds opened on 1 December 2019 as well as a 24-hour palliative care advice line to
provide specialist support to families and health care providers for patients aged 18 and over
with a life limiting illness.

Diagnostics
In October 2019, the percentage of patients waiting six weeks or more for a diagnostic test was
0.14% against the national standard of 1%. This is a steady rise from September 2019 at 0.3%.

Elective access
Patients have a right to start their non-emergency NHS consultant-led treatment within a
maximum of 18 weeks from the date of referral from their GP. The national standard sets out
that 92% of patients should start their treatment within this time. We have continued to improve
against this standard and, as at November 2019, 87.6% of patients were in this position. We
have a cross-organisation referral to treatment delivery group who are fully committed to
achieving the 92% target through collaborative working with our providers. We are also fully
committed to ensuring that there are robust communication links for feeding back information to
GPs and acute providers. GP and other referrers play a pivotal role in supporting the CCG and
Acute Trusts in ensuring patients are fully informed of the likely waiting times during their
consultation and of the need to be contactable and available when an appointment becomes
available.

Cancer
As part of delivering the NHS Long Term Plan, our focus in west Hertfordshire has continued to
be to diagnose cancer earlier and to improve timely access to treatment for patients once
diagnosed. Alongside this, work has been carried out to improve the support that cancer
patients receive in primary care.

Cancer Performance
Although cancer referrals are increasing year on year, we are fully committed to working
collaboratively with our provider trusts to deliver the cancer waiting time (CWT) targets. The
following five CWTs have shown improvement, as at February 2020, compared to 2018-2019:


The two week wait from an urgent GP referral has improved by 2.52% to 95.36%, exceeding
the national target of 93%;



Breast symptomatic waiting times have improved by 4.02%, and are now meeting the target.



We are meeting the national target of 96% for patients to wait 31 days for definitive
treatment from diagnosis for all cancers although performance has declined by 1.27%



The target for patients waiting 31 days or less for a course of radiotherapy has been
sustained at 100% against the target of 94%.



The target for ‘62 days wait for first definitive treatment following referral from an NHS
Cancer Screening service’ is now meeting the national target of 90% and at the time of
writing the report we had seen an improvement of 1.05% in 2019/20 compared to the
average in 2018/19.

Other work we have done this year to support the earlier diagnosis of cancer includes:


Increasing the types of diagnostic tests that GPs can refer their patients to directly



A one year pilot allowing GPs to refer patients who are experiencing bowel symptoms but
fail to meet the criteria for a 2 week wait lower GI cancer referral for a Faecal
Immunochemical Test (FIT).

Patient involvement played a significant role in the FIT project planning process. Patient
representatives were members of the FIT project and implementation groups and a wider group
of patients attended workshops as part of the planning process. This will continue as the project
progresses. An audit of the service was completed in January 2020 and an evaluation in April
2020.


In March 2019 the CCG commissioned a 6 month pilot for GPs to have direct access, to
Head MRI and CT for Abdomen and Pelvis for the exclusion of brain, CNS (central

nervous system) and pancreatic cancer. At the end of the pilot an evaluation identified
the service was being used appropriately and that cancers had been identified within the
service. In light of this evaluation the CCG Executive has agreed to commission GP
direct access to diagnostic tests for MRI Head and CT Abdomen and pelvis for the
exclusion of brain and CNS and pancreatic cancer for GPs, on an on-going basis.


Telephone Assessment Service for suspected Lower Gastro Intestinal cancer was
commissioned on an ongoing basis following a 1 year pilot that ended on 30 March
2019. This is to support patients have colonoscopy earlier on in the pathway.

Emergency and urgent care
The NHS Constitution states that a minimum of 95% of patients attending Emergency
Departments must be seen or treated and then admitted or discharged in under four hours. This
is often referred to as ‘four hour standard’ or ‘Emergency Care Standard’.
The four hour standard is also an indicator of how the whole health and social care system is
managing its population, especially an indication of how patients flow through the system and
access the service that meets their needs most appropriately. We failed to deliver on the
Emergency Care Standard for ‘all type’ treatment group categories (A&E, urgent treatment
centre and minor injuries unit). West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust (WHHT) has developed
an improvement plan. We have sight of these plans and have been working with the Trust to
obtain additional detail and assurances. We hope that our activities below will contribute to
meeting the national target. March overall performance was 77.1%, lower than the previous
month (80.7%). Interim April performance has been reported at 78.9%. Processes for the
Covid19 pathway were in development at this time and staff were challenged by working in
isolation environments in PPECompliance with the 95% standard was maintained at MIU
(99.5%) and UTC (100%)
Our effective resource management scheme (ERM) is now in its third year and we have
expanded the scheme which is now named enhanced effective resource management (eERM).
The original ERM scheme focused primarily on practice and demand management within
primary care in three areas:


Finding cost effective alternatives to secondary care referral



Analysing, understanding and reducing variability in demand from practices



Supporting changes to referral process

The enhanced scheme now works to ensure the best use of emergency hospital services

across west Hertfordshire by addressing inappropriate use, with three key areas of focus:
• Working with high intensity users (defined as those people who have had three A&E
attendances in one month);
• Reduction in non-elective (avoidable) admissions;
• Reduction in A&E attendances for patients requiring minimal treatment and investigation who
could have been seen more appropriately by their GP or at a UTC.
Enhanced ERM is now being implemented. It aims to improve collaboration across the local
health and social care system with wider system providers working alongside primary care. The
aim is to further reduce avoidable Type 1 A&E activity, reduce the number of high intensity
users and reduce avoidable hospital admissions through collaboration across the system. Type
1 A&E activity is a consultant led 24 hour service with full resuscitation facilities and designated
accommodation for the reception of accident and emergency patients.
Our 2019-20 Effective Resource Management (ERM) programme has successfully reduced
Type 1 A&E activity. There was an increase in Type 3 (minor injuries) activity, but this means
patients are receiving better outcomes because they are treated in the most appropriate setting
for their needs. Additionally, the programme worked on reducing admissions via A&E. This was
broadly successful: nationally there was an 8-9% increase in non-elective admissions but in
west Hertfordshire we saw a smaller increase of 7%. High intensity users at A&E were also
identified. Each monthly cohort of high intensity users has seen the number of times they have
visited A&E reduce once they have been identified. Since April 2019, three Community
Navigators have worked with these high intensity user patients. They have used social
prescribing to help the patients reduce their visits to A&E by 44% and resolve any underlying
social issues.
In early 2019-20 the CCG developed a new vision for Urgent Care, focusing on integration of
the urgent care provision in Herts Valleys including Integrated Urgent Care (IUC) services,
extended access and urgent treatment centres (UTCs) with the aim to provide a service that is
easily understood and readily accessible to everyone.
To this end, work has focused on implementation of UTCs across west Hertfordshire. After a
successful procurement in October 2019, a UTC at the front door of the Emergency Department
of Watford General Hospital was scheduled to open in April 2020 but has been delayed due to
the COVID-19 pandemic: this situation will be reviewed in mid-May. An audit in December 2019
demonstrated the potential for up to 50% of attendance activity to be diverted to the UTC once
fully operational.

Throughout the process patient representatives have been involved in helping with the design
and as part of the procurement process up to awarding the contract.
In addition we held patient participation meetings to gain feedback from patients, which helped
to address some of their issues and guide developments around communication.
Work continues on developing a sustainable model for St Albans City Hospital through
integration with the existent Urgent Treatment Centre in Hemel Hempstead, NHS 111 service
and the on-site Out of Hours clinics. This service is expected to be fully mobilised by autumn
2020, and business case model development will be monitored via the commissioning
executive committee on a monthly basis.
Patients are represented on all of our groups set up to develop these services and they play an
active role in helping to shape the design and delivery.
There has also been review of the ambulatory (same day) emergency care provision in west
Hertfordshire, working with WHHT to improve capacity, increase the acuity of patients treated
and preparing for the new Urgent Treatment Centre service.
The aim of the changes in ambulatory care will be to utilise an additional six bays to increase
capacity, focus on those patients who will benefit from same day emergency care (SDEC) and
reduce the level of 0-3 day length of stay for patients with an ambulatory care condition.
In turn, this will provide the opportunity for reducing short stay capacity in line with the intention
and aspirations of the minimum income contract between the CCG and the Trust.
We are committed to joint working with partner agencies, patient engagement and
communicating developments as a presentation in late 2019 to the St Albans Health &
Wellbeing committee shows.
As we implement the various initiatives our communications team are working with partners to
ensure the public, stakeholders and partner agencies are fully aware of timelines and progress.

Delayed transfer of care
The NHS Constitution states that no more than 3.5% of patients should experience a delayed
transfer of care. This is where patients are ready to return home or transfer to another form of
care but still occupy a hospital bed. After focused meetings of health and social care colleagues
in west Hertfordshire, a joint plan has been put in place to reduce the number of long length of
stay patients, increase capacity in social care and maintain delayed transfers of care at 3.5%,
all with the aim of reducing additional pressures in the system.
We are working hard to maintain and improve our performance. We are working with local
providers and the Hertfordshire and West Essex STP to improve systems and processes to

ensure a whole systems approach to delivering high quality resilient services all year round. We
have an urgent care strategy, which, along with the Hertfordshire and West Essex STP, sets
out the vision for the future provision of services supporting the transformation of the whole
urgent and emergency care system.
As WHHT is the main provider of acute services for the west Hertfordshire population, the table
below only makes references to WHHT data. There will be some residents of this area who
attend other acute Trusts.
Delayed transfers of care performance at the WHHT (Watford site) was 6.5% in October 2019
against the national target of 3.5%
The schemes listed below are to help support patients to move through the system and be
discharged from hospital in a timely manner:
Early supported discharge – stroke: The service provides therapy in the community for
patients five times a week for forty-five minutes per week, per patient as appropriate and also
the provision of psychological support.
Discharge to assess model: Helps discharge patients from hospital by maximising a patient’s
recovery and increasing their ability to do things by themselves.
To support the system and provide additional capacity, we provided the following for winter
2019-20:


Four additional community beds for patients at end of life care



Fifteen community non weight bearing beds across nursing homes



Twelve continuing healthcare discharge to assess beds within nursing homes or as home
care packages

This amounts to a total contingency capacity for the CCG of thirty-one.

As a CCG we continue to work with local providers and the Hertfordshire and West Essex STP
to improve systems and processes to ensure a whole systems approach to delivering high
quality resilient services all year round.
An example of this would be introducing a system of early escalation when issues arise. This
helps trusts and systems to ask for support from partners across the system in a timely way:


Agreed operational pressures escalation levels framework (OPEL) action cards and
escalation procedures locally and across the STP;



STP Mutual Aid document;



Good visibility of system and trust pressure via the Single Health Resilience Early Warning

Database (SHREWD) dashboard;


Good shared contingency planning across trusts and community in order to offer mutual aid
both locally and across the STP.

As a key part of HVCCG’s response to the Covid19 pandemic a discharge cell was established
in mid-March 2020 to manage flow out of hospitals to release acute bed capacity. The cell is
represented by all system partners working together to utilise out of hospital services to support
discharge and prevent unnecessary admissions.

Ambulance service
Data from the East of England Ambulance Service (EEAST) indicated that there were an
average of 4.8 serious incidents per month to December 2019. A ‘Serious Incident Requiring
Investigation’ is defined as an incident that occurred in relation to an NHS funded service and
care resulting in one or more of the following: acts of omission or commission occurring as part
of NHS funded healthcare that result in: unexpected or avoidable death or injury causing
serious harm; an incident or series of incidents that prevents, or threatens to prevent, the
organisation’s ability to continue to deliver an acceptable quality of healthcare services; major
loss of confidence in the service, including prolonged adverse media coverage or public
concern about the organisation; actual or alleged abuse; sexual, physical, psychological or acts
of omission which constitute neglect.
We continue to work closely with EEAST via formal contract and quality performance meetings
in order to ensure patients are treated as quickly as possible in the most appropriate manner
based on their needs. The mean response time for category one response in 2019/20 was 8.2
minutes against a target of no more than 7 minutes.

Non-emergency patient transport service
We work as part of a consortium of CCGs across Hertfordshire, Luton and Bedfordshire to
provide the non-emergency patient transport service (NEPTS). The service provides transport
to and from hospitals and treatment centres for patients with planned appointments, including
treatment such as dialysis, radiotherapy and chemotherapy, as well as supporting hospital
discharges.
A two year contract with East of England Ambulance Service Trust (EEAST) commenced in
January 2018 to provide the non-emergency patient transport service and this has since been
extended to March 2021.

In 2019, EEAST undertook an extensive recruitment campaign which led to the successful
recruitment of all vacancies. This has enabled EEAST to increase the number of healthcare
sites they provide the NEPTS service to. For patients this means there are now less healthcare
sites that they need to request the CCGs to arrange transport to.
We really value patient feedback and continue to make sure we receive this by working with
organisations such as Healthwatch, a local renal patient association, various community
services and our own patient networks.
Looking ahead, we will continue to collaboratively work with EEAST and our stakeholders in
developing and improving the service.

2.2 Sustainable Development
As a public sector organisation responsible for spending public funds, we have an obligation to
work in a way that has a positive effect on the communities for which we commission and
procure healthcare services.
Sustainability means using public money wisely, the smart and efficient use of natural resources
and building healthy, resilient communities. By making the most of social, environmental and
economic assets we can improve health both in the immediate and long term even in the
context of the rising cost of natural resources.
We moved office premises with effect from 1 April 2019 to The Forum in Hemel Hempstead
town centre. Sustainability was a key consideration for us when considering our change of
location.
As a part of the NHS, public health and social care system, it is our duty to contribute towards
the level of ambition set in 2014 of reducing the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health and
social care system by 34% (from a 1990 baseline) by 2020.

2.2.1 Our sustainable development management plan
One of the ways in which an organisation can embed sustainability is through the use of a Green
Plan (formerly known as Sustainable Development Management Plan or SDMP). We will be putting
together a Green Plan for our new premises at The Forum in the near future for consideration by
the board. We have not reached the stage of implementing the Green Plan for this financial year so
this report still uses the SDMP.

2.2.2 Our environmental impact
While our carbon footprint has been increasing over the last couple of years, and from the original
baseline, this is mainly due to the growth of the organisation itself and associated staffing, as well
as an increase in spend on the services that we commission. The estimated carbon footprint for
each employee has slightly reduced from 1,015 tCO2e in 2016/17 to 995 tCO2e in 2019/20.
One of the ways in which we measure our impact as an organisation on corporate social
responsibility is through the use of the Sustainable Development Audit Tool (SDAT). The last time
we used the SDAT self-assessment was in December 2019 scoring 61% (an increase from the
score we received in early 2019 which was 57%).

More information on these measures is available here:
http://www.sduhealth.org.uk/policy-strategy/reporting/sdmp-annual-reporting.aspx
Sustainable use of resources: We have spent £5,925 on energy in 2019-20, which is a
significant reduction of just over 43% on energy spend from last year. This was due to our move
to new office premises at the beginning of 2019/20.
Estimated data shows that water usage and volumes of waste water have reduced since last
year. This has been achieved since our move. Our usage is calculated on a percentage of that
used by all the tenants in the buildings that we occupy but we will continue to promote water
efficiency to our staff in the coming year to try to maintain or improve the recent reduction in
usage.
The NHS produces many tonnes of plastic waste every year across catering clinical practice
and its supply chain. In recognition of this, we have a plan to reduce our use of single-use
plastics. The CCG purchased 1,100 plastic cups during the early part of 2019/20 but has
since stopped purchasing these items so we expect to be able to provide a nil return in this
area next year.

To read our full report, please visit our website.

2.3 Improve quality
Quality continues to be a leading priority for us. One of our strategic objectives for 2019-2020
was to commission safe, good quality services that meet the needs of the population, reducing
health inequalities and supporting local people to avoid ill health and stay well.
During 2019-2020 we have looked at new ways of scrutinising quality in regards to our CCG
processes and commissioned services. This approach includes the introduction of more patient
involvement as part of business as usual. For example patient representatives now attend the
serious incident review panel to offer an independent and objective view. This ensures that
patients, carers and families remain central to all discussions. We also ensure a patient
representative is involved in planned quality assurance visits allowing a very candid view from a
patient’s perspective to help identify areas for improvement in quality. Patient representatives
have been involved in some contract quality meetings with providers and this is an area we are
looking to expand to other contracts.
We have discharged our duty to improve quality under Section 14Z2 of the NHS Act 2006 (as
amended 2012) by ensuring that we commission safe and high quality patient care from
appropriately accredited and regulated and approved providers.
We have created additional posts in our quality team to concentrate on monitoring the quality of
our community contracts. Additional capacity within the team has also enabled us to listen and
respond to patient groups where concerns around quality of services have been raised. This
has facilitated earlier identification of where quality improvements are required and has laid the
foundations for new ways of working in partnership with providers.

2.3.1 Provider performance ratings
All of our service providers are registered and inspected by the Care Quality Commission
(CQC). Here we provide performance ratings for our principle service providers for mental
health and learning disabilities, community healthcare and acute hospitals.
Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation NHS Trust (HPFT) who provide mental health and
learning disability services for patients in west Hertfordshire were rated as ‘outstanding’
following their last inspection in early 2019.
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) maintained their rating of ‘good’ in 2019-2020,
which they achieved following a Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection in 2018. Adult
community health services provided by HCT transferred to Central London Community

Healthcare NHS Trust (CLCH) from October 2019. HCT continue to provide children’s services,
nutrition and dietetics services and are partners in the Hertfordshire integrated diabetes service.
CLCH were rated as ‘good’ in October 2017.
NHS Improvement (NHSI) announced in January 2018 that West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS
Trust had been moved out of special measures, though the Trust’s overall rating remains
‘requires improvement'. The most recent CQC Inspection Report was published in February
2019. Overall, the Trust remains rated as ‘requires improvement’ and services at St Albans and
Hemel Hempstead Hospitals have gone down in rating in a couple of areas. For St Albans City
Hospital, the areas of ‘safe’ and ‘well led’ are now rated as inadequate. Hemel Hempstead
Hospital is now rated as inadequate for ‘well led’. The CQC noted the improvement work
undertaken at the Watford site which resulted in the score for ‘well led ‘ improving to a rating of
‘good’ for this area.
WHHT were inspected again in February 2020 and the results are expected shortly.

2.3.2 Integrated personal commissioning
In 2019-20, we remained one of 11 national sites to further expand our programme of
integrated personal commissioning to include the wider personalised care. One of the key areas
of focus this year has been the development of a personal health budget hub; the model for this
has been co-produced with expert patients. Personal health budgets have been expanded to
include carers budgets and renal transport budgets. The programme has also delivered a fully
co-produced personalised care and support planning document.
Our plans for 2020-21 include a focus on mental health and learning disability, with a particular
focus on undiagnosed learning disability in children and young people. We will identify those in
need of this service through working with our partners in education and social care. A fully coproduced approach will be taken to ensure that this traditionally hard to reach group of
individuals have a complete personalised care approach.
We have further developed relationships with our voluntary sector to provide support at locality
level. We will continue to support an integrated approach to promote choice and control for
patients across health and social care. We remain committed to further expanding our offer in
line with the national NHS agenda - as set out in our local response to the NHS Long Term
Plan.

2.3.3 Infection control
From January 2020 the infection prevention and control team was strengthened in order to
provide a service across the STP.
By the end of December 2019, our rate of healthcare associated infections of Clostridioides
difficile (C diff), MRSA and Eschericia coli (E coli) blood stream infection were below those of
the East of England region and of England as a whole. However, local rates of E coli blood
stream infection were relatively high when compared to the CCG ceiling. Although
approximately 45% above ceiling for this point in year, the number of cases is 10% lower than
at the same point in 2018-19. Nationally, there is a focus on reducing healthcare associated E.
coli bloodstream infections (BSIs) associated with the urinary tract because they represent
approximately 50% of all E coli BSIs. The infection prevention and control team lead a group of
representatives from the main local healthcare providers. The group’s aim is to prevent and
better manage urinary tract infections (UTIs). In addition the team is currently introducing a
system of surveillance of E coli BSIs across west Hertfordshire in order to better plan a locally
targeted approach to their reduction.
The Director of Nursing and Quality continues to jointly lead the STP Infection Prevention and
Control Group, which meets quarterly. Membership includes representation from the
commissioning organisations and key healthcare providers from across the STP, as well as
Public Health England (PHE) and Hertfordshire County Council (HCC). The group reports to the
Quality Committee of each CCG.
The infection prevention and control team has been closely focused on incident management of
the coronavirus pandemic since February 2020.

2.3.4 Quality of general practice
Overall, the quality of general practice in west Hertfordshire remains very good, and this has
been reflected in our Care Quality Commission (CQC) ratings. The CQC Annual Regulatory
Reviews (ARR) is currently underway.
In west Hertfordshire, the 2019 GP Patient Survey Results show that the patient experience in
relation to accessing GP appointments and overall experience is higher than the national
average and across our STP.

2.3.5 Safeguarding our vulnerable residents
Safeguarding adults at risk
We work alongside our partner agencies to identify and prevent all forms of abuse and neglect
so that everyone living in Hertfordshire is able to make a full and positive contribution to society.
Our Director of Nursing and Quality and Associate Director of Adult Safeguarding are members
of the Hertfordshire Safeguarding Adult Board (HSAB). This means we can make sure that we
work closely with partners to constantly improve the outcomes for adults at risk across the
county.
This year, in addition to providing training to GPs and practice nurses on adult safeguarding and
domestic abuse, we completed our fifth year of safeguarding adult assurance visits to health
partner agencies and gained the necessary assurance regarding their adult safeguarding
activities. We supported the HSAB Chair to undertake assurance visits to HSAB partner
agencies.
As Chair of the Domestic Homicide sub-group the Associate Director of Adult Safeguarding
participated in a meeting at the Home Office to share learning identified from domestic homicide
reviews (DHRs) and the actions taken and worked with colleagues to implement a quality
framework to support the DHR process.
As Chair of the Safeguarding Adult Review sub group the Associate Director of Adult
Safeguarding has worked with colleagues to review the process and protocols for referrals,
created a leaflet for families and identified a methodology to improve the quality of reports. This
will enable learning to be identified and disseminated.
We have implemented the CCG training strategy and the Named Nurse has worked with the
Children’s Safeguarding Team and the CCG’s Human Resources shared service to revise
induction training for CCG staff. The Named Nurse has launched Level 3 Adult Safeguarding
training for CCG staff and provides clinical supervision for relevant staff.
Key achievements:
•

Implementation of Level 3 training for CCG staff

•

Domestic abuse conference for primary care staff

•

Monitoring of commissioned services in relation to adult safeguarding

•

Through the Strategic Quality Improvement Group (SQIG) worked with Care Homes and
Home Care providers to maintain quality of care and safeguarding of individuals

•

Provided trauma and resilience training for key health and social care staff

Safeguarding children
Children have the right to be protected from harm and neglect and to develop as healthy
individuals. Safeguarding children is a priority for us and there is a continuous commitment to
minimise the risk of neglect, physical, sexual and/or emotional harm to all children and young
people in Hertfordshire.
We employ a designated safeguarding children team who monitor provider organisations and
provide assurance that commissioned services have measures in place to safeguard and
protect children at risk of harm. There are robust systems in place to ensure all provider health
organisations are fully compliant with Section 11 of the Children Act (2004), including scrutiny
through action planning, audit scheduling and quality meeting reporting.
Key achievements in 2019-20:


Learning hubs were created across the area to deliver training and information on knives
and gangs, neglect and health and wellbeing. These aimed to achieve a feedback loop from
front line practitioners to the executive and to engage practitioners. Many participants have
been positive about the hubs and effective practices have been shared across Hertfordshire.



The Independent scrutineer appointed as part of the new partnership arrangements has
scrutinised arrangements for children at risk of exploitation. The review found a positive
partnership response to children at risk of exploitation and identified the need to streamline
some of the panels where complex needs of young people are reviewed.



The Hertfordshire Partnership implemented the revised Working Together statutory
guidance on case reviews of children who die or are seriously injured as a result of abuse or
neglect and who meet the criteria for their case to be reviewed. This results in a timely
exploration of all agencies involvement and identifies learning which is implemented quickly.



Hertfordshire agencies achieved completion of three rapid reviews in 2019 that included
notification to the national panel and conclusion of a review within the allocated 15 days.
The process underpinned by shared locally revised practice guidance plus the collaboration
of all partners achieved tight timescales and learning. Health Providers contributed to the
effective process by identification of learning and implementation of recommendations at the
earliest opportunity.



The child death revised process was implemented across Hertfordshire with use of
electronic child death overview panel (CDOP) data provided to the National Child Mortality
Database.



Organisations in the partnership have processes in place to hold child death review
meetings to identify learning.

Looked After Children
Children who come into care require completion of initial health assessments (IHA) within 28
days and review health assessments (RHA) every 6 months for those aged 5 years and under
and annually for those over 5 years. The quality of IHA’s and RHA’s are assessed through audit
and found to be positive with some identified learning taken forward with the health team.
A joint strategic needs analysis for children in care undertaken by Public Health and published
in October 2019 will contribute to the future work of the designated team to ensure the health
needs of children and young people are addressed.
Hertfordshire County Council Children’s Services Cabinet Panel received a report on the health
of looked after children in June 2019 where a number of areas of effective practice were
highlighted.


pathway/ process for conducting a multi-agency review when a Hertfordshire Care Leaver
dies unexpectedly has been implemented and formalises previous practice. The pathway
sits within the framework of the Safeguarding Children Partnership, regardless of whether
the Care Leaver is aged under or over 18years, and outlines how the process should be coordinated and learning disseminated.



GPs are also encouraged to place an icon on the record of a Care Leaver (with consent) to
alert all practitioners to their potential additional needs.



Annual training is delivered to GPs across the county with the opportunity to cover topics
related to LAC & CL.



Learning from case reviews is disseminated using a variety of methods, through our seven
Named Safeguarding Children GPs (who meet with individuals and groups of GP’s face to
face) the GP Safeguarding Bulletin plus the use of the CCG intranet.

Primary Care
Safeguarding children support, training and specialist advice continues to be provided by the
CCG Designated Safeguarding Children Team. The recent formation of Primary Care Networks
within Hertfordshire provides further opportunities for the team to ensure that robust
safeguarding children arrangements are embedded within a more integrated health care
system.

2.3.7 Complaints
We are committed to embedding patient and public involvement throughout our organisation
and encourage feedback from patients, carers, friends, family and other representatives to
identify where patient experience has not been as expected and can be improved.
We encourage all forms of feedback including complaints. All complaints received into the
organisation are managed in an honest and open way, with the principal aim being to
understand and resolve the issue being raised as well as learn from the experience and take
remedial action where necessary.
We also pay close attention to the monitoring of complaints. Repeated complaints or concerns
relating to a particular area or service can be an indicator of serious or systemic failing which
we actively work with our providers to address as quickly as possible.
During 2019-20 (April 19 to January 20) a total of 109 formal complaints were received and
investigated by us, with a further 101 being received for provider organisation. The key areas
for improvement related to:


Continuing healthcare – poor communication, delays in assessment and decision making
processes



Commissioning decisions – poor communication, NHS Patient Choice and decision
making processes



Pharmacy and Medication – commissioning decisions, access to FreeStyle Libre® for
diabetic sufferers and other over-the-counter medications

On a bi-annual basis our quality committee provides oversight, on behalf of the board, of the
complaints function within the organisation. Data is presented to provide both information and
assurance in relation to the process in place to address concerns raised by our patients.
Looking ahead to 2020-2021 the CCG will be focusing on improving services further by learning
from complaints and working with our provider organisations to ensure recommendations made
by Healthwatch under their ‘Shifting the Mindset’ look at complaints are embedded across west
Hertfordshire.

2.4 Engaging people and communities
2.4.1 Involving patients and the public in what we do
Effective engagement is one of our key strategic objectives. We aim to continually improve
engagement with GP practices, patients, carers, local people, health and care partners and our
staff to contribute to our plans and influence our work. We also have a legal duty to engage
and involve the public and others in any proposals for change that will impact on people or
groups and how health services are provided to them. We provide regular updates on
developments and planned changes and encourage people to work with us in a number of
different ways including attending events, becoming a patient representative on a committee,
project or group or by representing their local area and networks as a member of a local patient
group or on our patient and public involvement committee (PPIC) which is a sub committee of
our board.
This section details how we have been developing our engagement this year. This has
included refreshing our participation strategy, supporting the development of practice patient
groups and developing our Health and Wellbeing Ambassador scheme. We have also
improved the way that we feedback to people e about the difference their involvement has
made by taking a ‘you said, we did’ approach and sharing this information in a variety of ways.
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/get-involved/you-said-we-did

2.4.2 Participation Strategy
This year we have refreshed our participation strategy, in partnership with our PPIC. Although
our strategy was due for formal review we have made a few amendments to reflect a shift of
focus following an NHS England assessment. We have placed more emphasis on how we
evaluate participation and feedback to those that have volunteered to support our work in a
variety of ways. We have also been clearer about how we will work with less heard communities
and particularly speaking to them about new ways of working such as integrated care systems
and partnerships.

2.4.3 Patient and Public Involvement (PPI) Committee
Our PPIC provides assurance to our board that there is meaningful participation in the business
of the CCG from patients, carers, families and local people across west Hertfordshire. The
committee has two patient representatives from each of our four localities and a Healthwatch.

They have the opportunity to formally and regularly discuss and comment on all aspects of
CCG business – bringing a patient perspective to things like strategies and proposals.
The committee is chaired by our lay board member with responsibility for patient and public
involvement. A committee patient member also sits, as a patient representative, on our board.
Two patients currently share this role.
Activities the PPI Committee has undertaken this year include:

 discussing all consultation proposals prior to their launch, so that the committee can input
into and influence plans for the communications and engagement and the proposals
themselves;

 receiving regular updates on service redesign and procurement with an opportunity to
find out and question patient involvement in the process;

 feeding back and updating their locality networks to enhance communication with local
people and groups.

2.4.4 Patient representatives on other CCG committees, projects and activities
Our patient representatives are local patients, carers or members of the public with a personal
interest or involvement in local health services. They bring a patient and community
perspective to discussions, representing a group, a community or personal views. They ensure
that the public and patient voice is integral to all discussions, proposals and plans.
We have patient representatives on the following board decision making committees:
 Commissioning Executive
 Quality
 Primary Care Commissioning
 Performance

We also have patient members on the following CCG groups, projects and activities (to name
just a few):


quality assurance visits and meetings



primary care contracting panel



urgent care strategy group



non-emergency patient transport working group



Herts medicine management committee



care home project and



falls task and finish group.

2.4.5 Health and Wellbeing Ambassadors
Our health and wellbeing ambassadors are volunteers who help to share information on
consultations, proposals, events and campaigns with a wider community. They also feedback
any community issues or concerns on current health care.
We continue to develop our ambassador role which broadens our opportunity to engage with
an increasing network of local people. This year we have recruited more ambassadors bringing
the total to 36.
Ambassadors help to identify, within their communities, opportunities to promote information
and campaigns and use their local networks to encourage participation. They have links into
numerous networks, previously untapped, such as dementia cafes, leisure centres and health
walks. We also now have links into our Gypsy and Traveller and Transgender communities,
local National Childbirth Trust and Herts Equality Council.
This year ambassadors have supported engagement on local and national NHS consultations
and campaigns such as ‘Help us help you – Stay Well This Winter’ and have attended
meetings such as a death and dying workshop and memory loss event.
We continue to review this programme, considering any lessons learnt, to develop it further
and recruit more members so that we can better engage with all our local communities.

2.4.6 GP practice participation group (PPG) network
We have an established PPG network which has a growing patient and practice staff
membership. This year it has grown to 220 members – an increase of 27 per cent on last year.
This network, which meets regularly, helps to broaden our engagement and establish
communication channels with the ever-increasing number of local people who are involved with
their GP surgery patient group.
Information sent through the network, such as engagement event invites, is shared more
widely as practices routinely share this information with their patient group members.
In response to feedback from patients and GP staff we are implementing a PPG incentive
scheme to financially support the development of practice patient groups. We have worked
closely with the network to make sure the scheme is workable. Network members have

championed the need for it to be properly resourced and have inputted into the content of the
scheme.
The scheme has been developed with our PPIC, practice managers forum, primary care
colleagues, lead involvement GP and patients. It has been approved by our Primary Care
Commissioning Committee and will be active from April 2020.
2.4.7 Patient Engagement Networks
We hold regular engagement network meetings which are well attended by patient
representatives and PPG members. Attendance averages between 40 and 70 people. These
meetings enable patients to become better informed about the NHS and its services and to
become stronger influencers and connectors within their own networks by increasing their
knowledge and confidence.
At these sessions, we provide context to proposals from both a national and local level, for
example highlighting how the CCG is delivering the NHS Long Term Plan, so that patients can
make an informed contribution.
These events also allow people commissioning services to hear, first hand, get people’s
experience of using the services so that they can factor the patient perspective into their
planning and respond to patients’ concerns or misconceptions.
As an example, we have had discussions at network meetings about the locations of new
community services and this has helped with addressing any issues about their accessibility or
convenience.
2.4.8 Let’s get connected
We understand the importance of connecting communities to build cohesion, resilience and
break down barriers. We hold a programme of events: ‘Let’s get connected’ which bring
together members of GP practice patient groups and representatives from a range of
community support groups. They are an opportunity for patient practice group members to be
aware of and link into the varied and diverse community support networks that are available
locally. The events discuss ways that these groups can work together, support the
development of community navigators and can encourage participation practice patient groups.
These events can focus on a particular topic such as death and dying, memory loss or can be
a forum for wider discussions such as GP group consultations.

2.4.9 Reader Panel
Our reader panel, made up of volunteer patients, carers, community members and others,
helps us to get information right for the public. Panel members review leaflets and other
material and feedback on whether information is easy to understand, accessible and free from
jargon.
The panel’s review of a patient information leaflet on over the counter medicines, shortages
and stockpiling medication led to changes in language to use words that are more familiar to
patients and changes in layout and font size to make important information clearer.

2.4.10 Patient Information co-design
We met with 15 patients with experience of cancer to develop patient information to be given
out by GPs when referring through the two week wait/suspected cancer referral system. The
session, facilitated by our Macmillan Practice Nurse lead, led to changes in the content and
format of the patient information to make it more user-friendly.
2.4.11 Showing how engagement makes a difference – our ‘you said, we did’ approach
We value and rely on people’s views and feedback to help us deliver patient-focused services
and appreciate the importance of evaluating and feeding back on our engagement activities so
that people can see how their contribution makes a difference. Our ‘you said, we did’ approach
allows participants and the wider community to see what we have done as a result of their
feedback. We share updates widely, including through a regularly updated page on our
website. Our participation strategy details other ways in which we provide feedback.
We aim to get the patient voice integral to all discussions and this is how our conversations
mostly operate – with the patient representatives in the room equally as active and involved as
others.

2.4.12 Engaging with local authority partners
Senior representatives from the CCG have actively engaged with the local authority democratic
processes by attending council meetings, scrutiny committees and meetings of health and
wellbeing boards and local strategic partnerships.
During 2019/20 there has been a particular focus on engaging local authorities in developing the
strategic outline case for hospital redevelopment.

We engage regularly with Hertfordshire County Council scrutiny committee which has a
formal duty in relation to overseeing the work of the CCG.

2.4.13 Engaging on future plans
Hospital engagement
In October 2018 the CCG and hospital trust launched public and patient engagement to
support a refresh of the strategic outline case for hospital redevelopment following guidance
from NHS regulators. That engagement continued between April and July 2019 as the CCG
and hospital trust examined shortlisted options for hospital redevelopment and agreed on a
preferred way forward.
Seven patients and the public representatives from across the four west Hertfordshire localities
took part in the examination and scoring of options as part of a stakeholder evaluation panel
that had its third and final meeting in May. This also had had representatives from partner
health, care and voluntary sector organisations.
A well-attended public meeting in June updated people on the results of the evaluation of the
options and on the emerging preferred option that came out of the meeting of the hospital trust
and CCG boards.
An early draft strategic outline case was published in late June to give people an opportunity to
examine this in advance of board meetings. Opportunities for people to make representations
to the July meetings of the hospital trust and the CCG board were also widely publicised.
Engagement with local communities and the wider body of stakeholders was carried out via a
series of public meetings; representations at board meetings; discussions at local authority
health scrutiny, overview and scrutiny, health and wellbeing boards and local strategic
partnership meetings. There has also been correspondence through social and traditional
media.
The CCG and hospital trust websites provided regular updates and published presentations
and notes from public meetings as well as information and papers presented as part of the
evaluation process. This reflected a shared commitment to openness and transparency.
Public meetings gave rise to many queries about various aspects of the process. The CCG and
trust worked together to respond to people directly and published responses to frequently
asked questions on the website.

2.5 Reducing health inequality
A key challenge for Herts Valleys CCG is ensuring all our local communities experience
equitable health outcomes across our population. We continuously monitor and analyse the
impact of our policies and programmes on different ‘protected’ groups in the community and
carry out evidence-based service reviews. As an organisation, we work with partners including
Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board and our STP to address the wider determinants of
health. Now the organisation is developing the governance structure with partners to ensure
that the local Integrated Care Partnership focuses on addressing and reducing inequalities
through a whole systems approach to improving outcomes.

2.5.1 Health inequalities in west Hertfordshire
Although health outcomes across the CCG are on average better than the England average, of
the four CCG localities, Watford and Three Rivers experienced the poorest outcomes across
the selected emergency hospital admission and mortality indicators, whilst St Albans and
Harpenden experienced the best. Watford and Three Rivers has the highest overall level of
deprivation.
The rates of emergency admissions for acute conditions (considered avoidable), emergency
admissions for children with lower respiratory tract infections and potential years of life lost
(PYLL) from cerebrovascular and respiratory diseases have all seen statistically significant
increases over time, whilst emergency re-admissions within 30 days, PYLL from ischaemic
heart disease and premature mortality from cardiovascular disease have all decreased.
Hypertension (12.5%), obesity (8.1%) and depression (8.4%) have the highest prevalence of
the 20 GP Quality and Outcomes Framework registers, in line with national trends. Dacorum
has the highest GP recorded prevalence for these indicators.
The ‘Improving Health Outcomes Group’ with membership from the Herts Valleys GP lead,
community, acute and mental health trusts, social care and hospice care from across
Hertfordshire, comes together bi-monthly to consider the recommendations that are presented
to Learning Disability Review of Mortality Programme (LeDeR) following the completion of
reviews. Using this intelligence each stakeholder is responsible for considering how the learning
can be actioned within their own organisations to reduce the health inequalities faced by people
with a learning disability.

2.5.2 Population health
Hertfordshire and west Essex are part of the NHS England and Improvement phase 2
population health management pilot involving one local primary care network from the west of
the county. We are also rolling out integrated data sets and supporting GP practices to
understand and use this information to manage the care of patients differently.
When redesigning and developing new services our aim is to improve outcomes for patients
and the experiences of patients, carers, communities and the workforce through effective and
efficient commissioning, partnership working and good governance. Moving forward we are
using linked data sets as part of our population health management programme to fully
understand a patient’s journey through the system, variations in outcomes and the way a
patient uses a service. This information is supplemented with the 11 NHS Outcome Framework
Indicators for health inequalities and national sources of data such as RightCare packs and the
Public Health England Fingertips tool. As part of this process, inequalities are identified and, in
the future, will be addressed in a coordinated process in both the associated business case and
service specification which includes the outcomes needed to be achieved in order to reduce
inequalities. These then form key performance indicators (KPIs) which are contractually
monitored on an on-going basis. All providers must also undertake their own quantitative and
qualitative analysis of the impact of the service which must be reported to the Commissioner,
with a mitigation plan if necessary. This will be monitored by the organisation’s quality team and
reported at the CCG Performance Committee.
We develop new and redesigned services by evaluating best practice models. Equality and
quality impact assessments (EQIAs) are undertaken as part of the development of business
cases for services. These inform the discussions and the decision making process and include
mitigation plans to ensure no marginalised group is adversely impacted by the decisions we
make.
We are actively involved in the local Health and Wellbeing Board. Key stakeholders come
together to set targets to address local health inequalities and how we work within our
healthcare system to prioritise resources and align services to ensure there are no barriers to
access. A key focus for this year has been supporting population health management to
identify and manage cohorts of patients in different coordinated ways.
As an organisation we work with our Public Health partners to understand our local
demographics and health needs of our population. This includes using joint strategic needs
assessments (JSNAs) and national data intelligence supplemented with local qualitative
studies.

2.5.3 Health Inequalities and social prescribing
In its guidance from January 2019 (https://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2019/01/social-prescribing-community-based-support-summary-guide.pdf ),
NHS England and Improvement states that one of the outcomes from good social prescribing is
“communities understand the power of social prescribing in reducing health inequalities, by
supporting a power shift, enabling people to take more control of their lives, be less isolated and
make connections”. Evidence from the Hospital and Community Navigator service already
confirms this impact. We already knew from referrer surveys that 50% of GPs who had used
the service saw a reduction in visits from clients. Last year 9,691 clients received support in
Hertfordshire (half in west Hertfordshire). The Short Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing Tool
shows a 2.4 point increase (11%) in wellbeing on 529 cases last year and a 0.9 points decrease
in loneliness (18%) on 445 cases (CTEL). In addition, using the same model, but slightly more
intensively to support high intensity users has been shown to reduce use of A&E by 44%
comparing the period before and after referral. In most cases, the need for or chaotic use of
health services is the result of health inequalities and social determinants of health (in particular
poverty, insecure housing, caring responsibilities, worklessness). Patients describe a new
sense of purpose and ability to focus on their health and this is supported by clinicians. The
ability to support these non-clinical interventions which prevent onset or mitigate clinical
conditions is currently being enhanced by a new small one off grants process which will allocate
£400,000 in the west Hertfordshire area to support local community groups to ensure the ‘social
prescriptions’ are there to support patients who need that help. This will help the 16 new link
workers recruited through the Primary Care Networks to support 4,000 (approx.) additional
clients that they will work with.

2.5.4. Mental health and learning disabilities
Community mental health transformation
Hertfordshire and West Essex will focus on delivering community mental health services
organised around local communities (Primary Care Networks) for children and young people
18-25 year olds, adults and older adults, offering a stepped care approach within an integrated
service covering both primary and secondary care mental health. This includes services for
young people, adults and older adults with complex personality disorders and improving access
to a range of services for people with eating disorders. This new way of working will ensure

people can better access services that meet their needs at the right time and place, to support
their recovery.

Improving physical health care for people with severe mental illness (SMI)
People with SMI face stark health inequalities and are less likely to have their physical health
needs met, both in terms of identification of physical health concerns and delivery of the
appropriate, timely screening and treatment.
A significant amount of work has been undertaken to increase the number of physical health
checks being delivered across the CCG including working with GP practices and Secondary
Mental Health care providers, the provision of a dedicated resource to support primary and
secondary care to deliver the checks and the development of practice resources and support
packs co-produced with people with SMI.
As part of the project to improve the number of physical health checks for people with SMI we
have co-produced a video together with people with severe mental illness to encourage others
to go and have their check: https://youtu.be/gCVj6o9kHj0
We have also developed a video for GPs to support the implementation of these checks in
primary care: https://youtu.be/8SJBuU0XLME

2.5.5. Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)
CAMHS is a range of provisions supporting children and young people in relation to their mental
health and emotional wellbeing. These services are funded through health along with
Hertfordshire County Council and the voluntary sector. Providers of mental health services for
children and young people in Hertfordshire report significant challenges in meeting the demand
for services. This is despite only a small increase in the national prevalence of rates of mental
ill health among children and young people between surveys published in 2004 and 2018.
The Hertfordshire CAMHS Transformation Plan sets out the priorities in improving mental health
outcomes and access to appropriate support.
Herts Valleys CCG, East and North Herts CCG and the County Council have joint responsibility
for delivery of Hertfordshire’s CAMHS Transformation Plan. This aims to increase access for
children and young people to early intervention and prevention provision across the five years
of the programme to 2020-21. It also focuses on delivering a year on year increase of children
and young people with a diagnosable mental health condition receiving treatment.

Progress has been made in a number of areas since 2015. The major areas of additional
investment under the CAMHS Transformation Plan have been:


An expansion of the dedicated eating disorders team for children and young people.



Increasing the capacity of the CAMHS services to improve access.



Working with schools to improve their knowledge and expertise, as well as improving
links to specialist CAMHS services.



Increasing availability of support for children and young people experiencing a mental
health crisis.



Developing a local specialist community perinatal mental health service for mothers
during pregnancy and in the first year after birth. This service will see around 730
mothers a year.



Reducing waiting times for autism diagnosis.

Over the past 12 months, there has been continued investment in, and work towards,
increasing access to evidence based mental health interventions in a timely way to help
children and young people at the earliest opportunity, develop support for parents and carers,
improve support for children and young people experiencing crisis and or trauma, and engaging
in sexually harmful behaviours. Our perinatal mental health service has been shortlisted for an
award two years in a row and our eating disorder service has received an award and a number
of commendations. Both services continue to receive excellent feedback from patients.
The NHS has set national targets to increase the number of children and young people
accessing NHS funded support in line with the Five Year Forward View for mental health. The
numbers who could benefit from help are based on national estimates of prevalence in 2004
and applied to the Hertfordshire population of children and young people in 2015. In
Hertfordshire this equates to 21,699 children and young people. Since 2017-18 Hertfordshire
has met the requirement set by the NHS to provide access to provision: for 30% of these
children and young people in 2017-18; for 32% in 2018-19; and 34% in 2019-20. The national
NHS Long Term Plan published earlier this year has set out further increases over the next 5
years. Our local ambition is shared with the NHS Long Term Plan to deliver support to 100% of
those that need it.
In December 2018, it was announced that Hertfordshire had been successful in our application
and would be one of 25 national trailblazer sites in the first rollout of Mental Health School
Teams (MHST). The initial trailblazer for Hertfordshire was for two MHSTs, one in each CCG

area. Training for the initial cohort of MHSTs commenced in January 2019 and was fully
operational by January 2020.
Initial central government funding will fully fund these teams up to March 2021. Each team will
be expected to see around 500 children and young people a year.
Feedback from children and young people indicated that a range of referral mechanisms is
necessary in order to make the service accessible. The key themes identified by children and
young people which will be incorporated into the Hertfordshire model are:


Provision will be delivered in community venues not just schools



Improved links with specialist CAMHS and the voluntary sector



MHSTs will target geographical areas of deprivation



Academic stress is a growing issue so MHSTs will also target high achieving
schools/pupils

Hertfordshire Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (HPFT)’s Youth Council is also keen to
develop a working group specifically around the development of mental health support in
schools supported by the children and young people’s engagement worker and the Strategic
Leads for Mental Health in Education. This working group will continue with co-production and
ongoing engagement throughout the trailblazer pilot.
The CAMHS Parent and Carer forum fully supports the proposed approach and is supportive of
MHSTs being located, or working with Education Support Centres (ESCs). They felt that they
could add value to the offer for pupils at the centre as well as those in mainstream schools
linked to the ESC by providing timely support co-ordinated with educational interventions.
Existing Child Wellbeing practitioners have raised that interventions for mild to moderate need
may not be appropriate for our high needs settings – it is important we test this and
demonstrate to NHS England the complexity of some of the young people in our schools and
other settings.

2.6 Health and wellbeing strategy
2.6.1 Hertfordshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board
The Health & Wellbeing Board brings together the NHS, public health, adult social care and
children’s services, including elected representatives from the County and District Councils,
Hertfordshire Healthwatch and the Police and Crime Commissioner, to plan how best to meet
the needs of Hertfordshire’s population and tackle local inequalities in health.

The Hertfordshire Health and Wellbeing Strategy can be viewed here:
https://www.hertfordshire.gov.uk/media-library/documents/about-thecouncil/partnerships/health-and-wellbeing-board/hertfordshire-health-and-wellbeing- strategy2016-–-2020.pdf

2.7 Performance in primary care
2.7.1 Commissioning of primary medical services
We continue to effectively discharge the statutory functions for the commissioning of primary
medical services on behalf of NHS England and Improvement and provide assurances through
robust governance arrangements and reporting.
We continue to work with our member practices to maintain and improve performance and the
quality of general practice.
In 2019-20 our main focus has been supporting the NHS Long Term Plan requirement of
forming Primary Care Networks and a significant amount of support and resources have been
available to successfully meet this requirement by 1 July 2019 (See Primary Care Network
section below).
We continue to also support general practice to ensure sustainability and resilience through
provision of training and additional resources to support practice mergers and workforce issues.

2.7.2 Improved access to general practice
We now offer in excess of 300 hours of additional evening and weekend appointments each
week. Between April 2019 and February 2020 patients have attended an additional 54,651
appointments.
Due to the suspension of reporting and monitoring due to COVID, we do not have figures for
March 2020. In the last year the skill mix used to deliver extended access (evening and
weekend) appointments has comprised of GPs, nurses, clinical pharmacists and phlebotomists
and we continue to encourage our providers to use a blended workforce to effectively see and
treat patients.
As an extension to the national requirements, we have also commissioned a number of
additional appointments for children aged 0-4 bookable on the day to help parents and carers of
young children to be able to get them seen by a GP. This is currently a six-month pilot running
to Spring 2020.

We have also undertaken a Quality Assurance process with all four GP Federations who
provide the extended access services for west Hertfordshire to provide assurance that robust
governance policies and processes are in place to deliver a high quality service to patients.

2.7.3 General practice resilience
The CCG continues to support general practice through our resilience programme to assess
applications for discretionary funding. This funding provides short term support to practices to
ensure their longer term sustainability.
Applications are reviewed individually by a resilience review panel: any funding approved is
proportionate to the identified need and is in the best interests of the patients, the provider and
the CCG.
During 2019-20 there was a further practice merger. Berkhamsted Group Practice merged with
Rothschild House Surgery. This saw the closure of the branch surgery site for Berkhamsted
Group (formerly Boxwell Road Surgery) but the main site has been retained to ensure
continued access to GP appointments and is now considered a branch surgery to the main
Rothschild House Practice in Tring.

2.7.4 Local Commissioning of Primary Care Services
In 2019-20, we continue to commission local services above core GMS Contract through the
GP Enhanced Commissioning Framework (GPECF) and Year 2 of the 3-year specification is
underway.

2.7.5 Primary Care Networks
The NHS Long Term Plan published in January 2019 committed further investment to support
General Practice and the introduction of a national Primary Care Network (PCN) Directed
Enhanced Service (DES). Directed Enhanced Services are nationally negotiated services, over
and above those provided under usual contracts. This DES was implemented effective from 1
July 2019 and CCGs were required to ensure that all practices who wished to be part of a PCN
were able to do so and there was 100% population coverage of services delivered under this
DES.
Primary Care Networks are required to serve a population of at least 30,000 and practices
within the network to be geographically contiguous to ensure community services can be
“wrapped around” general practice to ease and ensure equity of access for patients.

We have 16 PCNs across our four localities. The PCN DES provides for additional workforce
over the next 4 years to support the clinical workforce in general practice. In 2019-20, PCNs
were able to recruit a Clinical Pharmacist and a Social Prescribing Link Worker and further
additional roles are available in 2020/21.
Primary Care Networks are required to appoint a Clinical Director who will provide clinical
leadership for the PCN and play a critical role in the development of the Integrated Care
Partnership. It is recognised that PCNs were formed at pace and a national PCN prospectus
has been published to support the development of the PCN and Clinical Director. The CCG
has also invested in a PCN Organisation Development Programme which will further support
this work programme.

Primary Care Network (PCN) Pilots
To help develop our PCNs, a number of pilots were launched to encourage practices to work at
scale to ensure a wider range of primary care services are available to more patients, ensuring
the health needs of the local population are met. The main pilot being a pilot for integrated
frailty services which was first launched in the Watford and Three Rivers Locality and then
rolled out to a number of PCNs in Dacorum, Hertsmere and St Albans and Harpenden.
Other PCN pilots include a Hepatitis C project, a sore throat clinic, living well and prevention of
falls.

2.7.6 Primary Care workforce and education
The workforce development team across Herts and West Essex STP are focused on attraction,
retention and recruitment and are delivering a number of initiatives to support a range of GP
recruitment and retention initiatives. These include:


The development of a local STP GP Clinical Fellowship Programme. Recruitment
commenced in January 2019. To date 14 GP Fellows have been recruited.



International GP (IGP) recruitment has placed ten IGPs in Practices across the STP.



Physician Associate (PA) placements. Between January and February 2020 over 20 PAs
will be on placements in General Practices across Hertfordshire.



A number of development opportunities have been identified for GPs including
coaching/mentoring training, Local Medical Committee Business Fundamentals modular
programme for new and experienced GPs and mid-career portfolio scheme.



Recruited a GP Retention Clinical Lead to support GPs in Practice.

The Primary Care Nurse Tutors across the STP are actively supporting practice nurse staff as
individuals and as a group in Practice Nurse and Health Care Assistant Forums across the
localities. The Nurse Tutors are working towards the 10 actions in the General Practice 10
point plan. This includes working with schools, colleges and universities to raise the profile of
General Practice Nursing as a first destination career, supporting nurses new to practice or
nurses returning to work and student nurses.
In addition to the above initiatives, a number of training opportunities funded by Health
Education England and NHS England have taken place to support the development of practice
clinical staff, non- clinical staff and practice managers. Each CCG across the STP collates
primary care workforce data quarterly, to assist in the longer term planning and to further
support the education and training for practice staff.

2.7.7 Locality Provider Groups (LPGs)
The Locality Provider Groups regularly meet on a monthly basis to discuss community
pathways, identify gaps in services or duplication in processes. Patient representatives and the
voluntary sector are also included in the Locality Provider Groups (LPGs) and are able to
contribute to the discussions or regularly submit questions to be discussed and addressed by
members of the LPGs.

2.7.9 Supporting Practices Winter Plans (SPWP)
During the winter months, we understand there is a greater demand for GP appointments. This
is why, for the fourth year running, we have commissioned the Supporting Practices Winter
Plans (SPWP) scheme, which commences from October and runs to March. It allows practices
to increase appointments during their core hours (8am to 6.30pm Monday to Friday) to cope
with additional demand. The SPWP continues to be a very popular service for both patients and
practice staff alike.

2.7.10 Locality Target events
Target events are peer to peer clinical educational events upskilling clinicians and providing a
forum for sharing best practice. Secondary Care consultants are also in attendance giving
advice and guidance on referrals into secondary care services.

2.7.11 Medicines Optimisation
Integrated working
The medicines optimisation staff are strengthening links with local hospitals and with partners
across the CCG area in preparation for the transformation ahead.
Hertfordshire and West Essex STP have been chosen as a leading STP as part of a national
project which develops work across the STP and then shares learning from our projects. We
have worked on planning our future workforce needs, on discharge from hospital
communications, de-prescribing, reduction in waste, encouraging cost effective use of medicine
with biosimilar agents and improving the spread of projects through leadership. We have taken
a whole system approach to encouraging self-care and purchase of medicines for short-term
conditions which has released substantial savings which can be reinvested into the NHS.
We have tried hard to be unafraid of tackling difficult issues and taking a collaborative approach
to finding good solutions.
CCG staff are supporting new primary care network pharmacists by hosting evening meetings
and establishing networks for these new posts.

Awards and promotions
A poster on CRP tests usage in a GP surgery was a finalist at the antibiotic guardian awards in
the Das Pillai memorial category. This work was to introducing CRP tests and measuring its
impact in one GP practice.
A piece on workforce was piece published in the Pharmaceutical Journal.
Our consultant dietitian became chair of the Advisory Committee on Borderline Substances
(ACBS), a national group that advises the Department of Health and Social Care on drug tariff
changes and additions for borderline substances.

Shared care
We have agreed local principles for drugs requiring shared care and are starting to develop
guidelines within this shared framework.

Adalimumab & savings targets
Significant savings have been made through using adalimumab biosimilars and at a nationally
negotiated reduced fee. This highly effective medication lost its patent in year releasing
significant savings for the CCG and for the Trust.

Other savings targets are on track to be met freeing up resources for use in the NHS locally.
Stoma
We have employed dedicated staff to work on using stoma products in a way that ensures best
care while developing guidance around best care.

IT
The majority of GP practices have signed up to use Eclipse live – a system which integrates
well with existing IT used locally and which has great potential to improve further patient safety,
through highlighting nationally identified targeted areas for improvement.

2.8 Delivering on change in west Hertfordshire
2.8.1 Delivering patient-focused services
We have made continued progress with a roll-out of new community-based services that reflect
our Your Care, Your Future ambitions to provide coordinated care closer to home. In 2019/20 this
has included the contract award for Adult Community Services delivered by Central London
Community Healthcare (CLCH) from October 2019 and the launch of the GP Direct Access
Ultrasound Service in April 2019.
On-going engagement with patient and service users includes a regular planned and primary
care network meeting, as well as focused engagement at service level, as services continue to
embed and implement improvements
Updates on these new community services are provided below:
Adult community health services
People in England can now expect to live for longer than ever before, but extra years of life are
not always spent in good health. Older people are now more likely to live with multiple and
complex long-term conditions, or with frailty or dementia. This, combined with our commitment
to provide care closer to home requires us to change the way we deliver and manage their
care.
During 2019/20 we have established a new model of adult community health services which
has been delivered by Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust (CLCH) since
1 October 2019.
CLCH is working closely with the CCG to deliver a new model of adult community services that
reflects the direction set out in NHS England’s Long Term Plan. This will create fully joined-up

services between community, GPs, mental health, social care and voluntary services so that
patients receive coordinated, holistic care. There will be a greater emphasis on prevention,
helping patients to better look after themselves and on services intervening early and quickly to
support patients in their own homes and reduce hospital admissions.


Since taking over the provision of Adult Community Health Services (ACS) in October 2019,
CLCH has commenced a large scale transformation programme. A key part of that
transformation is about delivering services in a more integrated way. A rapid response
team provides residential visits to patients needing a short term intervention during a time of
crisis. Where safe, the service will provide treatment at home to avoid an inpatient
admission. The service is supported by a Consultant Geriatrician. It went live on 1 April
2020



GP Step up beds to provide a short-term intervention for patients where the complexity
cannot be managed in the patient’s usual place of residence. This service will prevent
admission to hospital.



Heart Failure Services – Cardiology Consultant Led clinics for patients with heart failure
and IV Diruetics for patients in clinics and in their own homes. This goes live in June 2020.



Multidisciplinary Complex Case Management Service. This is available for patients who
are frail (Rockwood Score 5 and above); complex patients at increased risk of hospital
admission and patients with multiple co-morbidities. The MDT Team will include a consultant
geriatrician, GP, social care worker, physical health therapist, mental health practitioner,
community navigator representation, as well as other professionals involved in the patient’s
care on a case-by-case basis. MDTs will meet weekly in each locality discussing patient
cases and develop a comprehensive management plan that will be shared with the patient,
their GP and other relevant professionals. Patients may be referred onward to local frailty
clinics were necessary.



Community Frailty and Falls Service (Frailty Clinic). Clinics are available for patients
scoring three and over on the Falls Risk Assessment Tool (FRAT); patients assessed as
moderately or severely frail and over 65s who would benefit from a comprehensive
geriatrician assessment. The service will operate weekly in each locality and will include
nurses, therapists and a consultant geriatrician. This service is closely aligned to the MDT
and Rapid Response Services. Following assessment in the Multidisciplinary Frailty Clinic, a
comprehensive management plan will be developed and shared with the patient, their GP,
and other relevant health and social care professionals. The need for the STP Frailty ‘My

Plan’, Advanced Care Planning, Self-Care, and Treatment Escalation Plans will be
considered.
CLCH has also been developing the estate it provides services from across the
four localities in Herts Valleys. The following sites have undergone improvements
to areas including consulting rooms and waiting areas to improve patients’
experience and provide safer, more efficient care.
•

Harpenden Memorial Hospital

•

St Peters Ward – Hemel Hempstead

•

Langley House

•

Potters Bar Hospital

•

Elstree Way Clinic

Community gynaecology service
The enhanced community-based gynaecology service supports patients aged 16 years
upwards. The service is provided by the Community Gynaecology Partnership, which includes
teams of specialist GPs and consultant gynaecologists from local hospitals.
Patients have appointments and receive some care and treatments in clinics in each of the four
west Hertfordshire instead of having to go to hospital. If they need more specialist treatment,
including surgery, the service discusses with the patient which hospital they would like to go to.
The service has continued to develop in 2019/20 and has implemented direct listing to some
secondary care providers shortening the patient pathway to specialist treatment where
appropriate as part of continuous transformation of the service.

Community Integrated Musculoskeletal (MSK), Rheumatology, Pain and Postural
Stability Service
The integrated community musculoskeletal service for west Hertfordshire offers a wide range
of community treatments for all MSK conditions including physiotherapy, orthopaedics,
rheumatology, and pain.
Connect Health has been providing the MSK service since April 2018 on a three year contract.
The service model includes providing treatment locations across west Hertfordshire with the
service now also operating from Potters Bar Community Hospital from February 2020. Connect
Health has continued to work closely with the CCG and West Herts Hospital NHS Trust to
ensure that robust post-operative pathways are in place so that patients are seen within the

appropriate timescales. This has now been rolled out at with Royal Free London, BMI and
Spire hospitals.
Connect Health held a patient engagement event in October 2019 and are planning to hold
further events in other localities. Following this event and other patient feedback about getting
through to the service, they have upgraded their telephone platform to improve call queuing
and waiting functionality.
Other improvements during 2019/20 have included:


A three month pilot scheme for First Contact Practitioner (FCP) in Maltings Surgery, St
Albans which started in December 2019. FCPs are physiotherapists with enhanced skills
and they will be able to access, diagnose and give expert advice to MSK patients on how
best to manage their conditions or refer them onto specialist services, if necessary at the
GP practice without a GP referral. If successful, this will be rolled out across the west
Hertfordshire area to improve access.



Strengthening the Connect Health workforce by recruiting to areas of high demand and
strengthening their induction process to ensure that their patient care advisors are
delivering best care to patients.



Changing the rheumatology and pain pathway to improve wait times and reduce the waiting
list in discussion with the CCG and WHHT



Ongoing GP education and plan for Connect to provide GPs with dedicated daily access to
a consultant to discuss complex cases.



There is ongoing discussion between Connect, Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust
(HPFT) and the CCG to utilise the expert knowledge of HPFT staff in the MSK pain service
to use psychological therapies as part of the treatment for patients.

Integrated diabetes service
The Herts Valleys Integrated Diabetes Service (HIDS) has been in place since April 2018. It
implements the Your Care, Your Future vision for diabetes care to be more integrated and
accessible, to promote earlier diagnosis and better care and to empower patients to selfmanage, with support to carers of people with diabetes. West Hertfordshire Hospital NHS Trust
(WHHT) is the lead provider for this integrated service, working in partnership with Hertfordshire
Community Trust (HCT), Hertfordshire Partnership Foundation Trust (HPFT) and Primary Care.
The service is led by consultants and provides high quality specialist diabetes care in the
community through dedicated multi-disciplinary teams – reducing the need for hospital
appointments in line with the diabetes objectives in the NHS Long Term Plan. Care is delivered

closer to home, with improved access across all localities. The service has a single point of
access and triage to ensure patients are seen by the right person or a team of people so that
they get the help they need.
During 2019/20


The service has reduced waiting times and is meeting their targets of under six weeks for
specialist acute and 12 weeks for routine appointments



It is working closely with primary care to support reduced variation of care



National Diabetes Transformation funding has enabled the service to develop multidisciplinary foot care teams which are now National Institute for Health and Care
Excellence (NICE) compliant. This aims to reduce amputations by improving the timeliness
of referrals for people with diabetic foot disease. The service has also improved access to
face-to-face diabetes structured education reducing waiting times to one week and has
introduced a new digital training offer. This gives people diagnosed with type 2 diabetes the
option to receive expert support on-line via an app, to learn more about improving their
diabetes management including personalised support on diet, exercise and wellbeing.

Nutrition and Dietetics
The Herts Valleys Integrated Nutrition and Dietetic Service for children and adults went live in
November 2018. Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT) is the lead provider and the
service is provided in partnership with four NHS and voluntary sector organisations that focus
on specific aspects of care and support. The focus is on supporting patients of all ages in
achieving and maintaining good nutrition and having the required support to manage their
dietary needs.
The nutrition and dietetics service provide signposting and prevention based interventions for
malnutrition patients with the support of Age UK. Dementia Café education sessions and
presentations for patients and their carers help monitor their symptoms and teach selfmanagement in order to reduce need for additional care and maximise quality of life.
Hertfordshire Independent Living Service (HILS) provide training and education for care home
staff to embed good practice and tackle the issue of malnutrition in care homes.
The service also works closely with the CCG consultant dietitian and GPs via attendance at
prescribing meetings, locality meetings and GP education sessions to equip them with the
knowledge and skills to identify and treat malnutrition.

Ear, Nose and Throat (ENT) service
A new community Ear Nose and Throat (ENT) service was launched in February 2019. It is
provided by Communitas Clinics Limited under a three year contract. The service is led by ear,
nose and throat (ENT) consultants and is delivered by a team of trained and accredited
medical professionals from Communitas. It provides patients with expert diagnosis, treatment
and support close to where they live, rather than having to travel to hospital for their
appointments. Patients are seen within six to eight weeks of a referral which is quicker than a
hospital referral waiting time, which can be up to 17 weeks.
Communitas have worked closely with local GPs including providing clinical education
sessions for GPs in February, April and September 2019.
Communitas also attended a Patient Engagement Network meeting in October 2019 to ensure
patients stay informed about the community services offered by NHS Herts Valleys CCG.
At the last quarterly report on the Patient Satisfaction Survey carried out by the service it was
reported that “93% of patients told us that they were either extremely likely or likely to
recommend our service to friends or family.”
Further details about the service are available on the NHS Herts Valleys CCG website.

Ophthalmology
Community Health and Eye Care Ltd (CHEC) have been delivering community ophthalmology
services for west Hertfordshire patients since January 2019. They run clinics in 4 GP surgeries
and in 6 optometry practices which deliver some aspects of the service such as tests and
examinations.
From January 2019 to December 2019, CHEC have successfully delivered over 26,000
appointments, transferred over 7,000 patients out of secondary care into the community, as
identified by monthly data submissions.
As part of the expansion of services, CHEC started delivering the wet Age-related Macular
Degeneration (AMD) service based at the INTU centre in Watford, from 1 February 2020. The
one stop shop for patients has 5 consulting rooms, 4 diagnostic rooms, and a fully equipped
operation theatre for the delivery of injections.
GPs and optometrists will be able to refer directly into to the service. Community optometrists
will be able to electronically share patient details and diagnostic imaging. CHEC are also
making arrangements for free patient transport to improve accessibility for patients. The
community wAMD service aims to reduce the rising demand on secondary care capacity and

resources, better utilise the knowledge and skills of community ophthalmologists and improve
patient experience through improved access and reduced waiting times.

Dermatology pilot
HealthHarmonie has been running a pilot primary care led community dermatology service for
all ages in the Dacorum and Watford and Three Rivers localities since February 2019.
With the pilot due to come to an end in July 2020, Herts Valleys CCG is reviewing the success
of the service against its objective to deliver better patient outcomes, closer to home and in the
most appropriate setting. We are also gathering and reviewing feedback from hospital
clinicians, referring GPs and patients. This information will be used to inform the design and
implementation of a CCG-wide longer term service.

GP Direct Access Ultrasound Service
The GP Direct Access Ultrasound service launched in April 2019 and is provided by
Physiological Measurements Ltd (PML), who already run NHS ultrasound services in a number
of areas across the country.
Patients can now have their ultrasound at one of seven GP surgeries in west Hertfordshire
rather than having to go to a hospital. As well as being more convenient,the service aims to
halve waiting times for patients needing an ultrasound. Patients are seen in the service within
15 working days of referral from their GP.
PML have worked closely with local GPs to deliver the new service and have reinforced this by
attendance at locality meetings to present the service in May and July 2019.
A patient representative was part of the evaluation panel for the procurement of this service.

Frailty and falls prevention
In 2019/20 the Herts and West Essex Transformation Partnership launched pathways for the
identification of falls, proactive management of falls and what to do when a person has fallen in
the community. The CCG has established a task and finish group with key stakeholders that
include Hertfordshire Independent Living Service, Central London Community Healthcare,
West Herts Hospitals NHS Trust, District Councils, Hertfordshire County Council, Mental
Health Services, Connect Health (postural stability provider) and patient representatives. The
group has conducted a gap analysis against the STP falls pathways and developed a project
plan to implement the pathways locally. This includes looking at training needs, strength and
balance exercise classes, communications and support available to patients.

In addition, pathways for patients who are at the end of life and are living with dementia have
also been produced. All the pathways are in the process of being implemented across the STP
area. A task and finish group has been established with key stakeholders including the local
hospices, acute trusts, palliative care nurses, community services and the CCG. The group has
conducted a gap analysis and is in the process of developing a project plan to implement the
STP end of life pathways.
The STP has also coproduced with patients a My Plan booklet, which has been launched
across west Hertfordshire. This is a patient held document that informs health, social and
voluntary care organisations of key information that the patients would like to share. This is a
way of preventing the patient having to tell every professional who they come into contract with
the same information multiple times.
Please see our website for further information: https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/clinicians/frailtyand-falls

2.8.3 Developing plans for future hospital provision
The future shape of hospital services is a key part of our Your Care, Your Future vision for a
healthier west Hertfordshire. We need to ensure our hospitals are fit for the future to support
changes in our population and their health needs, healthcare advances and new models of
care.
During 2018 and 2019 West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust (WHHT) and the CCG carried out
a refresh of the strategic outline case for acute hospital redevelopment in west Hertfordshire,
following feedback from NHS England and NHS Improvement (now merged as NHSE/I). We reexamined a range of options for the configuration and location of future hospital services, taking
account of a directive from regulators that proposals must not exceed the hospital trust’s annual
turnover of approximately £350million. Between February and May 2019 four shortlisted options
were examined and scored by a stakeholder panel made up of clinicians and managers from
the hospital trust and CCG, other NHS, care and voluntary organisations and seven patient
and public representatives from across the four west Hertfordshire localities. All shortlisted
options involved retaining emergency and critical care at Watford General Hospital but offered
different solutions for planned care, outlining alternatives to develop the existing Hemel
Hempstead and/or St Albans City Hospital sites or replace both with a new planned care hospital.
The hospital trust and CCG boards met in June to reach a consensus on a preferred option,
factoring in the scoring from the stakeholder panel and an economic appraisal. They gave

indicative support for the option that would provide the greatest amount of investment at
Watford General Hospital while also retaining and redeveloping the St Albans and Hemel
Hempstead hospital sites. The preferred option and the refresh process (including patient and
stakeholder engagement) were detailed in a strategic outline case (SOC) that was agreed at
separate meetings of the hospital trust and CCG boards in July.
In autumn 2019, in response to the SOC submitted by the Trust, government announced
funding for the redevelopment of the west Hertfordshire hospital estate. In October the prime
minister confirmed funding in the sum of £400million. It was further clarified in a subsequent
meeting with the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) that the figure of £400million
included an allowance for inflation and was therefore greater than the £350million requested
in the SOC. There was also clarification that the funding was earmarked for the substantial
rebuild/redevelopment of the Watford site, together with redevelopment of both St Albans and
Hemel Hempstead hospitals, along the lines outlined in the SOC. This redevelopment plan is
part of the national health infrastructure programme (HIP1) and final allocations are
dependent on the submission of more detailed business cases. HIP 1 requires the Trust to
deliver on their plan by 2025.
The Trust is now embarking on next steps. Planning is underway that includes developing the
clinical model, establishing the project team and governance arrangement and seeking
partners to help deliver this highly complex project.
The CCG and the hospital trust have engaged extensively with local patients and stakeholders
throughout the refresh. There is further information about the engagement on hospital plans on
the CCG website https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/future-plans/your-care-your-future/developinghospital-services
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The purpose of the accountability section of the annual report is to meet key accountability
requirements for Parliament.
The Accountability Report addresses the three key elements of:
(i)

Corporate Governance Report

(ii)

Remuneration and Staff Report

(iii)

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report

Under each section, the Accountability Report details how the CCG meets the entity’s
responsibility to ensure that it provides full accountability through the adoption of best practices in
line with corporate governance norms and codes.
Auditors have reviewed the Accountability Report for consistency with other information in the
financial statements and have provided an opinion on the following disclosures, which must
clearly be identified as audited within the Accountability Report:



disclosures on Parliamentary accountability, as detailed in paragraph 3.61 of the
Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) group accounting manual



single total figure of remuneration for each director



Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) disclosures for each director



payments to past directors, if relevant



payments for loss of office, if relevant



“fair pay” (pay multiples) disclosures



exit packages, if relevant, and



analysis of staff numbers and costs.

Corporate Governance Report
The purpose of the corporate governance report is to explain the composition and
organisation of the entity’s governance structures, and how they support the
achievement of the entity’s objectives.
As a minimum the Corporate Governance Report must include:
-

Members report

-

Statement of Accounting/Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities

-

Governance Statement

Members Report
Dr Nicolas Small was the Chair of the CCG and Kathryn Magson was the
Accountable Officer until Tuesday 07 January 2020. David Evans was appointed the
interim Accountable Officer from this date.
There are sixteen members of the CCG board.

Member practices
The CCG has seen a few mergers in 2019/20 and therefore our membership now
consist of 58 GP practices.
The member practices are arranged into the four localities of Dacorum, Hertsmere,
St Albans and Harpenden, and Watford and Three Rivers. Each of these localities
has a Locality Clinical Chair who leads the Locality Committee, which is made up of
representatives from member practices. The Locality Clinical Chair is also a member
of the CCG Board and they each have a portfolio in which they are responsible for.

Our Member practices are:

Dacorum practices (16)
 Archway Surgery
 Bennetts End Surgery
 Coleridge House Medical Centre
 Everest House Surgery
 Fernville Surgery
 Gossoms End Surgery
 Grovehill Medical Centre
 Haverfield Surgery
 Highfield Surgery
 Kings Langley Surgery (The Nap)
 Lincoln House Surgery
 Manor Street Surgery
 Parkwood Surgery
 Rothschild House Surgery
 The New Surgery
 Woodhall Farm Medical Centre

Hertsmere practices (9)
 Annandale Surgery
 Fairbrook Medical Centre
 Highview Medical Centre
 Little Bushey Surgery
 Parkfield Medical Centre
 Schopwick Surgery
 The Grove Medical Centre
 Theobald Medical Centre
 The Red House Group of Practices

St Albans and Harpenden practices (12)
 Colney Medical Centre
 Davenport House Surgery
 Elms Medical Practice
 Grange Street Surgery
 Harvey Group Practice
 Hatfield Road Surgery
 Lattimore and Village Surgery
 Maltings Surgery
 Midway Surgery
 Parkbury House Surgery
 The Lodge Group
 The Village Surgery

Watford and Three Rivers practice (21)
 Abbotswood Medical Centre
 Attenborough Surgery
 Baldwins Lane Surgery
 Bridgewater Surgeries
 Cassio Surgery
 Chorleywood Health Centre
 Gade Surgery
 Garston Medical Centre
 Manor View Practice
 New Road Surgery
 Pathfinder Practice
 Sheepcot Medical Centre
 South Oxley Surgery
 Suthergrey House Medical Centre
 The Colne Practice
 The Consulting Rooms
 The Elms Surgery
 Tudor Surgery
 Upton Road Surgery
 Vine House Health Centre

Composition of Governing Body
There are sixteen members of the CCG board:


Two general practitioners from each of the four locality areas, one of whom is
the Chair of the CCG and one of whom is the deputy clinical chair.



Four lay members, one of whom is the appointed deputy chair of the CCG.
Among these members, one has responsibility for governance matters, one
for public and patient involvement, and one for primary care (medical
services) commissioning.



A secondary care specialist doctor.



Three Executive members: the Chief Executive Officer (Accountability
Officer), the Chief Finance Officer and the Director of Nursing and Quality
who is also the Deputy Chief Executive Officer.



Also in regular attendance at board meetings, in an advisory capacity, are the
Director of Primary Care, Director of Commissioning, Head of Corporate
Governance, Associate Director of Communications and Engagement,
Director of Workforce and ODL, a patient representative, a representative of
Healthwatch Hertfordshire and a representative from Hertfordshire County
Council.

Appointment and roles

The names and roles of board members during 2019-20 are as follows:
Nicolas Small, GP member (Chair)
Stuart Bloom, Lay member (Deputy Chair)
Trevor Fernandes, GP member, (Deputy Clinical Chair)
Paul Smith, Lay member (Audit Chair)
Daniel Carlton-Conway, GP member
Corina Ciobanu, GP member
Rami Eliad, GP member
Asif Faizy, GP member
Catherine (Kate) Page, GP member

Richard Pile, GP member
Alison Gardner, Lay member
Thelma Stober, Lay member
Diane Curbishley, Director of Nursing and Quality and Deputy Chief Executive
Officer
David Evans, Director of Commissioning (April 2019 – January 2020) and
Interim Chief Executive Officer (8 January – March 2020)
Caroline Hall, Chief Finance Officer

(April 2019 – 10 October 2019)

Kathryn Magson, Chief Executive Officer (1 April 2019 – 7 January 2020)
Avni Shah, Interim Director of Commissioning (January – March 2020)
Elke Taylor, Acting Chief Finance Officer (11 October 2019 – March 2020)

Board meeting in public attendances 2019/20

Details of attendance at Board meetings can be found here:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/leadership
Committees.
The highest level of governance structure comprises a governing body (known as
“the board”) supported by board committees, three of which are required by statute:


Audit



Remuneration



Primary Care Commissioning

Committee structures can be found in the Integrated governance protocol.

Please see Integrated Governance Protocol for details of the membership of the
Audit, Remuneration and Primary Care (Medical Services) Commissioning
Committees.
Membership and effectiveness of the board committees can be found under
“Governance arrangements and effectiveness” below at page 76. Additionally, there
is an executive management team, which meets fortnightly to oversee the

operational aspects of the CCG business, and a financial sustainability meeting,
which met fortnightly throughout most of 2019-20 to monitor the implementation and
delivery of the CCG’s transformation programme. The meeting has temporarily been
stood down to reflect the pause of the CCG’s transformation programme during the
COVID emergency response period.

Register of Interests
All registers of interest can be found on our website here:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/what-we-do/managing-conflicts-interest
Personal data related incidents
There were 15 reported data security incidents during 2019-20. The CCG reports via
the NHS Digital Data Security and Protection Incident Reporting tool where guidance
material is available to support organisations to assess whether the incident should
be reported.
The 15 reported incidents summaries are below:
3 reported as near misses: an example was where patient data sent via Royal Mail
and envelope was damaged on arrival, checks were made to ensure all documents
arrived, stronger envelopes are now used.
10 reported as breach to data: examples included emails sent to incorrect recipient;
emails forwarded that contained identifiable information which should have been
removed; personal data left unattended on copier. Staff were provided with
additional training and patients were informed of breach as appropriate.
1 laptop stolen from boot of car: no other information was present in laptop bag.
1 incident where email should have been encrypted as it was sent outside of secure
system: staff member provided with training and guidance.

Statement of Disclosure to Auditors
Each individual who is a member of the CCG (Board) at the time the Members’
Report is approved confirms:


so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
CCG’s auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their audit
report



The member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to
make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the CCG’s auditor is aware of it.

Modern Slavery Act
Herts Valleys CCG fully supports the Government’s objectives to eradicate modern
slavery and human trafficking. Our Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement for the
financial year ending 31 March 2020 is published on our website at:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/intranet/safeguarding/adult-safeguarding-domesticabuse#modern-slavery-and-human-trafficking

Statement of Accountable Officer’s
Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has
appointed David Evans to be the Accountable Officer of Herts Valleys Clinical
Commissioning Group.
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical
Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include
responsibilities for:



The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable,



For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the
requirements of the Accounts Direction),



For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets (and hence for
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities)



The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public
Money



Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically
(in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement in the quality of
services (in accordance with Section14R of the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended))



Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections
223H to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).

Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has directed
Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year a
statement of accounts in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.
The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group and of its income and
expenditure, statement of financial position and cash flows for the financial year.
In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Officer is required to comply with
the requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in
particular to:



observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis



make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis



state whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the
Government Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and
disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements



prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis and



confirm that the Annual Report and Accounts as a whole is fair, balanced,
and understandable and take personal responsibility for the Annual
Report and Accounts and the judgements required for determining that it
is fair, balanced and understandable.

As the Accounting Officer, I have taken all the steps that I ought to have taken to
make myself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that Herts
Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group’s auditors are aware of that information. So
far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the auditors are
unaware.
Signed:
Dr Jane Halpin
Accountable Officer from 1 June 2020
Dated: 25 June 2020

Signed:

David Evans
Interim Accountable Officer to 31 May 2020
Dated: 25 June 2020

Governance Statement
Introduction and context
Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group is a body corporate established
by NHS England on [1 April 2013] under the National Health Service Act 2006
(as amended).
The clinical commissioning group’s statutory functions are set out under the
National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCG’s general function
is arranging the provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health
service in England. The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the
provision of certain health services to such extent as it considers necessary to
meet the reasonable requirements of its local population.
As at 1 April 2019, the clinical commissioning group is not subject to any
directions from NHS England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National
Health Service Act 2006.

Scope of responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning
group’s policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and
assets for which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the
responsibilities assigned to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge
my responsibilities as set out under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended) and in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is
administered prudently and economically and that resources are applied
efficiently and effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also
have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal
control within the clinical commissioning group as set out in this governance
statement.

Governance arrangements and effectiveness
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively,
efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted
principles of good governance as are relevant to it.
This has been achieved by:
a) Undertaking governance reviews
b) Adoption of standards and procedures that facilitate speaking out and the
raising of concerns including a freedom to speak up guardian
c) Adopting CCG values that include standards of propriety in relation to the
stewardship of public funds, impartiality, integrity and objectivity
d) By adopting the ‘Good Governance Standard’ for Public Services
e) By adopting the ‘Standards of Behaviour’ published by the Committee on
Standards in Public Life (1995) known as the ‘Nolan Principles’
f) By adopting the seven key principles of the NHS Constitution
g) By complying with relevant legislation including such as the Equality Act
2010 and
h) By adopting standards set out in the Professional Standard Authority’s
guidance ‘Standards for Members of NHS Boards and Clinical Commissioning
Group Governing Bodies in England’.

The CCG membership has delegated the vast majority of functions to the
governing body but the following are reserved to the membership:


Consideration and approval of applications to NHS England on any
matter concerning changes to the CCG’s Constitution



Approval of the CCG’s overarching Scheme of Reservation and
Delegation



Suspension of standing orders



Approval of the arrangements for identifying practice members to
represent practices in matters concerning the work of the CCG and
electing the GP members of the CCG Governing Body.

The membership body met 8 times during the year where the key highlights
were:



Approval of the West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust redevelopment
Strategic Outline Case



Approval of the GP enhanced commissioning framework



Approval of the minimum income contract with West Herts Hospitals
NHS Trust



Submission of the NHS Long Term Plan



Transition to mobilisation phase of the new adult community services
contract



Development of the Integrated Care System and Integrated Care
Partnership



Recruitment of a Joint Accountable Officer - commenced 1 June 2020



Gradual introduction of joint meetings and committees in common to
support preparation for the potential CCG merger in April 2022.



We were formally acknowledged as an ICS in April 2020, but we remain
a CCG and will continue working on plans for a CCG merger with
colleagues. Original plans to merge by April 2021 have been postponed
due to incident management of the Covid19 pandemic.

In the early part of 2019, each member of the Governing Body undertook the
Healthcare leadership model 360 degree feedback tool. Whilst this is primarily
geared towards feedback on key leadership domains for individual members,
the programme allows a consolidated report for how the Governing Body
performs as a whole and this report was discussed by the Governing Body at a
development meeting in April 2019, with the conclusion that the Governing
Body is experienced, high performing and cohesive, however there is scope to
develop its influence and leadership across the system.

Board attendance records can be found here:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/leadership
Membership of the CCG’s Audit Committee can be found in the Integrated
governance protocol.

Our Governing Body (Board)
The CCG membership (see page 67) is accountable for exercising the
statutory functions of the CCG, which can be found in our constitution.
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/application/files/7415/6266/7161/Herts_Valleys_
CCG_Consitiution_-_8_Jul_2019_.pdf
The CCG Governing Body shall exercise the functions of the CCG governing
body as set put in legislation, and in particular sections 14L (2) and (3) of the
2006 Act, including: ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in
place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in
accordance with the CCG’s principles of good governance, which include the
Nolan Principles.


Determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to
employees, office holders or other persons providing services to the
CCG.



Approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations.

The membership has chosen to grant authority for most functions to a
governing body, our board, to act on their behalf. This is formalised in our
detailed financial
policies.[https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/application/files/7615/8515/0421/Detaile
d_financial_policies_v16_January_2020_and_front_sheet.pdf]

Information about our Membership Body and Governing Body (board),
including key responsibilities, membership and attendance records can be
found on our website. https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-weare/leadership

Highlights and key decisions made by the board in 2019-20 are detailed in our
decision register.
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/application/files/8715/5291/9914/HVCCG_Decisi
on_Register 2016-2019_web_March_2019_.pdf
Further, in discharging functions of the CCG that have been delegated to the
CCG, board commitments or joint committees, individuals must:


Comply with the principle of good governance, including the Nolan
Principles.



Operate in accordance with the CCG’s Scheme of Reservation and
Delegation.



Comply with the CCG’s standing orders.



Comply with the CCG’s arrangements for discharging its statutory
duties.



Where appropriate, ensure that member practices have had the
opportunity to contribute to the CCG’s decision-making process.

Information about our committee and sub-committees of the board, including
key responsibilities and membership can be found in our Integrated
Governance Protocol.

Attendance records and highlights of committee work over the year can be
found on our website using the link below:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/who-we-are/leadership
Charts have also been published here for the CCG’s statutory committees:
Audit Committee
Remuneration Committee
Primary Care (Medical Services) Commissioning Committee

UK Corporate Governance Code

NHS Bodies are not required to comply with the UK Code of Corporate
Governance.
However, we have reported on our corporate governance arrangements by
drawing upon best practice available, including those aspects of the UK
Corporate Governance Code we consider to be relevant to the clinical
commissioning group.
Evidence that the Code’s principles were applied is provided through the
Integrated Governance Protocol.

Herts Valleys CCG is committed to the highest standards of corporate
governance. The function of good governance is to “ensure that an
organisation fulfils its overall purpose, achieves its intended outcomes for

citizens for service users, and operates in an effective, efficient and ethical
manner”.

The underlying principles of all good governance are listed as follows in the UK
Corporate Governance Code:


Accountability



Transparency



Probity



Focus on sustainability: success of an entity over the longer term.

Discharge of Statutory Functions

In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical
commissioning group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers
conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and
other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the
clinical commissioning group is clear about the legislative requirements
associated with each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on delegation of those functions.
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead
director.
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary
capability and capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s
statutory duties.

Risk management arrangements and effectiveness
During 2019/20, the CCG has sustained its continuous improvement approach to
governance and risk management. The integrated governance protocol
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/application/files/5015/6043/7269/Integrated_Governance
_Protocol_2.01_final_June_2019.pdf was reviewed and updated to clarify the
systems, processes and behaviours by which HVCCG leads, directs and controls its
functions in order to achieve its strategic objectives. Mandatory training on governance
arrangements is now included as part of the CCG’s induction programme for new
employees and members of the board. Governance training has also been delivered to
GP federations and Primary Care Network Clinical Directors in 2019/20. The CCG’s
system of internal control, incorporating both corporate and clinical governance, puts in
place measures to both prevent and detect potential threats and deter any lack of
compliance with effective governance.
The board assurance framework (BAF) is being used to make sure that we focus on
the key risks to delivering the CCG’s strategic objectives at every board and
committee meeting within a framework of robust governance. The procedures for
submitting board and committee papers provide a clear focus on risk and assurance
and this approach has been refreshed and underpinned by training in 2019/20.
Directors are additionally required to sign off to confirm that all appropriate
procedures for equality, quality and data protection impact assessments have been
completed.
The internal operational risk management function is performed by the senior
leadership team (SLT).The SLT provides a forum for peer challenge and discussion of
risk and for a collective approach to the management of organisation wide and system
risk. Strategic and operational risks are considered in detail by SLT members, with any
concerns escalated to the executive team. A schedule of operational risk deep dives is
considered by SLT in order that organisational wide impacts and interdependencies
can be understood. SLT members also raise awareness within teams that
understanding and managing risk is an everyday part of the CCG’s commissioning
responsibilities by discussing their directorate risks at team meetings.

Risk is intrinsic to the provision of healthcare and from the CCG’s perspective: the
consequences of the risks inherent in commissioning decisions must be understood
before decisions are made. Following on from whole team training sessions in 2019,
weekly drop-in sessions with the Deputy Head of Corporate Governance have been
introduced in 2020 in order to support individual members of staff with risk
management and application of this information to the board and committee front
sheets.
As part of its plans to become further involved in its collaboration with STP partners
during 2019/20, HVCCG has been cross-referencing not only CCG objectives, but also
STP priorities and work stream outputs to its BAF risks throughout 2019/20 in order to
improve their management and the sharing of good quality risk information across the
local healthcare system. A board development session held in February 2020 explored
methods of assurance and key risk indicators in relation to system risks to inform the
development of a BAF for 2020/21. This needs to reflect the greater collaboration taking
place throughout the health and care system in order to put in place more effective
plans for the mitigation of strategic system risks going forward.
Public involvement in the management of the healthcare system’s strategic and
significant risks is an ongoing commitment for HVCCG. Widespread consultation has
taken place with local bodies, the public, politicians and other key stakeholders in order
to secure their involvement in plans to transform the delivery of care in west
Hertfordshire and by so doing, manage the principle risks to achievement of the CCG’s
strategic objectives. Consultation on future commissioning plans; urgent care strategy
including acute reconfiguration; and the re-commissioning of adult community services
have been overseen by the Associate Director for communications and engagement.
HVCCG’s Chair, Chief Executive Officer and members of the executive team continue
to meet with local members of Parliament to discuss their plans and promote public
involvement, understanding and support. The CCG has led work to recruit patient and
public representatives to panels evaluating procurement options. A stakeholder

participation strategy supports greater public engagement, particularly among
disadvantaged groups. The strategy incorporates themes to address issues highlighted
by the national improvement and assessment framework for engagement. An increase
in the number and work of community health ambassadors has also taken place to
encourage involvement from a wider cross-section of the west Hertfordshire population.

Risks are formally identified through two routes:

1) The board assurance framework (BAF) process, which assesses and manages the
principle risks associated with the delivery of the CCG’s strategic objectives.
Monthly reviews of BAF risks take place with individual SLT and Executive
members before being discussed collectively at executive team meetings. The
executive team agrees a BAF proposal for discussion at committees and
presentation to the board for approval. Each committee of the board receives,
quarterly, a more detailed BAF report relating to the strategic risks in its sphere of
responsibility, so that the committee can question and challenge the controls and
actions in place to manage risk and provide assurance to the board. Committees
and the board are also asked to notify any new risks identified during the course of a
meeting. Any feedback received from committees of the board is incorporated into
both the committee Chairs’ reports and the BAF proposal to board prepared by the
Executive team.
2) The risk register process, which is bottom-up and includes risks identified and
reported by all levels of staff across the CCG and within its partnerships and
collaborations. All significant risks are included on the corporate risk register, which
is reported to the board. Less significant risks are managed as part of ‘business as
usual’ activity within directorate, programme and project risk registers but escalated
to the corporate risk register as necessary.

The CCG engages with its internal auditors and local counter fraud specialists to ensure
that it has an awareness of risks identified elsewhere and to take steps to prevent and
deter adverse incidents that might impact on it. Internal audit advice and support has also
been sought in relation to specific aspects of CCG work, including procurement
processes and joint arrangements with STP partners. Equally, the CCG has a strong
track record working with health and social care system partners in west Hertfordshire
and is able to share risks and management of them where this is appropriate, including
taking account of the outcome of providers’ clinical audits.
HVCCG recognises that risk management is not about risk elimination; it is about
encouraging appropriate risk-taking, i.e. ensuring that sufficient and appropriate
information about risks encountered is available and properly analysed. Redesigning
pathways of care to secure the best possible services for our community requires a high
degree of innovation, transformation and risk-taking. In order to succeed in this, we
recognise the need to determine our risk appetite across all areas of our organisation
and to apply this to all decisions about risk and opportunities in the pursuit of the
HVCCG’s objectives. HVCCG’s risk appetite may be described as ‘Seek’, using the
Good Governance Institute ‘Risk Appetite for NHS Organisations’ matrix
https://www.good-governance.org.uk/services/risk-appetite-for-nhs-organisations-amatrix-to-support-better-risk-sensitivity-in-decision-taking/. That is, HVCCG is “Eager to
be innovative and to choose options offering potentially higher business rewards
(despite greater inherent risk)”, reflecting the large amount of transformation underway
and gathering pace in the Hertfordshire and West Essex health and care system.

Capacity to Handle Risk
The CCG executive is assigned overall responsibility for each of the four strategic
objective areas:


Effective Engagement. We will continually improve engagements with
member practices, patients, the public, carers and our staff to contribute to
and influence the work of Herts Valleys CCG.



Quality. We will commission safe, good quality services that meet the needs
of the population, reducing health inequalities and supporting local people to
avoid ill health and stay well.



Transforming delivery. We will work with health and social care partners to
transform the delivery of care through the implementation of “Your Care, Your
Future”, the Strategic Review in west Hertfordshire and its fit with the wider
Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) strategy, “A Healthier
Future”.



Affordable and sustainable care. We will ensure that we fulfill our statutory duty
to deliver a financially sustainable and affordable healthcare system in west
Hertfordshire.

The executive is responsible for endorsing the CCG’s system of internal control and
ensuring that there is effective management of risk.
Control mechanisms
There are different levels of risk governance in the CCG:

 Board
 Audit committee
 Quality committee
 Performance committee
 Finance committee
 Primary care commissioning committee
 Public and patient involvement committee
 Commissioning executive
 Executive committee
 Senior leadership team
 Locality committees
 Programme and project groups
The board is accountable for ensuring that the CCG has an effective programme for
managing all types of risk and reviews risks to the strategic objectives of the CCG. It
receives details of all new high-level risk exposures at each formal meeting in public and
reviews the board assurance framework and corporate risk register at least quarterly.
The CCG executive directors own all risks on the board assurance framework and the
corporate risk register with the lead on management being undertaken by the Senior
Leadership Team (SLT). Monthly reviews of all strategic and significant risks are
undertaken with individual members of the senior leadership team and the executive
team. Risk reports are reviewed collectively by the executive team before submission to

the board and its committees to ensure that timely and accurate information is shared
assessing risks to compliance with the clinical commissioning group’s statutory
obligations.
In order to verify that risks are being managed appropriately and that the CCG can
deliver its objectives, the board receives and considers written reports from the audit
committee and the executive. Every report to board and committees includes a front
sheet that requires the author to set out any strategic or significant risks that are relevant
to the subject matter and identify the appropriate level of assurance that the board can
take in relation to each risk. Committees of the board receive more detailed reports
concerning the risks in their sphere of responsibility, and provide assurance to the board
about the controls in place and progress on action plans to mitigate these risks.
Staff are trained or equipped to manage risk in a way appropriate to their authority and
duties. The integrated governance protocol sets out the ways in which reports to the
board and committees routinely focus on the management of risk and robust training in
the appropriate governance practices to adopt is included in the CCG’s induction
training. Team workshops and individual training and support are also delivered
according to need.

Risk assessment
HVCCG Strategic Objectives and Strategic Risks
The HVCCG board receives quarterly reports on the assessment, management and
monitoring of its strategic risks and these are published on the HVCCG website with board
papers: https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/documents/board-papers
The following summary of this reporting explains the approach in 2019/20.
1. Effective Engagement.
We will continually improve engagements with member practices, patients, the
public, carers and our staff to contribute to and influence the work of Herts Valleys
CCG.
1.1 Risk that we do not engage effectively with a range of our patients, population
and stakeholders.
Causes:
Consequences:
- Lack of commitment
- Poor quality care for patients
- Unclear approach and absence of strategy
- Poor patient experience
- Resources - funding and staffing
- Poor patient outcomes
- Capacity and capability/understanding
- Failure to transform services in West
among the wider CCG workforce
Herts
- Difficult decisions to be made in response to
- Loss of reputation for HVCCG
challenges facing NHS locally
- Loss of influence
This risk has been assessed with particular reference to the CCG Improvement and
Assessment Framework (IAF) Patient and Community Engagement Indicator and has seen

steady improvement over the last few years. Achievement of the target risk score during
2019-20 has been supported by a number of initiatives to strengthen participation and
public engagement, particularly among disadvantaged groups. Routine engagement work
was suspended from February 2020 in order to focus on our management of COVID19, but
we have established instead remote ‘keeping in touch’ sessions with the Patient and Public
Involvement (PPI) committee and information has been provided to local people and
stakeholders via a wide range of routes. We continue to defend the judicial review in
relation to consultation on the Strategic Outline Case (SOC). A hearing is expected in
October 2020.
1.2 Risk that member practices, local providers, local authorities and other partners
do not respond constructively to engagement
Causes:
Consequences:
- Failure to communicate effectively
- Poor quality care for patients
- Pressures in general practice
- Poor patient experience
- Unclear approach and absence of strategy
- Poor patient outcomes
- Increasing financial pressures resulting in
- Failure to deliver key programmes of
difficult and potentially unpopular funding
work
decisions
- Failure to transform services
- Loss of reputation for HVCCG
This risk is assessed against the steps required and progress made on national, STP and
HVCCG objectives, in partnership with our stakeholders. While the board agreed that
much progress had been made to improve engagement within the west Herts system
during 2018-19, it was also acknowledged that a great deal more was required to both:
develop the collaboration between all stakeholders at the West Herts Delivery Board into
an Integrated Care Partnership; and develop and operationalise Primary Care Networks
(PCNs) so that they could be effective as a focus for the implementation of local delivery
plans.
HVCCG participates fully in the Health and Wellbeing Board and Health Scrutiny at both
county and district level and has, along with providers, set up a structure that ensures
partners are engaged from localities to CCG footprint into the STP. Providers sit on all
delivery groups which design, support and deliver services across each locality, reporting
into the West Herts Delivery Board. This ensures engagements from all partners in primary
and secondary care alongside voluntary and community services. Transformation plans
are designed, delivered and monitored, reporting into the Local Delivery Partnership which
consists of CEOs across all providers, Healthwatch Hertfordshire and Hertfordshire County
Council. Effective Resource Management (ERM) schemes which were initiated with GPs in
localities were extended to the wider partners from October 2019. Following a system-wide
discussion partners agreed that they were content for WHHT to take a leadership role for
the West Herts ICP and a Memorandum of Understanding has been agreed.
The target risk score was originally forecast to be achieved in year, but delays to PCN
development and temporary suspension of regular meetings and much of our
transformation work necessitated by incident management priorities for COVID19 have
meant that the forecast achievement is now deferred to 2020/21. However, rapid
improvement and advancement of the engagement necessary to tackle the crisis has
both underlined existing and cemented improving relationships right across the system.
This collaboration will be essential to management of restoration and recovery processes
and getting the health and care partners back on track to achieve their planned
transformation goals.

1.3 Risk that we have an unengaged staff body and wider clinical workforce.
Causes:
Consequences:
- Failure to develop and implement internal
- Lack of understanding/support for
communications strategy
strategic objectives and commissioning
- Failure to adhere to specific timetables for
decisions
circulation
- Demotivation of staff
- CCG staff uncertainty arising from system- Retention and recruitment issues
wide and organisation changes. i.e. shift to
- Lack of buy-in to changes leading to
incident management working due to covid19
difficulties with implementation of ICP
incident; move to ICS and ICP; leadership
changes and possible CCG merger
- Clinical staff uncertainty arising from systemwide linked to LTP and associated
organisation changes, as above, plus changes
in primary care including move to PCNs
- Move to total agile working caused by the
covid-19 incident
Some of the ways that this risk is assessed include: the NHS staff survey, feedback from
HVCCG’s staff involvement group (SIG) and the annual staff conference; participation in
staff briefings; support for staff health, wellbeing and development activities; and
engagement sessions to discuss organisational values.
The 2019 staff survey results have been shared with staff and an action plan is being
developed with the SIG. The SIG also continues to consider relevant policies and all staff
suggestions that are submitted. Activities have taken place jointly with Dacorum Borough
Council colleagues with whom we began sharing office accommodation in April 2019.
Regular staff briefings have kept staff informed about system and organisational change
and afforded an opportunity to ask questions, both at briefings and in face to face sessions
with the CEO and at Director breakfasts.
To accompany written staff updates and information on the intranet, staff engagement is
being maintained and developed in new ways under emergency arrangements for COVID19, with well attended ‘virtual’ staff briefings via webex led by the CEO and deputy CEO
while all staff are working remotely. Q&As are written and sent to all staff afterwards, along
with a recording of the session itself. Effectiveness of these methods has been measured
by an internal staff survey. This risk continues to be at its target score.
2. Quality.
We will commission safe, good quality services that meet the needs of the
population, reducing health inequalities and supporting local people to avoid ill
health and stay well.
2.1 Risk that we do not deliver on all NHS Constitutional pledges, key national
targets and priorities.
Causes:
Consequences:
- Availability of funding
- Unsafe or poor quality care for patients
- Limited workforce capacity and capability
- Poor patient experience
- Competing priorities in the West Herts health - Poor patient outcomes
and social care economy
- Enforcement Action/ Notice imposed by
- Increased attendance at A&E
regulators
- Delays in progressing through ED
- Loss of reputation for HVCCG and
- Demography
providers
Attention to provider performance against key standards is an ongoing part of CCG
business: ambitious targets have been set for a number of years to improve performance

while detailed management plans and trajectories for improvement are agreed. On a bi‐
monthly basis the HVCCG Performance Committee receives a full report setting out
performance against both statutory and locally developed targets. This report is RAG rated
to indicate which performance targets are being achieved and where improvements are
required. There have been some on-going performance concerns during 2019-20 in
relation to the A&E 4- hour standard, delayed transfers of care (DTOC), referral to
treatment (RTT) targets and ambulance standards. However, concerted partnership efforts
have demonstrated some progress in relation to DTOC, ambulance arrival to handover
procedures and initiatives such as mental health, GP and community navigator support in
the emergency department. Improvement in patient flow is expected following continued
partnership actions that will carry forward into 2020/21. Significant improvement in
performance against the A&E 4hr standard is expected to be seen in 2020/21 as figures
for those seen in the Watford Urgent Treatment (UTC) Centre will be taken into
consideration in performance figures. Although COVID-19 management has necessarily
postponed opening of the UTC, this is now planned to open on 1 July 2020.
In quarter four, the management of COVID-19 has both: changed the way that patients
flow through acute, community and primary care settings; and supported rapidly enhanced
partnership collaboration. As a system, west Herts partners have achieved expansion of
existing services and launched new ones. Hospital discharge to assess arrangements
have been key to freeing up vital acute beds, while respiratory hubs, domiciliary support in
primary care and expanded multi-disciplinary support for and training of care providers
have all prevented avoidable admissions to the acute setting.
The CCG is working with providers to manage the number of referrals cancelled due to
COVID‐19. The development of a clinical advice service is occurring to integrate primary
and secondary care, enabling the management of routine referrals which are currently
being held by Primary Care. This is needed urgently for specialities where there are no
community services in place. This will enable providers to plan and prioritise for
reinstatement of routine appointments when this is possible.
2.2a Risk that we are unable to ensure good quality, safe and sustainable services
for the population and patients of west Hertfordshire.
Causes:
Consequences:
- Poor systems for monitoring and escalating
- Unsafe or poor quality care for patients
provider quality issues.
- Poor patient experience
- Ambiguity over quality assurances required
- Enforcement Action/ Notice imposed by
from partners.
regulators
- Poor quality of assurances from providers
- Loss of reputation for HVCCG and
commissioned directly and indirectly.
providers
- Availability of funding.
- Quality issues may not be identified
- Limited provider workforce capacity and
early enough leading to deterioration in
capability.
standards of patient care
- Lack of communication between partners and
providers.
In order to continually assess this risk, CCG systems and processes are in place for
monitoring all provider contracts and escalation of concerns. Quality reporting with a
streamlined and minimum data set for all providers has been agreed. The Quality Matrix is
now regularly updated and is being embedded into the provider risk discussions to allocate
resources. Providers have an allocated Quality Manager to build relationships and ensure
good quality data and communication.
Considerable additional resource has been committed by HVCCG to support providers in
management of COVID-19 with a number of tactical cells established in the command and

control incident response to focus on specific areas, such as Personal Protective
Equipment, Discharge, Care Homes and Testing. The tactical (silver) command group has
developed a risk register which supports both: management of any quality concerns as
services are reorganised and staff redeployed to provide sufficient critical resource for the
incident response; and oversight from the incident management team, strategic (gold)
command and the Executive. Weekly updates on the tactical response are sent to the CCG
board and a joint Quality and Performance Committee presented the latest information
about quality and safety arrangements on 4 June 2020.
2.4 Risk of lack of adequate system capability and interoperability in the
management and security of information, data and technology.
Causes:
Consequences:
- Historic under-investment in IT
- Out of date IT systems
- Lack of vision of using IT to support clinical
- Lack of adequate enabling systems to
services
support transformation
- Lack of joined up approach across providers
- Uncertainty around national funding streams
for technology
The Local Digital Roadmap (LDR) supports assessment of this risk and was refreshed in
2019/20. All providers meet regularly to co-ordinate plans and increase the amount of STP
(now ICS) and regional collaboration. The “medical information gateway” is being used to
view GP records across all three acute trusts. The CCG has been made aware of
challenges with the capacity of GP network infrastructure and all existing N3 lines are
being upgraded to HSCN lines to deliver better speed and reliability. We have also been
working on ways to facilitate PCNs and the interoperability they will need, both for clinical
record sharing but also for facilitating sharing of other digital assets across practices such
as policies, documents and training plans.
The STP Digital work stream was re-structured during 2019-20 to support delivery of the
NHS Long Term Plan, with the introduction of a Primary Care sub-group and a citizenfocused work stream. These will concentrate on how Primary Care Networks will use
technology but also how we empower patients with telehealth, assistive technology and
look to make the use of ‘Apps’ mainstream.
However, as part of the incident response to Covid19, there has now been rapid adoption
of technology across the NHS and wider care system since March 2020, most notably in
primary care. The CCG's IM&T team has been working closely with members and general
practice to support wherever needed, for example: facilitating increased use of video and
telephone patient consultation; allowing GPs to access GPIT systems on their own
equipment; funding and arranging the installation of all necessary IT and telephony
equipment in the four new respiratory hubs and establishing an information sharing
agreement between the federations. Support has been extended at the beginning of
2020/21 to introduce more technology into Care Homes.
Close working with our IM&T provider HBLICT has been focused on maintaining cyber and
data security while remote-working and sustaining the level of connectivity that is required
by CCG staff by advising for example on only essential use of VPN. NHS Digital is working
nationally to keep the technology infrastructure stable and secure and to manage the
considerable rise in demand for patient-facing services.
Technology challenges remain for some providers, particularly the acute trust, where it is
not currently possible, for example, to support remote working of administrative staff.
Those challenges aside, the incident management of COVID-19 has led to an acceleration
of digitalisation that is likely to be a positive foundation for transformation work that will be
resumed once the emergency period has ended.

2.5 Risk that we are unable to commission good quality and sustainable healthcare
for the population of west Hertfordshire.
Causes:
Consequence:
- Failure to robustly carry out HVCCG and
- Lack of capacity and capability within
NHS England's statutory responsibilities
HVCCG to manage business as usual
and additional requirements.
The Executive has quantified future risks related to mobilisation of new contracts, system
transformation - and latterly, incident management of Covid19 - and the associated CCG
resource requirements. Mobilisation of the new Adult Community Health Services contract
and other new services in the community, plus the embedding of new services throughout
2019/20 were planned for and appropriately resourced during the year. The CCG has
supported the development of PCNS and introduced an organisational development
programme in 19/20 to support the 16 HVCCG PCNs and their Clinical Directors. Plans are
also progressing for ICS/ICP development with dedicated CCG support alongside all
partners.
Primary care team vacancies now filled with post taken up from April 2020. Discussions
are ongoing about how to mitigate restructure of NHSE resource for delegated
commissioning. The timeline for additional ICS resource to be in place is 1 July 2020 and
as an interim measure NHSE have extended the interim support to the CCG to maintain
business as usual delegated commissioning. The Planned Care team has recruited to
some vacancies and additional support is being provided with agency staff to resource
interim arrangements.
The Infection Prevention and Control (IPC) team have prioritised work to support the
increasing workload involved in incident management of Covid19. Much other CCG work
has been re-prioritised or paused to allow sufficient resource for incident management and
to free up some CCG staff for re-deployment to clinical and non-clinical front line roles with
providers in the local system. The impact of a Level 4 Incident on system resilience has
been such that the CCG’s existing pandemic risk was escalated in February 2020 and refocused specifically on management of Covid19 (see 2.7 below).
2.6 Risk that we do not comply with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR).
Causes:
Consequences:
- Inadequate preparation;
- Improper use of data
- Failure to monitor compliance
- Reputational damage
- Fines
This risk is assessed against national requirements in the Data Security Protection Toolkit
(DSPT) that the CCG submits every year. Mandatory training for all CCG staff on the
practical aspects of GDPR compliance was introduced in 2019-20 and progress against
the DSPT action plan for 2019/20 has been monitored through the audit committee.
An internal audit of toolkit compliance took place in the week commencing 20 January
2020 and the required work in the DSPT action plan was completed before the final toolkit
submission on 30 March 2020.
Cyber security training was delivered to directors and Board members in early 2020 with
frequent information shared with staff via briefings and frequent email reminders and
warnings sent by the IT provider, HBLICT.
Data incidents continue to be investigated and actions undertaken. Data Protection Impact
Assessments (DPIAs) are completed for all new processes and systems. This has included
remote arrangements for the 2019-20 external audit, so that E&NHCCG financial services
team can upload documents to cloud-based storage for remote viewing by BDO auditors
during incident management arrangement for the COVID-19 pandemic
The potential risk of data and cyber security breaches has increased, both because of the

whole organisation remote-working to support management of the COVID-19 incident, and
because incident management of COVID-19 has meant there is huge increase in email
traffic. The current risk score has therefore been increased with target achievement
forecast by September 2020 (to be reviewed) or after the emergency period has ended.
2.7 Risk of negative impact Covid19 pandemic on system resilience across west
Hertfordshire
Causes:
Consequence:
- Incident Management of the Covid19
- Failure to robustly carry out HVCCG and
Pandemic diverts significant resource from
NHS England's statutory responsibilities
CCG business as usual;
- Pandemic incident increases the likelihood of
absence from work due to sickness among
CCG staff, GP membership and board and
committee members.
A number of CCG staff were identified for re-deployment, including support for 111, Mental
Health and Acute trust response to COVID-19 and CCG priority projects e.g. the four
respiratory hubs and support to Care Homes. A mutual aid agreement has been
established across the system. A fast-paced response has been required throughout with
the situation changing on a daily basis. Significant partnership working is occuring
throughout Hertfordshire in order to manage the situation.The incident management has
progressed and now sits alongside restoration and recovery management processes. Key
priorities include support for: supplies of critical equipment across the system; training and
MDT support to care homes; support to providers to get the services back up and running
in a timely manner while also preserving the ability to surge if the pandemic has a second
peak.
2.8 Risk of negative impact of Covid19 pandemic on CCG staff health and wellbeing.
Causes:
Consequences:
- Failure to take appropriate measures to
- Physical ill health
protect staff from infection in the work place
- Mental ill health
- Isolation from colleagues and family/friends
- Unaware of national, local and
- Need to work at home and carry out family
organisational developments and advice
responsibilities simultaneously is challenging
- Potential breaches of workplace health
- Additional workload due to increased
and safety regulations
pressure to support incident and CCG staff
- Potential legal challenge or fines
sickness
As the severity of the pandemic, and the resource required to manage the incident
increased, it became apparent in March 2020 that additional monitoring of the impact on
staff health and wellbeing would be required. This strategic risk was then added to the
board assurance framework (BAF) to ensure board oversight

3. Transforming Delivery.
We will work with health and social care partners to transform the delivery of care
through the implementation of “Your Care, Your Future”, the Strategic Review in
west Hertfordshire and its fit with the wider Sustainability and Transformation
Partnership (STP) strategy, “A Healthier Future”.
3.1 Risk that the joint submission to obtain additional capital resource to
successfully transform the delivery of care in west Hertfordshire is unsuccessful.
Causes
Consequences
- Failure to make a compelling case for
- Poor health outcomes
transformation
- Poor patient experience
- Failure to communicate effectively with
- An unsustainable and unaffordable
national bodies, key stakeholders and patients health and social care system
- Limited workforce capacity and capability
- Loss of reputation for HVCCG and
- Requirement for an Estates Strategy
stakeholder
Funding for capital projects remains a challenge nationally for NHS business cases so it
was assessed that there was a risk that the funding required for acute transformation might
not be forthcoming from this source. As west Hertfordshire needed to compete against bids
for similar support across the system, the initial focus was on making the bid as strong as
possible. Pre-submission to the regulators, the CCG held meetings in public including one
jointly with WHHT Board members to discuss the options in an open and transparent way,
alongside public meetings and updates for district and county councillors. Feedback from
all stakeholders supported the CCG Board in making its final decision and the CCG and
WHHT submitted the Strategic Outline Case (SOC) to regulators at the end of July 2019. In
autumn 2019, in response to the SOC submission, government announced funding for the
redevelopment of the west Hertfordshire hospital estate. In October the prime minister
confirmed funding in the sum of £400m. Final allocations for specific purposes are
dependent on the submission of more detailed business cases.
The Trust is embarking on next steps and we are conscious that the HIP 1 requires the
Trust to deliver on their plan by 2025. Planning is underway that includes developing the
clinical model and establishing the project team. The current risk score has improved to
reflect government confirmation that the joint submission has been successful.
Achievement of the target will take longer as the details of capital amount and detail of
plans to be approved in the OBC are awaited. Work to develop the OBC continues and
HVCCG is involved in these discussions.
3.2a Risk that there will be insufficient support from local bodies, the public,
politicians and other key stakeholders to transform the delivery of care in west
Hertfordshire.
Causes:
Consequences:
- Failure to make a compelling case for
- Poor health outcomes
transformation;
- Poor patient experience
- Failure to communicate and engage
- An unsustainable and unaffordable
effectively with external stakeholders national
health and social care system
bodies, local community leaders and patients
- Loss of reputation for HVCCG and
and carers;
stakeholder
- Limited system workforce capacity and
capability.
- Failure to communicate and engage
effectively with internal stakeholders and
partners including general practice, trusts and
local authorities.

While moving forward on the transformation journey it has been very important to ensure
that we maintain the support of local bodies, the public, politicians and other key
stakeholders. Assessment and monitoring of this risk provides the board with assurance
that all appropriate measures are being taken. HVCCG’s Chair, CEO and members of the
executive team have continued to meet with local members of Parliament to discuss plans
and promote understanding and support. The CCG has also worked closely with the chair
and officer lead of the county council health scrutiny committee and attended meetings of
district and borough council health scrutiny committee and health and wellbeing
partnerships.
Following confirmation of funding in November 2019, WHHT is embarking on next steps of
the hospital development plan and we are conscious that the HIP 1 requires the Trust to
deliver on their plan by 2025. Planning is underway that includes developing the clinical
model and establishing the project team. Development of the plan will involve engagement
with local MPs (including those newly elected in December 2019); as well as other local
Councillor representatives; other key stakeholders; and local people. There is a judicial
review claim pending that challenges the process undertaken by Herts Valleys CCG in
approving the Strategic Outline Case for hospital redevelopment. A date has yet been set
for the hearing in late October 2020.
Achievement of the target score is now forecast in Q3 2020/21 to reflect the latest
information about timescales and allow for completion of the judicial review.
3.2b Risk that there will be insufficient capacity for GP practices, primary care
networks and federations to deliver the transformation of care in west Hertfordshire.
Causes:
Consequences:
- Pressures in general practice;
- Unable to deliver transformation
- Insufficient pace in the organisational
requirements.
development of primary care networks;
- Insufficient collaboration between local
delivery partners.
Both Commissioning Executive and Primary Care Commissioning Committees agreed at
the start of 2019/20 that this strategic risk description needed to be amended to reflect the
increasing demands on general practice whilst they develop and mature their primary care
networks (PCNs). This risk assesses, therefore, the capacity for GP practices, primary care
networks and federations to deliver transformation, rather than their support for doing so
(as was the case in 2018/19).
The GP Enhanced Commissioning Framework (GP ECF) began to take practices on the
journey towards an Integrated Care System (ICS) and Integrated Care Partnership
(ICP)with ECD Year 2 being agreed by the Primary Care Commissioning Committee on 19
September 2019. . Additional funding for primary care was budgeted for in 2019/20 to
support PCNs as a priority under the NHS long-term plan.
As the year progressed HVCCG identified a new training programme to support the GP
Forward View ten high-impact changes and this was rolled out.
Locality Provider Group transformation plans were approved by the HVCCG board in June
2019. A launch event was well attended by PCNs and other providers in July. Further
organisational development has been developed to support the individual development
needs of PCNs and their Clinical Directors.
Engagement with Practice Managers has been extended with a CCG-wide PM Forum
established to support the changes happening in primary care and the move towards an
integrated care system (ICS).
The CCG became of the national pilots to test the GP Connect interoperability solution for
direct booking between 111 and general practices/extended access services in 2019 and

plans were put in place to introduce ‘e-consultation’ pilots to support the transformation of
how patients access care and how practices manage patient care. Since February 2020,
incident management of the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) is now taking priority
across much of the health and care system. Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC)
advice to primary care on 19 March 2020 confirmed that many of the PCN DES
requirements planned from early 2020/21 will be postponed in order to free up resource for
primary care efforts to mobilise the COVID-19 response. Positive developments have been
seen in digitalisation of primary healthcare as the principle around managing patients in the
covid-19 crisis has been to virtualise care and minimise patient contact where possible.
General practice has quickly moved to undertaking the vast majority of consultations
virtually by telephone, video and text message services. These efforts, however, have
brought even more focused and frequent engagement with member practices, local
providers and local authorities that will support the later development of planned new ways
of working.
CCG staff are supporting primary care and other partners to implement emergency
measures at pace and CCG staff are also being re-deployed to front line roles, for example
in the HUC 111 service and new community respiratory hubs. Supporting HPFT and
WHHT and integrated working on hospital discharge has brought partner organisations into
even closer working relationships and made rapid progress.The new Primary Care
Commissioning Operational Group (PCCOG) holds webinars for all clinical leaders with
more than 200 GPs dialling in to receive updates and discuss further proposals.
The current risk score was reduced to a cautious 12 in June 2019, maintaining the in-year
forecast and target of 8. It is now proposed, however, that the target of 8 in relation to
primary care capacity to support transformation should be forecast for achievement by end
of 2020/21, pending review as the incident develops. This should be noted in the context of
rapid digitalisation of primary care and development of integrated working in response to
the emergency situation.
3.3 Risk that workforce issues prevent us from transforming the delivery of care
across the local health and social care system.
Causes:
Consequences:
- Unclear approach and absence of strategy
- Unsafe or poor quality care for patients
- Limited workforce capacity and capability
- Delivery of high quality care in West
- Workforce culture not congruent with
Herts
required changes
- Loss of reputation for HVCCG and
stakeholder
- Poor communication with health and social
- Failure to deliver transformational
care partners
- Uncertainty associated with EU Exit
objectives
It has been assessed that workforce is one of the biggest risks and challenges to the
healthcare system for the delivery of transformation plans. In 2019/20 a ‘one workforce
strategy’ approach has adopted by all organisations in the STP (now ICS), aligning their
work plans and HR and ODL activity. NHS E/I also confirmed that the H&WE STP
Workforce strategy is well aligned with the Interim People Plan published by NHS
England/Improvement in 2019.
Primary Care, changes to the General Medical Services (GMS) contract in 2019/20 include
the introduction of Primary Care Networks (PCNs) from July 2019 (see BAF risk 2.5).
PCNs are being developed nationally to ensure the longer term sustainability or primary
medical care service contractors, to enabled integration with the wider healthcare
system. PCNs will receive additional funding for workforce over the next 5 years starting
in 2019 with each PCN receiving funding for a Clinical Pharmacists and Social
Prescriber. The workforce will increase year on year over 5 years to include clinical and

social prescribers, paramedics, physicians’ associates, mental health
practitioners. HVCCG has supported the development of its PCNs and will continue to do
so in 2020/21 through the introduction of a PCN organisational development programme,
commencing in HVCCG with the aim of rolling out across the STP (now ICS). Progress of
PCNs is being monitored and reported to NHS England and will continue to be monitored
by the ICS primary care oversight and workforce groups.
All local LWAB and STP (now ICS) work on system workforce strategy and alignment with
the NHS Long Term Plan is currently on hold as resources are diverted to focus on incident
management of the Covid19 pandemic. As a consequence, some work will simply not be
progressed, or certainly not to the timescales that were originally envisaged and this will
have an impact on longer term success. It is currently difficult to predict the scale of the
impact that this will have or the length of delays involved, but it is reasonable to assume
that there will be a delivery delay of at least six months. Deadlines for delivery of PCN
workforce planning requirements have been delayed in the emergency context.
The forecast for end of 2019/20 is to maintain the current risk score of 16, with the target
expected to be achieved in 2 years’ time.
3.4: Risk that we are unable to manage satisfactorily all transformation, quality,
communication and finance requirements during the mobilisation of the new
community services contract.
Causes:
Consequences:
(A) Lack of engagement from incumbent
- Patient experience and safety concerns
provider
- Incurring expenditure that has not been
(B) Lack of progress by new provider in
budgeted for
mobilising the service
- Complaints
(C) Unable to successfully resolve issues with - Risk to reputation and assurance rating
data in a timely manner
with regulators
(D) Unable to transfer properties in a timely
manner
(E) Potential disruption to services before new
pathways are embedded
(F) Delays caused by legal challenge
(G) Unable to retain staff in the interim period
(H) Unable to obtain list of staff to be TUPE'd
from incumbent provider
Mobilisation of the new community contract and demobilisation of the former one was a
large scale project that was closely assessed and monitored against a range of risks and
challenges. The appropriate groups and processes to monitor the mobilisation and
demobilisation were established early in 2019/20 and reported through the CCG’s
governance structure.
From March 2019 work was underway to ensure the services were in place by 1 October
2019. There was a significant strategic focus on communications with all system partners
to ensure understanding of the services which would transition on 1 October and the
planned transformation roadmap as agreed with Central London Community Healthcare
NHS Trust (CLCH) & Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust (HCT).
By September 2019 all work streams were on track and the Oversight Board approved the
Post Go Live Programme Management Office (PMO) approach with the establishment of
both a Transformation Group and a new Contract and Quality Review Management group
focusing on performance: both groups commenced post ‘Go Live’ with weekly meetings.
An assurance paper about mobilisation risks was well received by the Audit Committee on
23 January 2020.

From February 2020 the ACS Transformation Group met fortnightly and reviewed a score
card covering all service lines undergoing transformation with the associated timelines ‘ragrated’ (red, amber, green) and monitored to ensure delivery timelines were met. An Internal
Audit Report on the 17 February 2020 concluded that the organisation could take
‘substantial assurance’ that the systems and processes in place to ensure a seamless
implementation of the Adult Community Services (ACS) contract throughout the
mobilisation phase were robust. HVCCG will now use this blueprint for delivering similar
projects and programmes at scale in future ensuring that any lessons learnt from the
procurement are developed in the future. By end of quarter 4 the board agreed that current
risk score had improved to the forecast target and this risk was closed.
3.5 Risk that our plans do not focus on prevention of ill health and reduction of
health inequalities.
Causes
Consequences
(A) Lack of focus on prevention, early
- Failure to reduce consumption of health
intervention and diagnosis when implementing services
strategic plans.
- Failure to narrow the gap in life
(B) Limited workforce capacity and capability
expectancy between outlying areas of the
for implementation.
same district
- Loss of reputation for HVCCG and
providers
This risk has been assessed against HVCCG and STP plans put in place in collaboration
with partners and the extent to which they focus on prevention of ill health and reduction of
health inequalities. They did not measure success against the extent to which health
inequalities were reduced, because there are multiple internal and external factors that
contribute to the wider determinants of health, many of which do not concern the
commissioning of healthcare services. However, the work of social prescribers and link
workers provide a bridge into the wider services available to Herts Valleys residents.
Demand management in localities and revisions to processes for Individual Funding
Requests (IFRs) have both focussed attention on protected characteristics and health
inequalities. All programmes and service transformations developed in the commissioning
team take into account prevention of ill health and reduction of health inequalities. For
example: identification of people at high risk of developing diabetes and supporting them to
reduce their risk; development of a cardiology referral management model with WHHT
which includes the implementation of an end-to-end pathway; a pilot with the community
provider for identification and management of frail patients in the community and the use of
an electronic framework and Rockwood score in primary care to identify moderate frail
patients to review and put the appropriate support in place; implementation of a prevention
dashboard to record GP referrals for services such as weight management and smoking
cessation, as well as a ‘five ways to wellbeing’ initiative. One of the key requirements of the
new community services model is to address health inequalities within localities as well as
at primary care network level, to ensure the right level of workforce to address local needs.
As part of delivery of place-based healthcare, each locality has developed their Locality
Transformation Plan which highlights how they are tacking health inequalities at locality
and primary care network (PCN) level. A refreshed stakeholder participation strategy and
implementation plan has supported greater public engagement, particularly among
disadvantaged groups. Public consultations were suspended from March 2019, unless
directly related to incident management of Covid19, but operational support for the most
vulnerable has been delivered through primary care and the dedicated team of social
prescribers.
Work on development of new place-based care models to deliver against the NHS Long

Term Plan was paused in early 2020due to Covid19, delivery of locality transformation
plans will be resumed once the emergency period has ended and the closer partnership
working that has been necessitated by the incident will lay firm foundations for
development.
The urgent care programme for 2019/20 set out plans to have an urgent care offer in every
locality, with the default route into urgent care over time to be booked through the NHS 111
service so that the number of walk-ins to A&E would be reduced. A key aim was to
support access and improve quality of services with the default for patients who need
continuity of care being access to urgent care through their practices. The Hemel Urgent
Treatment Centre (UTC) went live in the early part of 2019/20 and plans were developed to
upgrade the Minor Injuries Unit (MIU) in St Albans. An interim solution was planned for
Hertsmere until a bookable community alternative to A&E was available via a designated
urgent care base. Plans for Watford were developed with West Hertfordshire Hospitals
NHS Trust (WHHT), but incident management of the Covid19 pandemic has delayed the
opening of the Watford Urgent Treatment Centre (UTC) scheduled for 1 April 2020; it will
now open on 1 July 2020.
The target risk score of 4 is now forecast to be achieved by December 2020 to take
account of delays to transformation initiatives in the context of Covid19 incident
management. Initiatives to be taken forward once more when the emergency period has
ended include: new business intelligence (BI) support for primary care risk stratification and
development of PCNs; the Local Delivery Plan programme; Enhanced Effective Resource
Management, the new Enhanced Commissioning Framework and the frailty programme.
4. Affordable & Sustainable Care
We will ensure that we fulfill our statutory duty to deliver a financially sustainable
and affordable healthcare system in west Hertfordshire.
4.1 Risk that we do not deliver a financially sustainable integrated healthcare system
in collaboration with our partners in the STP.
Causes:
Consequences:
- Reliant upon the engagement of partners in a - Non delivery of STP Financial Plan
common financial strategy for both STP (5
- Significant financial pressures on
years) and Your Care Your Future (10 years)
HVCCG
- Continued challenges in the wider system,
- Availability of resources to support
particularly in acute.
transformation
- Loss of reputation for HVCCG
In order to assess, manage and monitor this risk, a refreshed draft medium term financial
sustainability plan was drawn up, incorporating the work of the STP programme groups.
Chief Finance Officers also agreed a joint, system-wide, approach to 2019/20 planning
based on shared assumptions on activity planning. The CCG position is important in order
to enable them to support providers. Work progressed with WHHT on a Minimum Income
Guarantee contract in line with the plans for an Integrated Care Partnership (ICP),
including a risk sharing arrangements to protect both parties and limit financial pressures.
However, there is a risk that other ICPs in the STP cannot fully mitigate the financial risks.
A refreshed draft medium term financial sustainability plan has been drawn up, and the
system wide Long Term Plan for the period to 2023/24 was submitted to NHSE. This
incorporates the work of the STP programme groups. A joint long term plan was agreed
across the STP to deliver financial targets over the next four years. Detailed activity plans
and financial envelopes and contracts for 2020/21 were due to be agreed in March 2020,
with final submission of the operating plan by mid-April 2020 but this work is currently
paused in circumstances of nationally held contracts during Covid19.
DHSC advice and regulator letters in March 2020 made it clear that NHS England and

NHS Improvement (NHSE/I) is committed to doing all it can to support providers and
commissioners, allowing them to free up as much capacity as possible and prioritise their
workload to be focused on doing what is necessary to manage the response to the
Covid19 pandemic. During the emergency period, system work on delivery of the NHS
Long Term Plan and system transformation is paused and contracting has been
suspended. The forecast for end of 2019/20 was therefore adjusted to the current risk
score of 20, with target score of 5 achievement currently estimated as March 2025, but
subject to review.
4.2 Risk that we do not drive the required value and level of transformation through
our identified QIPP schemes.
Consequences:
Risk that we do not drive the required value
- Non delivery of 2019/20 Financial Plan
and level of transformation through our
- Significant financial pressures on
identified QIPP schemes.
HVCCG
Causes:
- Non delivery of transformation plans
- Failure to identify schemes early enough
- Failure to identify alternative schemes for lost - Threat to availability of resources to
support transformation
savings
- Consequences for HVCCG assurance
- Failure to deliver agreed schemes on time
rating by NHSE
- Failure to validate and embed schemes in
partnership with providers
- Lack of ownership of individual schemes
- Lack of consistent programme management
approach
-Failure to derive the benefits available from
engagement with the programme boards and
wider STP partners.
The QIPP value for 2019/20 is £15.4m and the full QIPP value was identified. QIPP
schemes are now embedded within service provision and had delivered at 95% of target
with this position expected to be reflected in year-end performance. Under-delivery has
been allowed for in forecast figures.
The QIPP target for 2020/21 is £16 million. £12.6 million has been identified and work is
ongoing to identify remaining amount. A New Ways of Working Joint QIPP/CIP Task and
Finish group was set up with WHHT to agree transformation priorities, however, with most
transformation work linked to operational planning now on hold as resources are diverted
to incident management of the Covid19 pandemic, there will be delays in delivering against
plans for 2020/21. The in-year forecast was therefore adjusted to the current risk score of
12 with target achievement now expected by December 2020, but subject to review.
Once the emergency period has ended, the focus of future discussions will be on delivering
transformation. Conversations have begun on the pathways for: paediatrics (full pathway);
respiratory (full pathway); and outpatient transformation (in line with operating planning
guidance) and these discussions will be resumed later in the year, with further pathways
added as resources allow.
4.3 Risk that we do not achieve financial balance in 2019/20.
Causes:
Consequences:
- Activity levels and/or
- Non-delivery of 2019/20 Financial Plan
- Financial values of activity above those
- Significant financial pressures on
detailed in the 2019/20 financial plan
HVCCG
- Risks around QIPP delivery.
- Availability of resources to support
transformation
- Loss of reputation for HVCCG

The CCG set a realistic activity and financial plan for 2019/20 supported by agreed
contracts with providers. Budget for non-acute services and expenditure areas were based
on outturn plus growth, cost pressures and planned investments. Resultant savings
schemes of £15.4m were fully identified to balance the plan. The risk to delivery was
mitigated by continuous review of all budget areas to refine spend and reassign surplus
budget to priority spending areas.
More robust budgetary controls were introduced in 2019/20 at HVCCG and the risk of
spending more than we have budgeted for in 2019/20 was therefore assessed to be lower
than in recent years. Some delegation of budgets was resumed, subject to CEO and CFO
approval and the satisfactory completion of training by the budget holder. The budgets for
activity with our main providers were set, based on agreed contracts or contract offers.
The main risks identified mid-year related to activity pressures, including the high level of
emergency activity, and non-delivery of QIPP on the acute contracts. The risks were
however assessed as being fully mitigated by non-recurrent and prior year benefits
QIPP performance of 95% was expected to be reflected in year-end performance with
under-delivery allowed for in forecast figures.
Whilst Covid19 has created pressure on some expenditure items such as prescribing, the
CCG expects delivered financial balance for 2019/20 actual outturn. Key risks at this stage
tend to be around acute activity, but the majority of contracts have been settled for year
end, thereby mitigating the majority of risk in this area of spend. The risk of prescribing
expenditure rising significantly due to medicine stock piling can be managed within the
CCG’s contingency.
The current risk score was reset to 12 at the start of 2019/20 The in-year forecast and
target score of 4 was achieved by year-end, with a small surplus reported.
4.4 Risk that we do not have sufficient financial resource to manage the increase in
legal challenges to our commissioning decisions
Causes:
Consequences:
(A) An increase in legal challenges, claims and - Financial pressure
legal costs
- Reputational damage
(B) The need to take commissioning decisions
that are sometimes unpopular in order to
achieve transformation and long term
sustainability.
Full Stakeholder engagement has taken place to support transformation of healthcare
services. A Judicial Review hearing is scheduled for October 2020 in relation to
engagement processes for acute hospital redevelopment, but HVCCG’s barrister is
confident that we have a good case because very thorough processes were followed.
Appropriate procurement processes have been followed by the CCG; due diligence is
undertaken; legal advice is sought as required; and learning from previous procurements is
supported. During emergency measures in relation to Covid19 particular attention has
been paid to financial governance and adherence to the emergency legislation with
oversight from the Audit Committee and board.
Contingency arrangements are included in the financial planning process in order to be
able to offset any unexpected costs incurred. A continuous improvement approach to
governance and internal control arrangements mitigates any likelihood of challenge.
The board is accountable for ensuring that the CCG has an effective programme for
managing all types of risk and reviews risks to the strategic objectives of the CCG. It
receives details of all new high-level risk exposures at each formal meeting and reviews

the board assurance framework and corporate risk register. The CCG executive directors
own all risks on the board assurance framework and the corporate risk register. Monthly
reviews of all strategic and significant risks are undertaken with individual members of the
senior leadership team and the executive team. Risk reports are reviewed collectively by
the executive team before submission to the board and its committees to ensure that
timely and accurate information is shared assessing risks to compliance with the
clinical commissioning group’s statutory obligations.
In order to verify that risks are being managed appropriately, and that the CCG can deliver
its objectives, the board receives and considers written reports from the audit committee,
committees of the board and the executive. Every report to board and committees include
a front sheet that requires the author to set out any strategic or significant risks that are
relevant to the subject matter and identify the appropriate level of assurance that the board
can take in relation to each risk. Committees of the board have received more detailed
reports concerning the risks in their sphere of responsibility, and provide assurance to the
board about the controls in place and progress on action plans to mitigate these risks.
Internal audit undertook a review of risk management and assurance in December 2019
and concluded that:
“Taking account of the issues identified, the board can take reasonable
assurance that the controls upon which the organisation relies to manage this
risk are suitably designed, consistently applied and effective.
However, we have identified issues that need to be addressed in order to
ensure that the control framework is effective in managing the identified
risk(s)”.

Other sources of assurance
Internal Control Framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the clinical
commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It is designed
to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised
and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively
and economically.

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level
rather than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance of effectiveness.
The audit committee has oversight of the internal control mechanisms on behalf of
the board. Executive directors and the executive committee oversee the
management and delivery of internal control mechanisms. The audit committee
bases its assessments, and therefore assurances, on the effectiveness of the
CCG’s controls on:

 Assurances provided by the board and committees’ work programmes;
 Reviews of CCG policies and procedures (e.g. annual review
of detailed financial policies);

 Provision of assurance from independent sources (e.g. internal audit or third
party reviews undertaken).
Annual audit of conflicts of interest management
The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs
(published June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of
conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS
England has published a template audit framework.
The CCG has carried out their annual internal audit of conflicts of interest in September
2019 which concluded that: “Taking account of the issues identified, the Board can take
reasonable assurance that the controls in place to manage this risk are suitably designed
and consistently applied.”
Data Quality
Good information is essential for the commissioning of appropriate services. The
CCG’s Business Information and Performance team provide key metrics to all
committees and to CCG directors and their staff to enable discharge of their
respective functions.
Collaboration agreements are in place between the CCG, East and North
Hertfordshire CCG, Hertfordshire County Council, local NHS providers, Arden and
GEM Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) and commercial partners to allow the
necessary data flows.
The board considers the quality of data it receives to be acceptable.

Information Governance
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is
supported by a Data Security and Protection toolkit and the annual submission
process provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations
and to individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently
and effectively. In 2019/20 the CCG met all the mandatory requirements.
We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance
systems and processes in place to help protect patient and corporate information.
We have established an information governance management framework and have
developed information governance processes and procedures in line with the NHS
data security and protection toolkit. We have ensured all staff undertake annual
information governance training and have implemented a staff information
governance handbook, which is updated annually, to ensure staff are aware of
their information governance roles and responsibilities.
There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious
incidents. We have developed data protection information risk assessment (DPIA)
and management procedures, and a programme has been established to fully embed
an information risk awareness culture throughout the organisation.
The advisory internal audit of the CCG’s information governance (IG) toolkit was
completed in January 2020. All recommended actions were completed for the final toolkit
submission at the end of March 2020.

Cyber Risks

Herts Valleys CCG identifies, controls and manages cyber security risk as one of six
partners who have established a partnership for IT services, known as Herts, Beds &
Luton ICT Business Services (HBLICT). Services provided include Business Continuity,
Disaster Recovery, Major Incident Management, Governance and Compliance. The
Leadership Team of HBLICT includes a person with specific responsibility for
Governance, Risk and Compliance. Either the Chief Finance Officer, as SIRO, or a CCG
senior manager, routinely attends the Partnership Board, which receives reports and

updates on the activities of HBLICT with regard to cyber security. The follow up on these
reports is managed through the Partnership Board. Information from NHSD highlighted
that the number of attempted cyber-attacks on IT systems and infrastructure has
risen during the Covid-19 crisis. Additionally, staff are remote working, working under
extreme pressure and dealing with more emails than usual, all of which increases the
risk of a cyber-attack being successful. The CCG and our IT provider are taking
appropriate measures to ensure any risks are mitigated. There are constant
reminders to all staff around email phishing and other malicious email campaigns.
Staff are aware of relevant policies to ensure they understand the data security risks
and treat data and security appropriately whilst working from home. Our IT provider
ensures that all firewalls are secure and that all cyber systems are maintained with
current updates.

Business Critical Models
The CCG can confirm that an appropriate framework and environment continued to
be in place during 2019-20 to provide quality assurance of business critical models.
There are several aspects of the 2013 MacPherson review which are of relevance to the
CCG to increase the robustness of the modelling work we undertake as well as providing
assurance to the relevant committee and board of the level of confidence which can be
taken from the modelling estimates. The recommendations from the Macpherson report
highlight several of these and they have been adapted for CCG use:
 All models have appropriate quality assurance of their inputs, methodology
and outputs in the context of the risks their use represents.
 All models are managed within a framework that ensures that appropriately
specialist staff are responsible for developing and using the models as well as
quality assurance.
 There is a single senior responsible owner for each model through its lifecycle,
and clarity from the outset on how quality assurance (QA) is to be managed.
Business cases using results from models summarise what QA processes
have been undertaken, including the extent of expert scrutiny and challenge.
They also confirm if the SRO is content that the QA process is compliant and
appropriate with any model limitations, risks, and the major assumptions are

understood and applied in generating the model outputs. This includes end
users of any model prepared.
 The CCG has continued to build the right environment for QA during 201920 addressing the issues of culture, capacity and capability, and control,
including the development of standardised processes. A new data
provider, Arden & GEM CSU, was appointed from December 2019, with all
requirements necessary to ensure quality assurance of business critical
models included in their Service Level Agreement (SLA) with the CCG.

Third party assurances
Nationally Outsourced Services

The CCG receives some administrative services from nationally commissioned
organisations and in 2019/20 also received Service Auditor Reports on these
services, which it reviews.


Electronic Staff Record system provided by NHS Business Services Authority
and IBM UK Ltd



Finance and accounting services provided by NHS Business Services
Authority



GP payments to providers of General Practice services in England provided by
NHS Digital



Prescription payments provided by NHS Business Services Authority



Services to Primary Care Support England by Capita

The audit report on finance and accounting services notes that as a result of Covid-19
and the Indian Government’s lock-down requirements, the auditor was unable to
obtain evidence in respect of certain controls for the months of February 2020 and
March 2020 and so was not able to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence that the
controls were operating effectively.

The audit report on GP payments to providers of General Practice services in
England identified that despite system changes requiring authorisation from all of the

Solutions Assurance and Service Management Cell 5 team, the CQRS team, the
Security Team and the Technical Architecture team; for two sample items out of nine
approval was not sought or received from the Technical Architecture Team.

The audit report on GP payments to providers of General Practice services in
England identified that there were gaps in the controls applied by the service
provider. These controls should be in place to verify that all requests by GPs for
retirement are approved by the NHS Service Management Team or CCG, and that
the applications are recorded completely and accurately. The audit identified that the
service provider could not provide evidence that these controls were operating
throughout 2019/20. As a result of this, the auditor therefore qualified their opinion on
the overall effectiveness of the service provider’s financial controls during 2019/20.

These Service Auditor Reports and the gaps in assurance were provided to the
CCG’s External Auditor, but did not impact on their risk assessment or audit
approach.

Control Issues
The CCG has had no significant control issues in 2019/20.

Review of economy, efficiency, and effectiveness of the use of resources
The effectiveness of the use of resources and financial performance of the CCG is
monitored on a monthly basis by the board as well as every two months by its finance
and performance committees. Both the finance and the performance committee are
chaired by a lay member of the board.
Significant elements of the finance committee’s remit are to: financial plans; monitor inyear performance against those plans; and monitor contract performance. Financial
monitoring will include ensuring that the CCG does not exceed its running (management)
costs allocation. The CCG regularly conducts benchmarking of its activity in order to
identify areas for improvement and potential efficiencies. This information is taken into
account in the development of services QIPP (savings) schemes and bids for investment,
all of which are also considered and monitored by the finance committee.

Corporate risks in respect of financial performance and the use of resources are captured
in the board assurance framework, corporate risk register and directorate level risk
registers. The highest level risks are reported to the audit committee and board of the
CCG. The audit committee is accountable to the board and its remit is to provide the
board with an independent and objective view of the group’s systems, information and
compliance with laws, regulations and directions governing the group. It delivers this
remit in the context of the group’s priorities and the risks associated with achieving them.
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the head of internal audit is
required to provide an annual opinion, based upon and limited to a risk-based plan of
work agreed with management and approved by the audit committee, on the overall
adequacy and effectiveness of the CCG’s risk management, control and governance
processes. The opinion contributes to the annual governance statement.
The latest ratings for quality of leadership in the CCG Improvement and
Assessment Framework in 2018/19 were good. In 2019/20 CCGs will be
assessed under the new NHS Oversight Framework, but HVCCG’s
assessment is not expected until end of June 2020.

Counter fraud arrangements
Counter fraud arrangements are in place for the CCG in line with the NHS Counter Fraud
Authority Standards for NHS Commissioners 2019/20: Fraud, Bribery and Corruption.
These can be viewed at this link
https://cfa.nhs.uk/resources/downloads/standards/NHS_Fraud_Standards_for_Commi
ssioners_2019.pdf
We have a responsibility to ensure that NHS resources are protected from fraud,
bribery or corruption, which could impact on our ability to commission services and
treatment, as NHS funds are wrongfully diverted from patient care. We adhere to
the key standards that the NHS Fraud Authority has set out for commissioners:

The fraud, bribery and corruption standards are set out in detail in the document
under four key principles:
1: Strategic Governance. The aim is to ensure that counter fraud measures are
embedded at all levels across the organisation, including a mechanism for continuous
quality improvement in line with the NHSCFA’s strategy.

2: Inform and Involve. Requirements in relation to raising awareness of crime risks
against the NHS and working with NHS staff, stakeholders and the public to highlight
the risks and consequences of fraud and bribery affecting the NHS.
3: Prevent and Deter. Requirements in relation to discouraging individuals who may
be tempted to commit fraud against the NHS and ensuring that opportunities for fraud
to occur are minimised.
4: Hold to Account. The substance of this principle corresponds to the Investigate,
sanction and redress principle in the NHSCFA’s strategy. This section sets out the
requirements in relation to detecting and investigating economic crime, obtaining
sanctions and seeking redress.
The following arrangements are in place:

 An Accredited Counter Fraud Specialist is contracted to undertake counter
fraud work proportionate to identified risks.

 The CCG Audit Committee receives a report against each of the Standards
for Commissioners at least annually. There is executive support and
direction for a proportionate proactive work plan to address identified risks.

 A member of the executive board is proactively and demonstrably
responsible for tackling fraud, bribery, and corruption. This responsibility has
been assigned to the Chief Finance Officer.

 Appropriate action is taken regarding any NHS Protect quality
assurance recommendations.
The audit committee provides lay member responsibility for the oversight of antifraud, corruption and bribery work. The committee receives the reports from the
Accredited Counter Fraud Specialist on the work undertaken. Additionally, the
committee receives an annual local counter fraud services report, which highlights
key activities during the year and performance against agreed KPIs. Appropriate
action is taken regarding any NHS Local Counter Fraud quality assurance
recommendations.

Head of Internal Audit Opinion
For the 12 months ended 31 March 2020, the Head of Internal Audit Opinion for Herts
Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group is as follows:

“The organisation has an adequate and effective framework for risk management,
governance and internal control. However, our work has identified further
enhancements to the framework of risk management, governance and internal control
to ensure that it remains adequate and effective.”
Internal Audit statement about the scope and limitations of their work
“The formation of our draft opinion is achieved through a risk-based plan of work,
agreed with management and approved by the audit committee, our opinion

is

subject to inherent limitations, as detailed below:


internal audit has not reviewed all risks and assurances relating to the
organisation;



the opinion is substantially derived from the conduct of risk-based plans generated
from a robust and organisation-led assurance framework. The assurance
framework is one component that the board takes into account in making its
annual governance statement (AGS);



the opinion is based on the findings and conclusions from the
work undertaken, the scope of which has been agreed with
management;



where strong levels of control have been identified, there are still
instances where these may not always be effective. This may be due
to human error, incorrect management judgement, management
override, controls being by-passed or a reduction in compliance; and



due to the limited scope of our audits, there may be weaknesses in
the control system which we are not aware of, or which were not
brought to our attention.



Our internal audit work for 2019/20 was completed prior to the advent
of the substantial operational disruptions caused by the Covid-19
pandemic. As such our audit work and annual opinion does not reflect
the situation which has arisen in the final weeks of the year. We do,
however, recognise that there has been a significant impact on both
the operations of the organisation and its risk profile.”



The following shows the full range of opinions available within our
internal auditors’ methodology



During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports:
Area of Audit

Level of Assurance Given

Medicines Management

Substantial assurance

Conflicts of Interest

Reasonable Assurance

Financial Feeder Systems and
Payroll

Substantial Assurance

Equality Delivery System 2

Reasonable Assurance

Primary Care Delegated Commissioning

Reasonable Assurance

Business Continuity Plan

Reasonable Assurance

Risk Management and Board Assurance
Framework
DSP Toolkit and Cyber Security

Reasonable Assurance

Mobilisation of new services (adult
contract)
Financial Management (draft)

Substantial Assurance

No opinion/Advisory

Reasonable Assurance

Our internal auditors use the following levels of opinion classification within their
internal audit reports, reflecting the level of assurance the board can take:

Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and internal
control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the
work of the internal auditors, executive managers, and clinical leads within the
clinical commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance
information available to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the
external auditors in their annual audit letter and other reports.
The latest ratings for quality of leadership in the CCG Improvement and
Assessment Framework in 2018/19 were “good”. In 2019/20 CCGs will be
assessed under the new NHS Oversight Framework, but the outcome of this
assessment is not expected until end of June 2020.
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of
controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its
principles objectives have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by:



The board self-assessment of effectiveness conclusions from May 2020.



The audit committee annual report to board in May 2020 which concludes that
the Committee is broadly content with internal controls, risk management and
governance.



Internal audit (Head of Internal Audit Opinion)

Conclusion
No significant internal control issues have been identified.

Signed:

Dr Jane Halpin
Accountable Officer from 1 June 2020
Dated: 25 June 2020

Signed:

David Evans
Interim Accountable Officer to 31 May 2020
Dated: 25 June 2020

REMUNERATION AND
STAFF REPORT
Remuneration Report
Elements of this report are subject to audit by the CCG’s external auditors. These
elements have been annotated as such. Other information and tables are not required
to be audited.

Remuneration Committee
Please see Integrated Governance Protocol for details of the remuneration committee.
Remuneration Policy (not subject to audit)
The remuneration of senior managers is determined by national terms and
conditions – Very Senior Managers Pay Framework. The CCG’s senior managers
are employed under the nationally agreed contractual arrangements, all having
been employed on permanent contracts, which include an appropriate notice period.
There is no provision in the contracts for termination payments save for any
contractual entitlements to redundancy compensation, which would be calculated
using the agreed NHS formula.
The CCG does not operate a Performance Related Pay policy for senior managers or
any of our staff. The Remuneration Committee reviewed and agreed in 2014-15
proposals for introducing non-financial recognition for high achieving performance in
the form of access to external training and development opportunities.
The pay rates for staff, including senior managers, are assessed against the rates
that other commissioning groups and local NHS bodies offer for similar roles.

Remuneration of Very Senior Managers (subject to audit)
The tables below detail the salaries and allowances of board members and other senior managers who were part of the CCG’s Executive Team or regularly attended board meetings during the year.
Table 1: Single total figure table

HERTS VALLEYS CCG
Remuneration for members of the Board; salaries and allowances in 2019-20
2019-20

Name

Title

Kathryn Magson

Accountable Officer (to 7 January 2020)

David Evans

Director of Commissioning (to 7 January 2020)/
Interim Accountable Officer (from 8 January 2020)
Chief Finance Officer (to 10 October 2019)

Caroline Hall
Elke Taylor
Diane Curbishley
Lynn Dalton
Avni Shah
Dr Nicolas Small
Dr Trevor Fernandes
Dr Daniel Carlton-Conway
Dr Corina Ciobanu
Dr Rami Eliad
Dr Asif Faizy Mohammad
Dr Catherine Page
Dr Richard Pile
Stuart Bloom
Alison Gardner
Paul Smith
Thelma Stober

Acting Chief Finance Officer (from 1 October 2019)
Director of Nursing & Quality
Director of Primary Care
Acting Director of Commissioning (from 8 January
2020)
GP Director and CCG Chair
GP Director and Deputy Clinical Chair
GP Director
GP Director
GP Director
GP Director (from 1 April 2019)
GP Director
GP Director
Lay Member & CCG Vice Chair
Lay Member
Lay Member
Lay Member

Performance
Expense
pay and
payments
bonuses
(taxable) to
(bands of
nearest £100
£5,000)

Long term
performance pay
and bonuses
(bands of £5,000)

Note

Salary
(bands of
£5,000)

All pension
related benefits
(bands of £2,500)

TOTAL
(bands of
£5,000)

£000

£

£000

£000

£000

£000

1

110-115

300

0

0

27.5-30

140-145

110-115
275-280

8,200
0

0
0

0
0

27.5-30
20-22.5

150-155
295-300

4

55-60
115-120
85-90

0
100
6,200

0
0
0

0
0
0

37.5-40
15-17.5
40-42.5

95-100
135-140
130-135

4

25-30
125-130
85-90
85-90
100-105
80-85
95-100
85-90
65-70
10-15
10-15
10-15
10-15

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

5-7.5
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

30-35
125-130
85-90
85-90
100-105
80-85
95-100
85-90
65-70
10-15
10-15
10-15
10-15

2
3

5
5
5
5

6
6,7
6
6

Notes on Salaries and Allowances Table
The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20, less, the contributions made by the individual. The real increase excludes increases due to inflation or any
increase or decrease due to a transfer of pension rights.
This value does not represent an amount that will be received by the individual. It is a calculation that is intended to convey to the reader of the accounts an estimation of the benefit that being a member of of the pension scheme
could provide.
The pension benefit table provides further information on the pension benefits accruing to the individual.
The taxable benefits referred to in the table relate to the re-imbursement of mileage undertaken on official duties, unless included in the notes below. The benefit arises from the mileage allowance payments made to all staff, to
reimburse them for expenses related to the use of their own vehicle for business travel. Herts Valleys CCG pays the rate per mile set out in Agenda for Change, which exceeds the HMRC "approved mileage allowance
payments" rate in 2019-20 of 45p a mile. The excess amount is taxable and is disclosed above.
The taxable benefits for David Evans and Lynn Dalton relates to their having lease cars with a taxable benefit of £7,100 and £5,800 respectively. Their disclosures also include a taxable benefit of 45p and 42p per mile
respectively, for re-imbursement of mileage undertaken on official duties. The members have a salary sacrifice arrangement for their vehicles which has the effect of reducing the salary paid during 2019/20.
1. As from 8 January 2020 Kathryn Magson was seconded to the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) and the remuneration shown above relates only to the CCG role to 7 January 2020.
2. David Evans was appointed Interim Accountable Officer with effect from 8 January 2020 and received a salary of £31,325 in this role for the period January - March 2020.
The remuneration disclosed above relates to the role of Director of Commissioning from 1 April 2019 to 7 January 2020 and Interim Accountable Officer from 8 January.
3.On 26th September 2019, the Board agreed to create a single Accountable Officer and Executive Team across the 3 CCGs in Hertfordshire and West Essex. All 3 CCGs’ Boards took this decision on the same day. A
consequence of the Boards’ decision was the deletion of the individual CFO roles within each CCG and the creation of a single joint CFO to work across the 3 CCGs in Hertfordshire and West Essex in 2020/21. Following a
request from Caroline Hall, the CFO to bring her redundancy forward, based on health reasons, an extraordinary Board meeting on 3rd October 2019 agreed that Caroline Hall’s redundancy could be brought forward to October
2019 without need for formal consultation. A redundancy payment was made to Caroline Hall in line with contractual entitlements and with the support of the CCG's regulator NHS E/I. The remuneration disclosed consists of
£59,630 basic pay for the period in office, £160,000 in respect of a compulsory redundancy payment, £56,588 for payment in lieu of contractual notice and £1,190 for payment of accrued but untaken annual leave.

4. Elke Taylor and Avni Shah were both appointed to the Board in Acting roles with starting dates as indicated in the table above. Prior to this they held the position of Deputy Chief Finance Officer and Programme Director for
Planned and Primary Care respectively in the CCG. The remuneration disclosed in the table relates to the period they held senior manager roles. The full year equivalent salary for both members in their respective Board roles
would be £111,464.
5. Where a GP Board member is working under a "contract for services" and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the position is pensionable under the "Practitioner Pension Scheme". The CCG must
make the post non pensionsable on the payroll and either submit a GP Solo form with the employer's pension contribution of 14.3% plus an administration levy of 0.08% to the NHS Pension Authority, or pay the employer's
contribution directly to the practice where a HMRC approved pooling arrangement exists. The salary disclosure above comprises of gross pay plus employer pension contribution, where applicable.

6. As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration,there will be no entries in respect of pension benefits.
7. Alison Gardner was appointed as a lay Board member at East & North Hertfordshire CCG as from August 2019 and salary costs of £7,801 associated with this role have been recharged. The remuneration disclosed above
relates only to Herts Valleys CCG.

Fair pay disclosure (audited element of Remuneration Report)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director/member in the organisation and the median
remuneration of the CCG’s workforce, as at the reporting date (31st March 2020).
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in Herts Valleys CCG at the reporting date was £135,000 - £140,000.
(2018-19: £140,000 - £145,000). This was 3.39 times (2018-19: 3.72 times) the median remuneration of the CCG’s workforce which was £40,527 (2018-19: £38,894).
In 2019-20, at the reporting date, no employee received remuneration in excess of the highest paid director /member of the CCG's governing body. In 2019-20 remuneration ranged from £138,059 to £11,224 (201819:£144,575 to £11,224).
Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related pay and benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include employer pension contributions and the cash
equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Notes
1. As members of the 2015 scheme benefits do not include lump sum payments.
2. The disclosures for the real increase in pension and CETV have been adjusted to reflect that Kathryn Magson held the post of Accountable Officer to 31 December 2019.
3. CETV calculation is not applicable as the member is over the NRA in the existing scheme.
4. Where a GP Board member is working under a "contract for services" and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the position is pensionable under the
"Practitioner Pension Scheme". The CCG must make the post non-pensionable on the payroll and for GPs who are members of the Practitioner scheme, submit an annual GP Solo
form to the NHS Pension Authority to include the employer's pension contribution of 14.3% plus 0.08% administration levy. Alternatively, if the GP has a pooling arrangement in place
as agreed with HMRC, the employer's pension contribution is paid directly to the practice.
5. As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Lay Members.
6. Alison Gardner was also a Lay Member of East & North Hertfordshire CCG Board from August 2019.
7. Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particularly point in time.
The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme.
A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses
to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.
The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their membership of the pension scheme and may relate to a period more than their
service in a senior capacity and to which the disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.
They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
8. The real Increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer.
It does not include the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement).
9. The method used to calculate CETVs changed, to remove the adjustment for Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) on 8 August 2019. If the individual was entitled to GMP, this will affect the
calculation of the real increase in CETV. This is more likely to affect the 1995 Section and the 2008 Section.
10.NHS Pensions are still assessing the impact of the McCloud judgement in relation to changes to benefits in 2015. The benefits and related CETVs disclosed do not allow for any potential
future adjustments that may arise from this judgement.
During the year, the Government announced that public sector pension schemes will be required to provide indexation on the Guaranteed Minimum Pension element of the pension.
NHS Pensions has updated the methodology used to calculate CETV values as at 31 March 2020. The impact of the change in methodology is included within the reported real increase in
CETV for the year.

Chief Finance Officer

Date: 25 June 2020

HERTS VALLEYS CCG
Table 2:Pensions Benefits
Real increase in
Real increase in
Total accrued
Lump sum at
Cash Equivalent
pension at pension pension lump sum at
pension at
pension age related Transfer Value at 1
age (bands of
pension age (bands pension age at 31 to accrued pension
April 2019
£2,500)
of £2,500)
March 2020
at 31 March 2020
(bands of £5,000)
(bands of £5,000)

Relating to the period 1 April 2019 to 31st March 2020

Name
Kathryn Magson
David Evans
Caroline Hall
Elke Taylor
Diane Curbishley
Lynn Dalton
Avni Shah
Dr Nicolas Small
Dr Trevor Fernandes
Dr Daniel Carlton-Conway
Dr Corinne Ciobanu
Dr Rami Eliad
Dr Asif Faizy
Dr Catherine Page
Dr Richard Pile
Stuart Bloom
Alison Gardner
Paul Smith
Thelma Stober

Real increase in Cash Equivalent
Cash Equivalent Transfer Value
Transfer Value
at 31 March
2020

Employer's
contribution to
stakeholder
pension

Title

Note

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£00

Accountable Officer (to 7 January 2020)
Interim Accountable Officer (from 8 January 2020)/
Director of Commissioning (to 7 January 2020)
Chief Finance Officer (to 10 October 2019)
Acting Chief Finance Officer (from 11 October 2019)
Director of Nursing & Quality
Director of Primary Care
Acting Director of Commissioning (from 8 January 2020)
GP Director and CCG Chair
GP Director & Deputy Clinical Chair
GP Director
GP Director
GP Director
GP Director (from 1 April 2019)
GP Director
GP Director
Lay Member
Lay Member
Lay Member
Lay Member

1,2

0-2.5

0

15-20

0

154

13

195

0

1

0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0-2.5
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
2.5-5
0-2.5
5-7.5
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

5-10
35-40
35-40
45-50
20-25
30-35
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
85-90
95-100
135-140
65-70
60-65
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

73
717
686
891
0
413
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

11
23
41
29
0
4
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

101
766
799
959
0
453
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

3

4
4
4

4

5
5,6
5
5

Notes
1. As members of the 2015 scheme benefits do not include lump sum
payments.
2. The disclosures for the real increase in pension and CETV have been adjusted to reflect that Kathryn Magson held the post of Accountable Officer
to 7 January 2020.
3. CETV calculation is not applicable as the member is over the NRA in the existing scheme.
4. Where a GP Board member is working under a "contract for services" and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings, the
position is pensionable under the "Practioner Pension Scheme". The CCG must make the post non-pensionsable on the payroll and for GPs who
are members of the Practitioner scheme, submit an annual GP Solo form to the NHS Pension Authority to include the employer's pension
contributionof 14.3% plus 0.08% administration levy. Alternatively, if the GP has a pooling arrangement in place as agreed with HMRC, the
employer's pension contribution is paid directly to the practice.
5. As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Lay Members.
6. Alison Gardner was also a Lay Member of East & North Hertfordshire CCG Board from August
2019.
7. Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular
point in time.
The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme.
8. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the
member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme.

The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their membership of the pension scheme
and may relate to a period more than their service in a senior capacity and to which the disclosure applies.
The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual
has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.
They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the
scheme at their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
8. The real Increase in CETV reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer.
It does not include the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits
transferred from another scheme or arrangement).
9. The method used to calculate CETVs changed, to remove the adjustment for Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) on 8 August 2019.
If the individual was entitled to GMP, this will affect the calculation of the real increase in CETV. This is more likely to affect the
1995 Section and the 2008 Section.

Chief Finance Officer Date 25 June 2020

Pension benefits at 31 March 2019
Name and Title

Kathryn Magson Accountable Officer - Note 1
Caroline Hall - Chief
Finance Officer
Diane Curbishley - Director
of Nursing & Quality
David Evans - Director
of Commissioning Note 1Buckle - Medical
David
Director (to 9 May 2018) Note 2
Lynn
Dalton - Director of
Primary Care (from 1 May
2018)
Dr Nicolas Small - GP
Director and CCG Chair
Dr Catherine Page - GP
Director
Dr Trevor Fernandes - GP
Director & Deputy Clinical
Chair

(a)
Real
increase
in
pension
at
pension
age
(bands of
£2,500)

(b)
Real increase
in pension
lump sum at
pension age
(bands of
£2,500)

(c)
Total accrued
pension at
pension age
at 31 March
2019 (bands
of
£5,000)

(d)
Lump sum at
pension age
related to
accrued pension
at 31 March 2019
(bands of £5,000

(e)
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at 1
April 2018

(f)
Real
Increase in
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value

(g)
Cash
Equivalent
Transfer
Value at
31 March
2019

(h)
Employers
Contribution
to
partnership
pension

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0

0

10-15

0

141

0

154

0

0-2.5

0

35-40

85-90

608

75

717

0

0-2.5

5-7.5

40-45

130-135

731

121

891

0

0-2.5

0

5-10

0

41

16

73

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

2.5-5.0

10-12.5

15-20

55-60

352

103

484

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Dr Kevin Barrett - GP
Director - Note 3
Dr Daniel Carlton-Conway GP Director - Note 3
Dr Corinne Ciobanu GP Director - Note 3
Dr Rami Eliad - GP Director

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Dr Richard Pile - GP
Director - Note 3
T Win - Secondary Care
Consultant (to 31
December 2018)
Stuart Bloom - Lay
Member - Note 4
Alison Gardner - Lay
Member - Note 4
Paul Smith - Lay Member Note 4
Thelma Stober - Lay
Member - Note 4

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

Notes:
1. 2015
2.

scheme benefits do not include lump sum payments.

Previously opted out from pension scheme.

3. Where

a GP Board member is working under a "contract for services" and the GP is set up on the payroll system to satisfy HMRC rulings,

the position is pensionable under the "Practioner Pension Scheme". The CCG must make the post non-pensionable on the payroll and
submit a GP Solo form with the employer's pension contribution of 14.3% plus an administration levy of 0.08% to the NHS Pension Authority.
The salary banding

above comprises of gross payment plus employer pension contribution.
As Lay Members do not receive pensionable remuneration, there will be no entries in respect of pensions for Lay Members.

4.
5.

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values

A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a
particularly point in time. The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the
scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or
arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures
shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their membership of the pension scheme. This may be for
more than just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies (in which case this fact will be noted at the foot of the table). The
CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual
has transferred to the NHS pension scheme.They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their
purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost.
CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
6.

Real Increase in CETV

This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in accrued pension due to inflation,
contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement).
The factors used to calculate the CETV increased on 29 October 2018 and will have affected the calculation of the real increase in CETV.

Staff Report
This report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Department of Health and Social Care’s Group Accounting Manual (paragraph
3.57).
Workforce Data
Information, including the CCG staff composition and costs, is shown below.
Number of senior managers
At 31st March 2020, the CCG has 48 employees who are Governing Body members,
Directors, or Senior Managers. In addition, there are 13 members of the Governing
Body, who are not on NHS Agenda for Change pay scales who have not been
included within the table below, but are included in the ‘Staff Composition’ table for
Governing Body members.

Pay Band
Band 8a

Number of
Staff
33

Band 8b

32

Band 8c

11

Band 8d

11

Band 9

3

VSM

6

Staff numbers and costs:
Employee benefits and staff numbers (subject to audit)
Employee benefits

2019-20

Total

Admin

Programme

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

11,916
1,157
1,760
0
38
218
15,088

10,483
1,157
1,760
0
38
218
13,656

1,433
0
0
0
0
0
1,433

7,496
775
1,345
0
38
218
9,872

6,767
775
1,345
0
38
218
9,143

729
0
0
0
0
0
729

4,421
382
414
0
0
0
5,217

3,717
382
414
0
0
0
4,513

704
0
0
0
0
0
704

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
15,088

0
13,656

0
1,433

0
9,872

0
9,143

0
729

0
5,217

0
4,513

0
704

Employee benefits

2018-19
Total
£'000

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Admin
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Programme
Permanent
Employees
Other
£'000
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

10,985
1,009
1,230
0
34
10
13,268

9,545
1,009
1,230
0
34
10
11,828

1,440
0
0
0
0
0
1,440

7,502
708
823
0
34
10
9,077

6,489
708
823
0
34
10
8,064

1,013
0
0
0
0
0
1,013

3,483
301
407
0
0
0
4,191

3,056
301
407
0
0
0
3,764

427
0
0
0
0
0
427

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
13,268

0
11,828

0
1,440

0
9,077

0
8,064

0
1,013

0
4,191

0
3,764

0
427

Average number of people employed (subject to audit)
Restated
2019-20

Total

Total
Number

Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

223.26

197.49

25.77

2018-19
Total
Number

Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

215.22

187.77

27.45

Staff composition

Gender breakdown (as at 31 March 2020, report run 16 April 2020)
Governing Body members with voting rights (covers VSM pay framework grades)

Male

Female

Headcount

%

Headcount

%

9

60.00

6

40.00

Senior Managers – Band 8a and above

Male

Female

Headcount

%

Headcount

%

18

18.75

78

81.25

All other bands (band 7 and below)

Male

Female

Headcount

%

Headcount

%

24

18.32

107

81.68

Non AFC payments (other than Governing Body members)

Male

Female

Headcount

%

Headcount

%

11

45.83

13

54.16

Sickness absence data
Sickness absence data relating to 2019-20 financial year extracted from ESR.


Total days lost: 2,637 days (source: ESR, information not available on NHS
Digital at time of checking)



Average absence per employee: 11.77 days (average of total days lost by
CCG employee headcount (excluding GPs) at 31 March 2020)



Long term absence episodes: 27 (taken from ESR)



Long term days total: 2,041 days (taken from ESR; included in total days lost)

Equality and Diversity
The Equality Act 2010: The Public Sector Equality Duty
Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 states that a public authority must have due
regard to the need to:



eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct

that is prohibited by or under this Act;



advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;



foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected

characteristic and persons who do not share it.
Throughout the year of this Annual Report, Herts Valleys CCG’s engagement
approach was fully cognisant of this duty and it will continue to promote equality of
opportunity for the population of Herts Valleys in the context of all its
commissioning engagement activities in the future.
We met our statutory responsibilities around data publication and will meet the NHS
requirements in using the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2) and the Workforce
Race Equality Standard (WRES) as tools to enable us to review our equality and
diversity work and identify where improvements can be made.

NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES)
CCGs are required to implement WRES in respect of their own workforce. The WRES report and
action plan has been published on the CCG website here:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/aboutus/documents/corporate/topic/387/CCG_Reports_and_Publications/534

Equality and Diversity Action Planning and the NHS Equality Delivery System (EDS2)
The NHS England Equality Delivery System (EDS and the revision, EDS2) is an audit tool
designed to measure NHS organisations performance against four equality, diversity and human
rights goals.
The goals are:
 Better health outcomes for all.
 Improved patient access and experience.
 Empowered, engaged and included staff.
 Inclusive leadership at all levels.
Within the four goals there are 18 outcomes against which we assess and grade our equality
performance.
In June 2019 the board agreed to to the publication of the final EDS2 report and grading which
can be viewed at this link:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/about-us/what-we-do/equality-and-diversity-ccg
EDS2 assessment and scoring.


Each EDS2 outcome is measured against one question: how well do people from protected
groups fare compared to people overall?



EDS2 encourages us to look at where our policies, processes and organisational culture may,
intentionally or unintentionally, discriminate against people. If the EDS2 process shows that
there are areas where we need to improve, we are expected to make the changes needed so
that people with a protected characteristic fare as well as people overall.



The specified scoring for EDS2 is as follows:

-

In response to the question “how well do people from protected groups fare compared with
people overall”, the answer is:

•

Undeveloped if there is no evidence one way or another for any protected group of how
people fare or, Undeveloped if evidence shows that the majority of people in only two or less
protected groups fare well

•

Developing if evidence shows that the majority of people in three to five protected groups fare
well

•

Achieving if evidence shows that the majority of people in six to eight protected groups fare well

•

Excelling if evidence shows that the majority of people in all nine protected groups fare well

The four EDS2 assessment areas were graded as follows:

1. Better health outcomes for all - Developing
2. Improved patient access and experience – Developing
3. A representative and supported workforce - Developing
4. Inclusive leadership - Achieving
The full report identifies where the CCG is performing well and makes recommendations to improve
performance, where needed. These recommendations have been incorporated into the CCGs new
equality action plan, presented separately to the Board.
The CCG’s approach to gathering and presenting the EDS2 evidence to be graded is set out below.


The Senior Leadership team (SLT) established an EDS2 steering group in September 2018.
The group is Chaired by the Deputy Director of Nursing and Quality and reports to the CCG
Quality Committee.



The working group agreed on which areas of the CCGs to focus the assessment on and then
collected and collated the evidence presented for assessment



The evidence portfolio for the ‘better health outcomes for all’, ‘improved patient access and
experience’ and ‘inclusive leadership’ goals in the EDS2 report was presented to a combined
meeting of the Herts Valleys CCG Patient and Public Involvement Committee and Patient
Participation Group Network. The equality and diversity lead and the assistant director of
nursing and quality, the chair of the EDS2 working group, explained the background and
requirements of EDS2 and the CCGs approach to assessing EDS2. The focus areas assessed
and the evidence used to develop a proposed grade were introduced and discussed.
Following questions and discussion, participants were asked to consider the proposed grades
and, either, agree those grades or, based on the evidence presented, agree alternative grades.



A key message that came from the grading event was that members of the group wanted
the CCG to use its influence to ensure that providers be held to account for meeting EDS2,
as it applies to that provider, and improve equality outcomes in the services they provide.



The evidence portfolio for the goal ‘A representative and supportive workforce’ was presented
to and graded by the Herts Valleys CCG Staff Involvement Group (SIG).

In March 2020 we used the information to publish a new equality and diversity strategy
2019-2022 which can be viewed at this link:
https://hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk/aboutus/documents/corporate/topic/387/CCG_Reports_and_Publications/534

Staff policies
Staff policies applied during the year.
The following revised staff policies were applied during the year:


Agency and Interim Use Policy



Agile working Policy



Alcohol Drug and Substance Misuse Policy



Annual Leave Policy



Appraisal and Performance Review Policy



Apprenticeship Policy



Attendance Management and Wellbeing Policy



Bullying and Harassment Policy



Capability Management Policy



Disciplinary Policy



Employment Break Policy



Equality and Diversity Policy



Flexible Working Policy



Grievance Policy



Maternity, Maternity Support (Paternity), Adoption/Fostering, Parental Leave Policy



Organisational Change Policy



Overtime, On-Call and Working Time Policy



Probation and induction Policy



Raising Concerns (Whistleblowing) Policy



Recruitment and Selection Policy



Secondment Policy



Special Leave Policy



Verification of Professional Registrations Policy



Volunteer Policy
All staff policies are available on the website www.hertsvalleysccg.nhs.uk

2019 NHS staff survey results
We had an excellent response rate from staff of 90 per cent which is our highest
ever and it is higher than the national average.
You can also see the results in full for Herts Valleys and all NHS
organisations here:
http://www.nhsstaffsurveyresults.com/homepage/benchmark-directoratereports-2019/.
Overall, our results are very close to the national average with some areas where we
have performed particularly well and others where we need to make some
improvements to be on a par with our peers.

Staff Involvement Group
Our staff involvement group (SIG), made up of voluntary representatives across
the CCG, supports our responsibility to ensure the wellbeing, motivation and
engagement of our workforce.
The group, co-chaired by the Director of Workforce and Associate Director of
Communications and Engagement, provides a forum for staff to air their views on
key issues affecting staff and wellbeing and makes recommendations to the
executive team. They also act as a sounding board for proposed new initiatives
across the business.
Relevant organisational policies are reviewed and approved by the group before
going to the executive team for final approval, with a SIG member sitting on the
policy forum committee who regularly meet to review all Human Resource
policies.

Staff wellbeing

Having moved into The Forum on 1 April 2019, we are using the opportunity of sharing
a building with Dacorum Borough Council to work together on health and wellbeing
activities for our staff including a weekly walking club and Yoga sessions in the Library.
We are working on a joint health and wellbeing programme for the year ahead.

During the period of incident management of the COVID-19 pandemic towards the end
of the year all staff have been working remotely and the Executive team have been
working to mitigate adverse impacts on staff health and wellbeing. HR has added
information and advice from a number of different sources about health and wellbeing
to the intranet. A national wellbeing offer has also been developed and is being
promoted locally.
Information has also been provided about the working time regulations. Staff are being
actively encouraged not to work excessive hours and to avoid burnout. To this end,
time off in lieu arrangements are being put in place where appropriate and working
patterns closely monitored to ensure adequate time for rest and recuperation.
All-staff briefings from Exec including Q&As by teleconference are being conducted
twice-weekly and followed up with both written briefings and video clips for those
unable to dial in.
Health checks have been offered to our staff throughout the year. In early August a
local gym visited The Forum to carry out mini health checks and discuss discounts and
incentives on offer to CCG staff. More thorough health checks for the over 40’s were
then offered to all qualifying CCG staff. All available appointments were taken up. One
of those taking part said “the health checks were extremely informative and have
encouraged healthier lifestyle changes”.
During November and December staff were invited to receive free flu vaccinations
within the workplace with a total of 83 people taking up the offer.
Since December our chiropractor and massage/reflexology therapist, have been
providing bookable treatments for both CCG and council staff. Again take-up has been
good.
As part of the CCG’s commitment to the Time to Change pledge ten employees
received mental health first aid training during March 2020, following a recruitment
drive to secure volunteers within the CCG to become mental health champions. The
CCG signed the Time to Change Pledge on 21 February 2020 in order to support a
positive culture in relation to mental health and ensure excellent staff support across
the organisation.
Line managers have been encouraged to maintain regular contact with teams and
individuals to ensure that staff feel involved in and understand the different ways of
working.

Expenditure on consultancy
In 2019/20 the CCG spent £305,790 on management consultancy. Details of the payments are included within the table below.

Amount
CONSULTANCY PROVIDER

Purpose

(£)

Procurement support for Data Services and
CHARLES WHEATCROFT & ASSOCIATES LTD

126,345 Development of ICP Local Delivery Plan

PA CONSULTING SERVICES LTD

50,386 Demand & Capacity review

HIBOU HEALTH CONSULTING LTD

44,940 Estates Strategy

HEMPSONS

38,587 ACS Procurement Services

MCLAREN PERRY LTD

36,449 PCN Development Programme

DR SM SPENCER

20,400 UTC Clinical Model

KORN FERRY HAY GROUP

13,716 Recruitment Advice/Support

Unutilised Prior Year Accruals

(25,033)

TOTAL

305,790

Off-payroll engagements

Table 1: Off-payroll engagements longer than 6 months (not subject to audit)
For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2020, for more than £245 per day and
that last longer than six months.
Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2020
11
Of which…
Number that have existed for less than one year at time of reporting
5
Number that have existed for between one and two years at time of reporting
2
Number that have existed for between two and three years at time of reporting
0
Number that have existed for between three and four years at time of reporting 0
Number that have existed for four or more years at time of reporting
4
Table 2: For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, for more than £245 per day
and that last longer than six months (not subject to audit)
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in
duration, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020
Of which…
Number assessed as caught by IR35
Number assessed as not caught by IR35
Number engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on the
departmental payroll
Number of engagements re-assessed for consistency / assurance purposes
during the year
Number of engagements that saw a change to IR35

12
12
0

2
0
0

Table 3: Off-payroll board member/senior official engagements (not subject to
audit)
For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with
significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020.
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials
with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year

3

Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘board members, and/or senior
officials with significant responsibility’ during the financial year. This figure
should include both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements

19

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments (subject to audit)
The CCG made one payment in respect of an exit package during the financial year
to value of £217,778. This consisted of £160,000 in respect of a compulsory
redundancy payment, £56,588 for payment in lieu of contractual notice and £1,190
for payment of accrued but untaken annual leave.

Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the
provisions of the Agenda for Change pay scheme for NHS staff. Exit costs in this
note are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where the CCG has agreed
early retirements, the additional costs are met by the CCG and not by the NHS
Pensions Scheme.

Prior year exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments (2018/19)
The CCG made one payment in respect of an exit package during the financial year
2018/19 to value of £9,614. This consisted of £4,089 in respect of a voluntary
redundancy payment, £2,044 for payment in lieu of contractual notice and £3,481 for
payment of accrued but untaken annual leave.
Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the provisions
of the Agenda for Change pay scheme for NHS staff. Exit costs in this note are
accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where the CCG has agreed early
retirements, the additional costs are met by the CCG and not by the NHS Pensions
Scheme.
The Remuneration Report includes disclosure of exit packages payable to individuals
named in that Report.

Parliamentary Accountability and Audit Report
Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group is not required to produce a Parliamentary
Accountability and Audit Report, which would require disclosure on remote contingent
liabilities, losses and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges in this Accountability
Report. However, it can confirm that there have been no such items that require this
disclosure during 2019/20. An audit certificate and report is included in this Annual
Report at page 141.

AUDIT CERTIFICATE AND
REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF NHS HERTS
VALLEYS CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
Opinion on financial statements
We have audited the financial statements of NHS Herts Valleys Clinical Commissioning Group (the
CCG) for the year ended 31 March 2020, which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Net
Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity,
the Statement of Cash Flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2019-20 Government Financial
Reporting Manual as contained in the Department of Health and Social Care’s Group Accounting
Manual 2019-20.
In our opinion the financial statements:




give a true and fair view of the financial position of NHS Herts Valleys CCG as at 31 March 2020
and of its net expenditure for the year then ended; and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of Health and Social Care’s
Group Accounting Manual 2019-20; and
have been prepared in accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012.

Basis for opinion on financial statements
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the CCG in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the
financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK)
require us to report to you where:


the Accountable Officer’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
financial statements is not appropriate; or



the Accountable Officer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the CCG’s ability to continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when
the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information
The Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises
the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.
Basis for opinion on regularity
We carried out our work on regularity in accordance with Practice Note 10 issued by the Public
Audit Forum. Our responsibilities in this respect are further described in the Auditor’s other
responsibilities section of our report. We believe the evidence obtained from this work, in
conjunction with the evidence we have obtained in our audit of the financial statements, is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on regularity.
Opinion on information in the Remuneration and Staff Report
We have also audited the information in the Remuneration and Staff Report that is described in
that report as having been audited.
In our opinion the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report to be audited have been properly
prepared in accordance with Department of Health and Social Care’s Group Accounting Manual
2019-20.
Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 requires us to report to you if:







in our opinion the Governance statement does not comply with the guidance issued by NHS
England; or
we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 because we have reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer of the
CCG, is about to make, or has made, a decision which involves or would involve the body
incurring unlawful expenditure, or is about to take, or has begun to take a course of action
which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency;
or
we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability
Act 2014; or
we make a written recommendation to the CCG under section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014; or
we are not satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accountable
Officer is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Accountable Officer determines
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is responsible for assessing the CCG’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Accountable Officer either intends to
liquidate the CCG or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.
As explained in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities, the Accountable Officer is
also responsible for the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable
Officer is answerable and for ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and
economically.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
In respect of our audit of the financial statements our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located at
the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: https://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our auditor’s report.
Auditor’s other responsibilities
In addition to our audit of the financial statements we are required to obtain evidence sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements
have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial statements conform to
the authorities which govern them.
We are also required under section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be
satisfied that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources. Section 21(5)(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014
requires that our report must not contain our opinion if we are satisfied that proper arrangements
are in place.
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are
operating effectively.
As set out in the Matters on which we report by exception section of our report there are certain
other matters which we are required to report by exception.
Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the accounts of NHS Herts Valleys CCG in
accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of
Audit Practice issued by the National Audit Office.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Members of the Governing Body of NHS Herts Valleys CCG, as a
body, in accordance with part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in
paragraph 43 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by the
National Audit Office in April 2015.. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to
the Members of the Governing Body those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the CCG and the Members of the Governing Body of the
CCG, as a body, for our audit work, this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Lisa Clampin
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
Ipswich, UK
25 June 2020
BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number
OC305127).
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NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year ended
31 March 2020
2019-20
£'000

2018-19
£'000

(663)
(9)
(672)

(941)
(2)
(943)

15,088
902,061
336
642
918,127

13,268
853,075
381
555
867,279

Net operating expenditure

917,455

866,336

Total Comprehensive Expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2020

917,455

866,336

Note
Revenue from contracts with customers
Other operating income
Total operating income
Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Provision expense
Other operating expenditure
Total operating expenditure

The notes on pages 152 to 153 form part of this statement.

2
3
3
3

NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Financial Position as at
31 March 2020
2019-20
£'000

2018-19
£'000

6,155
70
6,225

4,837
381
5,218

(84,314)
(3,204)
(87,518)

(74,826)
(3,454)
(78,280)

Net Current Liabilities

(81,293)

(73,062)

Assets less Liabilities

(81,293)

(73,062)

Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund
Total Taxpayers' Equity

(81,293)
(81,293)

(73,062)
(73,062)

Note
Current assets:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total current liabilities

5

6

The notes on pages 152 to 153 form part of this statement.

The financial statements on pages
to were approved by the Audit Committee (on behalf of the Board) on
25 June 2020
and signed on its behalf by:

Jane Halpin, Joint Accountable Officer
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Statement of Changes In Taxpayers' Equity for the year ended
31 March 2020
General fund
£'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Balance at 1 April 2019

(73,062)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2019-20
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(917,455)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the financial year
including balance brought forward from previous year

(990,517)

Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2020

909,224
(81,293)

General fund
£'000
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Balance at 31 March 2018
Impact of applying IFRS 9 to Opening Balances

(54,190)
(6)

Adjusted NHS Clinical Commissioning Group balance at 1 April 2018

(54,196)

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayers’ equity for 2018-19
Net operating expenditure for the financial year

(866,336)

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the financial year
including balance brought forward from previous year

(920,532)

Net funding
Balance at 31 March 2019

The notes on pages 152 to 153 form part of this statement.

847,470
(73,062)

NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2019-20
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2020
2019-20
£'000

2018-19
£'000

(917,455)
0
(1,318)
9,488
(586)
336
(909,535)

(866,336)
(6)
2,154
17,431
(1,110)
381
(847,486)

(909,535)

(847,486)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received

909,224

847,470

Net Cash Inflow from Financing Activities

909,224

847,470

(311)

(16)

381

397

70

381

Note
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Non-cash movements arising on application of new accounting standards
(Increase) / Decrease in trade & other receivables
Increase in trade & other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase in provisions
Net Cash Outflow from Operating Activities

6

Net Cash Outflow before Financing

Net Decrease in Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash & Cash Equivalents at the end of the financial year

The notes on pages 152 to 153 form part of this statement.
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Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting Policies
NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) shall meet the accounting requirements of
the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 2019-20 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting
policies contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting Standards to the extent that they are meaningful
and appropriate to CCGs, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group
Accounting Manual permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies
adopted by the CCG are described below. They have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the
accounts.

1.1

Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on the going concern basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that service in published documents.
Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its services will continue to be provided (using the same
assets, by another public sector entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of Financial Statements. If
services will continue to be provided the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis.

1.2

Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

1.3

Pooled Budgets
Where the CCG has entered into a pooled budget arrangement under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006, the CCG accounts
for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in accordance with the
pooled budget agreement.
If the CCG is in a joint operation, the CCG recognises:
·
its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly;
·
its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly;
·
its revenue from the sale of its share of the output of the joint operation;
.
its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation; and
·
its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly.
The CCG has entered into a partnership agreement and a pooled budget with Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) in respect of the Better Care
Fund. This is a national policy initiative and the funds involved are material in the CCG accounts. Having reviewed the terms of the
partnership agreement, the Department of Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual and the appropriate financial reporting standards,
the CCG has determined that there are three elements to the Better Care Fund and they are accounted for as follows:
(1) the major part is controlled by HCC which commissions services from various non-NHS providers. Whilst the services are determined in
partnership, the risks and rewards of the contracts remain wholly with HCC. The CCG accounts for this on a lead commissioner basis as
healthcare expenditure with the local authority.
(2) The second part is controlled by the CCG which commissions various services from NHS and non-NHS providers. The risks and rewards of
these contracts are the responsibility of the CCG, which considers itself to be acting as a lead commissioner for those services on behalf of the
partnership. The CCG accounts for these costs as healthcare purchased from NHS and non-NHS providers.
(3) The final part are services which are jointly commissioned by the CCG and HCC, including mental health services, equipment services, and
protection of social care services. HCC acts as the host body for these services which are provided by a third party. Each partner is however
wholly responsible for their own share of the expenditure and this is accounted for as a joint operation.

1.4

Employee Benefits

1.4.1

Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received from employees, including
bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period.

1.4.2

Retirement Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an unfunded, defined benefit
scheme that covers NHS employers, General Practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State, in England and
Wales. The scheme is not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets
and liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the CCG of participating in the
scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to the scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the
liability for the additional costs is charged to expenditure at the time the CCG commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of
payment.

NHS Herts Valleys CCG - Annual Accounts 2018-19
Notes to the financial statements
1.5

Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or services have been received. They are measured at the
fair value of the consideration payable.

1.6

Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash
equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash with insignificant risk of change in value.

1.7

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the CCG becomes party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised
when the liability has been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired.

1.8

Critical Accounting Judgements & Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the CCG’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those estimates and the
estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

1.8.1

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
There are no critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (see below) that management have made in the process of applying
the CCG's accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

1.8.2

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key estimations that management has made in the process of applying the CCG’s accounting policies that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
Secondary Healthcare
Secondary care activity reports are received from providers monthly, but activity information for the final month of the year is not available in
time for the accounts and estimates of £5,330k for 2019-20 (£30,117k 2018-19) were made in agreement with providers. The reduction in the
estimate compared to the previous year is due to the CCG agreeing a year end position with the majority of providers of secondary healthcare.
This was in compliance with guidance issued by NHS England to expedite these agreements, whilst maintaining robust financial governance, in
order to reduce the administrative burden on providers due to the national emergency relating to Covid-19. For the providers where we have
not agreed a year end position a full reconciliation is undertaken once actual activity is agreed which is at the end of the first quarter of the
following year. Any increase or decrease in activity becomes a charge or credit in the next financial year.

1.9

Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted
The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS Standard and Interpretation to be applied in 2019-20:
● IFRS 16 Leases – HM Treasury, in conjunction with the Financial Reporting Advisory Board (FRAB) has decided to defer the implementation
of this standard for a further year to 2021-22. For the NHS, this will be for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021.
Having undertaken a detail impact assessment of IFRS 16 and applying the transition processes as mandated by HM Treasury, the CCG
concluded that this standard does not have a material impact on the financial statements of the CCG in 2019-20, had the standard been
implemented in that year.
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2. Employee benefits and staff numbers
2.1 Employee benefits

Employee benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

2019-20
Total

2018-19
Total

£'000

£'000

11,916
1,157
1,759
38
218
15,088

10,985
1,009
1,230
34
10
13,268

2.2 Pension costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the benefits payable
and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded
defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary
of State for Health and Social Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a wa y that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it
were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the
contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from those that would
be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period between formal valuations
shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of these follows:
The employer contribution rate for NHS Pensions increased from 14.3% to 20.6% from 1st April 2019. For 2019-20, NHS CCGs
continued to pay over contributions at the former rate with the additional amount being paid by NHS England on behalf of CCGs.
The full cost and related funding has been recognised in these accounts.
a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s Department) as
at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with
updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for
financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2020, is based on valuation data as 31 March
2019, updated to 31 March 2020 with summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment,
the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have
also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, which forms part of the
annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are published
annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes (taking into
account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by employees and employers.
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 2016. The results of this
valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6%, and the Scheme Regulations were amended
accordingly.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap set following the
2012 valuation. Following a judgment from the Court of Appeal in December 2018 Government announced a pause to that part
of the valuation process pending conclusion of the continuing legal process.
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3. Operating expenses
2019-20
Total
£'000

2018-19
Total
£'000

297
119,507
412,836
183,926
12,387
75,744
90,037
26
2,265
306
3,212
929
61
198
180
141
9
902,061

426
116,744
387,342
172,545
11,506
73,095
82,461
3
3,489
256
2,961
1,571
64
315
180
117
2
853,077

Provision expense
Provisions
Total provision expense

336
336

381
381

Other operating expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Expected credit loss on receivables
Other expenditure
Total other operating Expenditure

195
(1)
448
642

158
1
394
553

903,039

854,011

Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Purchase of social care
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – clinical
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Premises
Audit fees (Note 1 and 2)
Other professional fees (note 3)
Legal Fees
Education and training
Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Total purchase of goods and services

Total operating expenses
Note 1
The annual audit fee includes VAT and the net amount is £45k (2018-19 £45k).
Audit fees for review of the Mental Health Investment Standard (MHIS) includes VAT and the net amount is
£5k (2018-19 £8k).
Note 2
Limitation on auditor’s liability for external audit work carried out for the financial year 2019-20 is £1million
or, if greater, 10 times the total of fees invoiced under the Engagement Letter.
Note 3
Other professional fees includes the sum of £41k for Internal Audit Fees (2018-19 £41k). Internal Audit fees
is shown net of VAT.
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4. Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance

2019-20
Number

2019-20
£'000

2018-19
Number

2018-19
£'000

Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year
Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target

19,494
19,081
97.88%

297,239
287,707
96.79%

23,583
23,226
98.49%

280,362
275,615
98.31%

NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target
Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target

3,640
3,401
93.43%

551,763
538,219
97.55%

3,942
3,632
92.14%

543,567
537,850
98.95%

The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid
invoice, whichever is later.

5. Cash and cash equivalents
2019-20
£'000
381
(311)
70

2018-19
£'000
397
(16)
381

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash in hand

69
1

381
0

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position

70

381

Balance at 31 March

70

381

Current
2019-20
£'000

Current
2018-19
£'000

10,207
12,834
6,417
48,542
478
180
154
5,502
84,314

7,612
13,139
5,177
44,962
98
164
154
3,520
74,826

Balance at 1 April
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March

6. Trade and other payables

NHS payables: revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA deferred income
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total Trade & Other Payables
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7. Financial instruments
7.1 Financial risk management
International Financial Reporting Standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period
in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because the CCG is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business
entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed
companies, to which the financial reporting standards mainly apply. The CCG has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds
and financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing
the CCG in undertaking its activities.
Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the CCG
standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the CCG and
internal auditors.
7.1.1 Credit risk
Because the majority of the CCG and revenue comes from parliamentary funding, the CCG has low exposure to credit risk. The
maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the financial assets note
below.
7.1.2 Liquidity risk
The CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by
Parliament. The CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The CCG is not, therefore, exposed to significant
liquidity risks.
7.2 Financial assets

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Other financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Total at 31 March

Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2019-20
£'000

Financial Assets
measured at
amortised cost
2018-19
£'000

2,491
248
397
0
70
3,206

638
1,481
389
3
381
2,892

Financial
Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2019-20
£'000

Restated
Financial
Liabilities
measured at
amortised cost
2018-19
£'000

491
38,071
44,940
83,502

774
34,163
39,471
74,408

7.3 Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Total at 31 March

The 2018-19 comparator for other financial liabilities has been removed and was included within trade and other payables with external
bodies in order to be consistent with the current year.

8. Operating segments
The CCG consider they have only one segment in 2019-20 and 2018-19: Commissioning of healthcare services.
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9. Pooled budgets
Under Section 75 of the NHS Act 2006, funds were pooled with Hertfordshire County Council, East and North Hertfordshire CCG and Cambridgeshire and Peterborough CCG for the
joint commissioning of the following services:
- mental health, learning disabilities, including child and adolescent mental health
- integrated community equipment
- services commissioned through the Better Care Fund for social care services
The Better Care Fund, as set out in the s75 agreement, includes elements of funding from both Hertfordshire County Council and Herts Valleys CCG that are not pooled and
therefore not included within the table below. For 2019-20 these contributions totalled £85,011k for Herts Valley CCG (2018-19 £88,936k) and £51,986k for Hertfordshire County
Council (2018-19 £48,434k).
The CCG's share of the income and expenditure handled by the pooled budget for 2019-20 and 2018-19 were:
Mental Health and Learning
Disabilities

Equipment Service

2019-20

Contribution
Expenditure
Total Variance:

Total PooledBudget
2019-20
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2019-20
£000

Total PooledBudget
2019-20
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2019-20
£000

Total Pooled
Budget
2019-20
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2019-20
£000

Total Herts
Valleys CCG
Contribution
2019-20
£000

5,761
5,856
(95)

1,414
1,437
(23)

360,872
360,249
623

85,702
85,345
357

24,061
23,924
137

12,521
12,384
137

99,637
99,166
471

Mental Health and Learning
Disabilities

Equipment Service

2018-19
Contribution
Expenditure
Total Variance:

All Pooled
Funds

Better Care Fund

All Pooled
Funds

Better Care Fund

Total PooledBudget
2018-19
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2018-19
£000

Total PooledBudget
2018-19
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2018-19
£000

Total PooledBudget
2018-19
£000

Herts Valleys
CCG
Contribution
2018-19
£000

Total Herts
Valleys CCG
Contribution
2018-19
£000

5,740
5,566
174

1,414
1,373
41

347,257
346,760
497

77,830
77,628
202

18,760
17,087
1,673

10,490
9,755
735

89,734
88,756
978
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10. Related party transactions
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health and Social Care Ministers, CCG Board members or
members of the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the CCG.
During the year a number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Board. Details of payments made by the CCG to their practices and
related parties disclosed by the GPs and other Board members were as follows:

Payments to
Related Party

Receipts
from
Related
Party

Amounts Amounts
owed to due from
Related
Related
Party
Party

£000

£000

£000

£000

Dacorum Healthcare Providers Ltd - (GP Federation) -Dr T Fernandes & Dr C Ciobanu

1,233

0

147

0

Direct Local Health Ltd - (GP Federation) Dr R Eliad & Dr A Faizy
Fairbrook Medical Centre - Dr C Page
Garston Medical Centre - Dr R Eliad
Haverfield Surgery - Dr C Ciobanu
Herts Health Ltd - (GP Federation) - Dr N Small
Hospice of St Francis - Dr T Fernandes
Maltings Surgery - Dr D Carlton-Conway
Parkbury House Surgery - Dr R Pile
Parkwood Surgery - Dr T Fernandes
Schopwick Surgery - Dr N Small
Stahfed - (GP Federation) Dr D Carlton-Conway and Dr R Pile
Vine House Health Centre - Dr A Faizy

1,516
1,690
1,310
411
866
343
2,155
2,430
1,983
1,605
907
1,368

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

175
1
3
1
76
62
6
5
5
7
0
4

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year, the CCG has had a number of material
transactions with entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The CCG adopted a disclosure level of £5m and
the most significant material related parties are listed below. In addition, the CCG had a number of material transactions with local
government bodies. Where appropriate, these entities have also been reflected in the list below.
Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Partnership University NHS Foundation Trust
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust
Luton & Dunstable University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
Royal National Orthopaedic Hospital NHS Trust
University College London Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
Hertfordshire County Council

The CCG received no revenue or capital payments from any charitable funds.
2018-19 comparators are shown on the following page.
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10a. Related party transactions (2018-19)
During the year, other than that declared below, none of the Department of Health and Social Care Ministers, CCG Board members or members of
the key management staff, or parties related to any of them, has undertaken any material transactions with the CCG.
During the year a number of local GPs were members of the CCG's Board. Details of payments made by the CCG to their practices and related
parties disclosed by the GPs and other Board members were as follows:
Payments
to Related
Party
Dacorum Healthcare Providers Ltd - (GP Federation) -Dr T Fernandes and Dr C Ciobanu
Direct Local Health Ltd - (GP Federation) Dr R Eliad and Dr K Barrett
Fairbrook Medical Centre - Dr C Page
Garston Medical Centre - Dr R Eliad
Haverfield Surgery - Dr C Ciobanu
Herts Health Ltd - (GP Federation) - Dr N Small
Hospice of St Francis - Dr T Fernandes
Maltings Surgery - Dr D Carlton-Conway
New Road Surgery - Dr K Barrett
Parkbury House Surgery - Dr R Pile
Parkwood Surgery - Dr T Fernandes
Schopwick Surgery - Dr N Small
Stahfed - (GP Federation) Dr D Carlton-Conway and Dr R Pile

£000
1,182
1,502
1,608
1,209
384
605
641
1,877
1,176
2,006
2,096
1,481
861

Receipts
from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Amounts
owed to
Related
Party
£000
0
356
6
6
1
112
6
3
4
5
3
5
152

Amounts
due from
Related
Party
£000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

The Department of Health and Social Care is regarded as a related party. During the year, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with
entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent Department. The most significant material related parties are listed below. In addition, the
CCG had a number of material transactions with local government bodies. Where appropriate, these entities have also been reflected in the list
below.
Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
East & North Hertfordshire NHS Trust
East of England Ambulance Service NHS Trust
Hertfordshire Community NHS Trust
West Hertfordshire Hospitals NHS Trust
Luton & Dunstable University Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Royal Free London NHS Foundation Trust
Hertfordshire County Council

The CCG received no revenue or capital payments from any charitable funds.
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11. Events after the end of the reporting period
The CCG considers there are no material events after the end of the reporting period that are required to be disclosed in this note.

12. Financial performance targets
NHS CCG have a number of financial duties under Section 14Z2 of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended 2012).
The CCG performance against those duties was as follows:

Expenditure not to exceed income
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions
Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified
in Directions

2019-20
Target
£000

2019-20
Performance
£000

2018-19
Target
£000

2018-19
Performance
£000

918,188
0
917,516

918,127
0
917,455

870,722
0
869,779

867,279
0
866,336

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

13,841

12,332

13,404

12,160
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Employee benefits and staff numbers (subject to audit)
Employee benefits

2019-20

Total

Admin

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

11,916
1,157
1,759
0
38
218
15,088

10,483
1,157
1,759
0
38
218
13,655

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
15,088

0
13,655

Employee benefits

2018-19
Total
£'000

Total
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Programme

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

1,433
0
0
0
0
0
1,433

7,496
775
1,345
0
38
218
9,872

6,767
775
1,345
0
38
218
9,143

0
1,433

0
9,872

0
9,143

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Admin
Permanent
Employees
£'000

Total
£'000

Permanent
Employees
£'000

Other
£'000

729
0
0
0
0
0
729

4,420
382
414
0
0
0
5,216

3,716
382
414
0
0
0
4,512

704
0
0
0
0
0
704

0
729

0
5,216

0
4,512

0
704

Other
£'000

Total
£'000

Programme
Permanent
Employees
Other
£'000
£'000

Employee Benefits
Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship Levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits expenditure

10,985
1,009
1,230
0
34
10
13,268

9,545
1,009
1,230
0
34
10
11,828

1,440
0
0
0
0
0
1,440

7,502
708
823
0
34
10
9,077

6,489
708
823
0
34
10
8,064

1,013
0
0
0
0
0
1,013

3,483
301
407
0
0
0
4,191

3,056
301
407
0
0
0
3,764

427
0
0
0
0
0
427

Less: Employee costs capitalised
Net employee benefits excluding capitalised costs

0
13,268

0
11,828

0
1,440

0
9,077

0
8,064

0
1,013

0
4,191

0
3,764

0
427

Average number of people employed (subject to audit)
Restated
2019-20

Total

Total
Number

Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

223.26

197.49

25.77

2018-19
Total
Number

Permanently
employed
Number

Other
Number

215.22

187.77

27.45

Note: The comparator has been restated as the original amounts incorrectly showed inward secondments as Permanently Employed staff rather than under Other staff.
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Exit Packages
The CCG made one payment in respect of an exit package during the financial year to value of £217,778. This consisted of £160 ,000 in respect of a
compulsory redundancy payment, £56,588 for payment in lieu of contractual notice and £1, 190 for payment of accrued bu t untaken annual leave. In 201819, there was one exit package payment totalling £9,614.
Redundancy and other departure cost have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the Agenda for Change pay scheme for NHS staff. Exit costs in
this note are accounted for in full in the year of departure.

